Optimization of Electrical Interface for Vibration-based Energy Harvesters for Low Power Applications

by

Ahmed Osman Abdel-Latif Ahmed Badr

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Energy Systems

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering University of Alberta

© Ahmed Osman Abdel-Latif Ahmed Badr, 2020

Abstract

Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters (PEHs) can be used to supply power to small electronic devices as the Wireless Sensor Nodes (WSNs). However, the harvested energy from the harvesters are usually little and needs to be stored into storage elements. A high-efficiency electrical interface with minimum power losses is required to bridge between the PEHs and the storage device.

In this thesis, a novel self-powered high-efficiency Negative Voltage Converter – Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (NVC-PSSHI) AC/DC interface circuit is designed to rectify the output AC voltage from the PEH to DC voltage. The NVC-PSSHI interface, built with discrete components, targets low voltage (2 Vpp to 7 Vpp) and low power applications (in the microwatt power range). Analytical, simulation and experimental work with a single PEH have been provided to prove and validate the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit.

The output power from a single PEH might not be enough to power the electrical interface. Therefore, analyzing the output power from an array of PEHs against several operating conditions is of great importance, to determine the conditions of maximum output power from the PEH array. An analytical model is derived to calculate the output power from an array of PEH against the voltage magnitude and phase angle mismatch between the PEHs in the array, the number and connections (series and parallel) of the PEHs in the array, and the loading resistance connected to the PEH array. Experimental work with 4 PEHs is provided to compare with the analytical results.

In order to charge a Lithium-Polymer (LiPo) battery at 4.2 V, a battery management (BM) circuit is needed. The designed high efficiency NVC-PSSHI interface circuit is validated with a selected battery management (BM) circuit for low power applications. The two-stage NVC-PSSHI BM interface is powered by an optimized array of PEHs to maximize the overall efficiency from the energy harvesting system.

The maximum efficiency of the novel self-powered high efficiency NVC-PSSHI interface reaches 82.1% when powered by a single PEH and loaded with 15 k Ω resistance. Compared to the conventional PSSHI interface, the designed NVC-PSSHI improves the efficiency by up to 23.4% at 3 Vpp and 100 Hz frequency. Considering an array of 2 PEHs, a higher reduction of output power occurs when the voltage mismatch from the 2 PEHs is 1 Vpp (35%), while only 25% of the output power is reduced when the phase angle mismatch is ±60°. The experimental output power deviation of 2 PEHs from the analytical results reaches a maximum of 16.5% for the series connection and 19.5% for the parallel connection. The maximum efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface reaches 77% at 100 k Ω loading resistance. The two-stage energy harvester interface can charge a 1 mF super capacitor to 4.2 V in around 7 minutes, and a LiPo battery from 3.8 V to 4.1 V in 14 days with charging current at 50 μ A.

Preface

Some of the materials in Chapter 2 were included in the following manuscripts #1 & 2. In manuscript #1, I conceived and executed the work done in this paper. Dr. Lou and Dr. J. Lueke provided technical advices and direction with the manuscript. Dr. Tsui and Dr. Moussa assisted with the manuscript revisions. In manuscript #2, I conceived and executed the electrical circuit design of the Nickel Metal Hydride (NiMH) charging circuit and testing it in this paper. Dr. J. Lueke worked on the microfabrication part. Dr. Lou provided technical advices and direction with the manuscript. Dr. Moussa assisted with the manuscript revisions.

- A. O. Badr, J. Lueke, W. Moussa, Y. Y. Tsui, and E. Lou, "Investigating the Vibration-based Energy Harvester Characteristics to obtain Maximum Efficiency for an Electrical Interface," 28th Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering (CCECE 2015), Halifax, NS, CA, pp. 1088-1094, 3-6 May 2015.
- J. Lueke, A. Badr, E. Lou and W. Moussa, "Microfabrication and Integration of a Sol-Gel PZT Folded Spring Energy Harvester," *Sensors*, vol. 15, pp. 12218-12241, 2015.

Chapter 3 contains most of the materials of the following manuscript #3. This manuscript was resubmitted after revision for the journal of *IET Circuits, Devices and Systems*. I conceived and executed the work done in this paper. Dr. Lou provided technical advices and direction with the manuscript. Dr. Tsui and Dr. Moussa assisted with the manuscript revisions.

 A. O. Badr, E. Lou, Y. Y. Tsui, and W. A. Moussa, "Review of AC/DC Converters for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters," *IET Circuits, Devices Syst.*, Under Review, Jan 25th, 2020.

Chapter 4 contains most of the materials from the following manuscript #4. This manuscript was published in *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers* Journal. I conceived and executed the work done in this paper.

Dr. Lou provided technical advices and direction with the manuscript. Dr. Tsui and Dr. Moussa assisted with the manuscript revisions.

 A. O. Badr, E. Lou, Y. Y. Tsui, and W. A. Moussa, "A High Efficiency AC/DC NVC-PSSHI Electrical Interface for Vibration-Based Energy Harvesters," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 346–355, 2020.

Some of the materials in Chapter 5 were included in the following manuscript #5. It was submitted to *IEEE Transactions on Power Del.* Journal. I conceived and executed the work done in this paper. Dr. Lou provided technical advices and direction with the manuscript. Dr. Tsui and Dr. Moussa assisted with the manuscript revisions.

 A. O. Badr, Y. Y. Tsui, W. A. Moussa, and E. Lou, "Optimization of Piezoelectric Energy Harvester Array for Low Power Applications," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, Under Review.

Some of the materials in Chapter 6 were included in the following manuscript #6. It was submitted to *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and System I: Regular Papers* Journal. I conceived and executed the work done in this paper. Dr. Lou provided technical advices and direction with the manuscript. Dr. Tsui and Dr. Moussa assisted with the manuscript revisions.

 A. O. Badr, Y. Y. Tsui, W. A. Moussa, and E. Lou, "Validation of the NVC-PSSHI with Battery Management Interface Circuit with an Array of PEHs for Low Power Applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, Under Review.

Acknowledgment

First and foremost, I am grateful to God for all the blessings He bestowed upon me and thankful for all the opportunities I have had in my entire life.

I would like to deeply thank my supervisors: Dr. Edmond Lou, Dr. Walied Moussa and Dr. Ying Tsui for their continuous support and encouragement during this long journey. Without the support, technical direction and valuable feedback of Dr. Edmond Lou, it would have been very difficult to finish this work. He had been a good listener and a caring supervisor all the time. I would like to thank Dr. Walied Moussa for his support and advices during this journey. I would also like to thank Dr. Ying Tsui for his valuable feedback and scientific critique throughout this work.

I would like to thank my examination committee: Dr. Mojgan Daneshmand, Dr. John Doucette and Dr. Ming Zuo for their valuable feedback and suggestions during my candidacy examination which contributed to the improvement of this dissertation. Thanks to Dr Mojgan Daneshmand for her support in my candidacy, you will be truly missed, may your soul rest in peace.

I would also like to thank my colleagues at Dr. Moussa's, the MEMS/NEMS Advanced Design Lab for their help and support. I would like to thank my dear friends Mohamed Kayed and Amr Balbola who were always there when needed and their valuable comments and advices. I would also like to thank Dr. Mohamed El Gowini for his support and encouragement especially in the early stages of this work. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Aliaa Nabih, Syed Umer Abdi, Dr. Else Gallagher, Dr. Hossam Gharib, and Dr. Jonathan Lueke.

I would also like to thank Dr. Andrew Chan, from Dr. Lou's lab, for his help with the mechanical related aspects of this research. I would like also to thank my colleagues Kenwick Ng, Jason Wong, and Mahdieh Khodaei for their support and valuable feedback during our regular group meetings. From my department, I would like to thank Mahsa Panahandeh and Fateme Modares for their support in the last stage of this work. I would like to thank my colleagues in the University of Alberta: Ahmed Darwesh, from the Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, and Khaled Mostafa, from the Mechanical Engineering Department, whom I felt comfortable approaching and asking for advice.

I would like to thank Rick Conrad from the Mechanical Engineering Department for his help and hands-on technical advices, and the administrative team in the ECE department at the University of Alberta, especially Pinder Bains and Nona McDonagh.

Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to my mother, brother and sister for all their unconditional support and patience. This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my father, may his soul rest in peace.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1:	Introduction	1
1.1 Motiva	ation	2
1.2 Resear	ch Objectives	3
1.3 Thesis	Overview	4
Chapter 2:]	Literature Review – Energy Harvesters & Storage Devices	6
2.1 Overvi	ew on Energy Harvesting Systems	6
2.2 Metho	ds of Energy Harvesting	6
2.2.1	Solar-based Energy Harvesting	6
2.2.2	Thermal-based Energy Harvesting	8
2.2.3	RF-based Energy Harvesting	10
2.2.4	Vibration-based Energy Harvesting	11
2.2.5	Comparison between the different Energy Harvesters	18
2.3 Energy	/ Storage Devices	20
2.3.1	Electrolytic Capacitors	20
2.3.2	Super Capacitors	21
2.3.3	Batteries	21
2.3.4	Comparison between Storage Elements	22
2.4 Conclu	ision	23
Chapter 3: l	Piezoelectric Energy Harvester Interfaces	24
3.1 Overvi	ew	24
3.2 Backg	round	24
3.3 Passiv	e Energy Harvester Interfaces	26
3.3.1	Voltage Doubler (VD)	27
3.3.2	Full Bridge (FB)	28
3.3.3	Comparison of VD vs FB Interfaces	29
3.4 Semi-I	Passive Energy Harvester Interfaces	30
3.4.1	Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI)	31
3.4.2	Series Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (SSSHI)	34
3.4.3	Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE)	36

3.4.4	Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip Rectifier (P-S3BF)	38
3.4.5	Comparison of PSSHI vs SSSHI vs SECE Interfaces	38
3.5 Active	e Energy Harvester Interfaces	41
3.5.1	Negative Voltage Converter (NVC) with Active Diode (AD)	42
3.5.2	Full Wave Rectifier (FWR) with Comparator-Controlled Swite	hes
		44
3.5.3	Multi-Step Bias-Flip Rectifier (MSBF)	45
3.5.4	Flipping Capacitor Rectifier (FCR)	45
3.6 Sumn	nary	46
3.6.1	Comparison between the reported interfaces in this chapter	46
3.6.2	More Reported Interfaces	49
3.6.3	Comparisons between the reported interfaces in the literature	51
3.7 Concl	usion	53
Chapter 4:	Development of A High Efficiency AC/DC NVC-PSSHI Elec	trical
Interface F	or Vibration-Based Energy Harvesters	54
4.1 Overv	/iew	54
4.2 AC/D	C converters	54
4.3 NVC-	-PSSHI Interface Circuit	56
4.3.1	Analytical Model of a Piezoelectric Energy Harvester wit	h the
NVC-I	PSSHI Interface	57
4.3.2	Simulation Model of a Piezoelectric Energy Harvester wit	h the
NVC-I	PSSHI Interface	65
4.3.3	Experimental Work	66
4.4 Comp	parison of Analytical, Simulation, and Experimental Results	69
4.5 Sumn	nary	74
4.6 Concl	lusion	77
Chantar 5.	Analysis of a Piozoalastric Energy Harvester Array	78
5 1 Overs	Analysis of a frezoelectric Energy francester Afray	78
5.1 Overv	round	70 70
5 3 Energ	xy Harvester Analytical Model	/0 Q1
5.5 Ellerg	Diazoalactric Energy Harvester Model	01
3.3.1	r iezoeleculic Ellergy flarvester wodel	01

5.3.2 Energy Harvester Array Analytical Model	81
5.4 Experimental Setup	
5.5 Analytical Results	
5.6 Experimental Results	100
5.7 Discussion	105
5.8 Conclusion	106
Chapter 6: Validation of the NVC-PSSHI Interface Circuit	108
6.1 Overview	108
6.2 Background	108
6.3 Energy Harvester System Model	111
6.3.1 PEH Array Model	112
6.3.2 NVC-PSSHI Circuit Model	116
6.3.3 Battery Management (BM) Circuit Model	116
6.3.4 Energy Storage and Load Model	117
6.4 Experimental Setup	118
6.5 Experimental Results	123
6.6 Discussion	130
6.7 Conclusion	134
Chapter 7: Conclusions and Future work	135
7.1 Conclusions	135
7.2 Research Contributions	136
7.3 Limitations of this Research	137
7.4 Future Work and Recommendations	138
Bibliography	140
Appendix A: MATLAB Code for PEH Array Calculations	168
A.1 The Output Power Calculations from an Array of 1 to 4 PEHs	168
A.2 The Output Power Calculations against Phase Angle Variations	
A.3 The Output Power Calculations against Voltage Magnitude Variat	ions . 181
A.4 The Output Power Calculations against Phase Angle and	Voltage
Magnitude Variations	

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Comparison between solar, thermal, RF and vibration-based energy
harvesters [34], [55]–[57]
Table 2-2: Comparison between electromagnetic, electrostatic, and piezoelectric
energy harvesters
Table 2-3: Comparison between the different types of rechargeable batteries [81]-
[84]
Table 2-4: Comparison between electrolytic capacitors, supercapacitors, and
batteries performances [68], [86], [87]
Table 3-1: The dependence of the output power on the loading resistance for
semi-passive interfaces
Table 3-2: The dependence of the output power on the quality factor of the
resonant circuit Q _I for semi-passive interfaces 40
Table 3-3: The dependence of the output power on the loading resistance for
semi-passive interfaces
Table 3-4: The reported interface circuits breakdown of components
Table 3-5: Comparison between the different reported interfaces
Table 3-6: The reported vibration-based energy harvester circuits built with
discrete components
Table 3-7: The reported vibration-based energy harvester circuits built with
CMOS technologies
Table 4-1: The reported vibration-based energy harvester circuits 56
Table 4-2: Comparison of the Proposed Work with the Literature
Table 5-1: The analytical case studies 88
Table 5-2: The experimental conditions for the PEHs in the array
Table 5-3: The experimental results for 2 PEHs connected in series with 30 k Ω
loading resistance
Table 5-4: The experimental results for 2 PEHs connected in parallel with 7.5 k Ω
loading resistance

Table 5-5: Comparison of the maximum power between 1 and 2 PEHs in series
Table 5-6: Comparison of the maximum power between 2 and 3 PEHs in series
Table 6-1: Summary of energy harvester interface circuits 111
Table 6-2: Experimental Case Studies 123
Table 6-3: The output power and efficiency from the NVC-PSSHI BM interface
for 1, 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in series at a loading resistance of 100 k Ω 124
Table 6-4: The output power and efficiency from the NVC-PSSHI BM for 2, 3
and 4 PEHs connected in parallel at 5 Vpp, at loading resistances of 50, 100, 150
and 200 kΩ
Table 6-5: Comparison of the proposed work with the literature 134

List of Figures

Figure 2-1 Equivalent circuit of solar energy harvesters
Figure 2-2 Thermoelectric generator configuration
Figure 2-3 Thermoelectric generator equivalent circuit
Figure 2-4 RF harvesting system block diagram 10
Figure 2-5 Parallel plate configuration for electrostatic energy harvesters 12
Figure 2-6 Equivalent circuit of electrostatic energy harvesters
Figure 2-7 Concept for electromagnetic energy harvesting
Figure 2-8 Equivalent circuit of electromagnetic energy harvesters 15
Figure 2-9 Cantilever piezoelectric energy harvester structure
Figure 2-10 Mass-spring-damper mechanical model for piezoelectric harvesters 17
Figure 2-11 Equivalent circuit of piezoelectric energy harvesters
Figure 3-1 Voltage doubler (VD) circuit
Figure 3-2 Full Bridge (FB) circuit
Figure 3-3 Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI) circuit
Figure 3-4 The firing instant of the Active Switch in the PSSHI circuit
Figure 3-5 Series Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (SSSHI) circuit 36
Figure 3-6 Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE) circuit
Figure 3-7 The Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip Rectifier (P-S3BF) circuit diagram
[136]
Figure 3-8 The output power against loading resistances from the SECE interface
(Curve (1)), PSSHI interface (Curve (5) at $Q_I = 5$, Curve (6) at $Q_I = 2.27$ and
Curve (7) at $Q_I = 1$), and SSSHI interface (Curve (2) at $Q_I = 5$, Curve (3) at $Q_I = 1$
3.08 and Curve (4) at $Q_I = 1$)
Figure 3-9 An active diode configuration as reported in [137] 42
Figure 3-10 The active interface reported in [138] 43
Figure 3-11 The first stage in the active interface reported in [138] (Negative
Voltage Converter)
Figure 3-12 The active interface reported in [139]

Figure 3-13 The Multi-Stage Bias Flip (MSFB) circuit diagram [141] 45
Figure 3-14 The Flipping Capacitor Rectifier (FCR) block diagram [143] 46
Figure 4-1 The stages of vibration-based energy harvesting (one-stage or two-
stage)
Figure 4-2 The proposed NVC-PSSHI interface circuit
Figure 4-3 The triggering circuit for the NVC-PSSHI interface
Figure 4-4 The schematic of the proposed NVC-PSSHI interface circuit
Figure 4-5 The simulated voltage waveforms using MATLAB for the NVC-
PSSHI interface circuit
Figure 4-6 The NVC-PSSHI circuit model
Figure 4-7 The traditional PSSHI interface
Figure 4-8 The schematic of the NVC-PSSHI interface
Figure 4-9 The schematic of the triggering circuit of the NVC-PSSHI interface. 68
Figure 4-10 The PCB layout design of the NVC-PSSHI interface
Figure 4-11 The PCB layout of the NVC-PSSHI interface
Figure 4-12 The experimental setup of the NVC-PSSHI interface 69
Figure 4-13 The scope signals from the NVC-PSSHI experiment for the 5 Vpp
and 100 Hz case – Channel 1 (yellow): Signal from differentiator circuit V_t ,
Channel 2 (Green): Input voltage to the NVC-PSSHI circuit V _s , Channel 3 (Blue):
Triggering voltage V _{trig}
Figure 4-14 The output power from the NVC-PSSHI against input voltage
variations for simulation, analytical, and experimental models at 100 Hz
oscillating frequency
Figure 4-15 The NVC-PSSHI interface circuit efficiency against input voltage
variations for simulation, analytical, and experimental models at 100 Hz
oscillating frequency
Figure 4-16 The NVC-PSSHI interface circuit efficiency against oscillating
frequency variations for the function generator experiment at 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp and 7
Vpp input voltages

Figure 4-17 The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface against loading resistance
variations for the analytical and simulation models, the function generator and
PEH experiments at 4 Vpp input voltage73
Figure 4-18 The efficiencies of the NVC-PSSHI interface, and the PSSHI
interface from simulation at 100 Hz oscillating frequency against input voltage
variations74
Figure 4-19 The output power and the breakdown of the power losses in the NVC,
PSSHI, and the triggering circuits against the variation of the input voltage from 3
Vpp to 7 Vpp for 100 Hz input frequency from the simulation model76
Figure 5-1 The equivalent circuit of the piezoelectric energy harvester
Figure 5-2 The piezoelectric energy harvester array (a) n PEHs connected in series
(b) n PEHs connected in parallel (c) n branches connected in parallel, each branch
formed with m PEHs connected in series
Figure 5-3 The schematic diagram for the PEH array experiment 89
Figure 5-4 The experimental setup of the PEH array
Figure 5-5 The output power from (a) 1 PEH, (b) 2 PEHs in series, (c) 3 PEHs in
series, (d) 4 PEHs in series, (e) 2 PEHs in parallel, (f) 3 PEHs in parallel, (g) 4
PEHs in parallel, and (h) 4 PEHs with 2 in series and 2 in parallel. The voltage of
all PEHs is set to 3 Vpp, no phase angle or voltage magnitude mismatch, and
loading resistance varied between 1 k Ω and 100 k Ω
Figure 5-6 The output voltage from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2
PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4
PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L =$
X _C
Figure 5-7 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2
PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4
PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L =$
X _C
Figure 5-8 The output voltage from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2
PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4

PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L =$ Figure 5-9 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L =$ Figure 5-10 The output power from 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$. The voltages of PEH 1 and PEH 2 were set to 3 Vpp. The phase angles of PEHs 1 and Figure 5-11 The output power from 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$. There is no phase angle difference between PEHs 1 and 2. The voltage magnitudes of Figure 5-12 The output power from 2 PEHs connected in parallel when R_L = $X_{C}/2$. The voltage of PEH 1 was set to 3 Vpp. The voltage magnitude of PEH 2 is varied between 3.2 Vpp and 2 Vpp, and the phase angle is varied between -60° Figure 5-13 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs, (b) 3 PEHs and (c) 4 PEHs in series, (d) the output power from 1 PEH, and the maximum output power from (e) 2 PEHs and (f) 3 PEHs, when the phase angle of PEH 2 varies between -180° and Figure 5-14 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs, (b) 3 PEHs and (c) 4 PEHs in series, (d) the output power from 1 PEH, and the maximum output power from (e) 2 PEHs and (f) 3 PEHs, when the PEH 2 voltage varies between 3.2 Vpp and 1 Figure 5-15 The phase angle of PEH 2 that makes the (n-1) PEHs output power Figure 5-16 The voltage magnitude of PEH 2 that makes the (n-1) PEHs output power equal to (n) PEHs 100 Figure 5-17 The output voltage waveforms from all 4 PEHs captured from the oscilloscope......101

Figure 5-18 The peak-to-peak voltage from each harvester (PEH 1, 2, 3 and 4)
against the acceleration
Figure 6-1 The schematic of a two-stage energy harvester interface 110
Figure 6-2 The structure of the PEH array with n branches in parallel, each branch
with m harvesters in series
Figure 6-3 The output power from 1 PEH, 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in series or
parallel. The PEH voltage was kept at 5 Vpp, and the loading resistance was
varied between 1 k Ω and 100 k Ω . "P" denotes parallel connection and "S"
denotes series connection of the PEHs 115
Figure 6-4 The NVC-PSSHI circuit block diagram
Figure 6-5 The schematic diagram of the Battery Management (BM) circuit 117
Figure 6-6 The energy storage and load model 118
Figure 6-7 The connection diagram of the experimental circuit including the
function generator, amplifier, vibration shaker, NVC-PSSHI and BM interface
circuits, storage device and the loading resistance
Figure 6-8 The connection of the PEHs on the vibration shaker 122
Figure 6-9 The output voltage from all PEHs 1, 2, 3 and 4 against the vibration
acceleration g 122
Figure 6-10 The overall efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit, when
powered by 1, 2, 3 or 4 PEHs connected in series with an open circuit voltage of 3
Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp, for 100 kΩ loading
Figure 6-11 The overall efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit, when
powered by 2, 3 or 4 PEHs connected in parallel with the PEH 2 voltage of 5 Vpp,
for loading between 50 and 200 k Ω
Figure 6-12 The output power from the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit, when
powered by 2 or 4 PEHs connected in parallel at loading resistances of 100 $k\Omega$ or
200 k Ω , for input voltage range between 3 and 7 Vpp 128
Figure 6-13 The overall efficiency from the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit,
when powered by 2 or 4 PEHs connected in parallel at loading resistances of 100
$k\Omega$ or 200 $k\Omega$, for input voltage range between 3 and 7 Vpp 128

Figure 6-14 The load voltage waveform captured from the oscilloscope for
charging the 1 mF super capacitor, at no load 129
Figure 6-15 The LiPo battery voltage charging against the number of days 129
Figure 6-16 The LiPo battery charging current against the number of days 130
Figure 6-17 The power losses of the NVC-PSSHI circuit, the BM circuit and the
output power of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface when the voltage of the PEH was
3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp and when the loading resistance is 200 k Ω and 4 PEHs are
connected in parallel
Figure 6-18 The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI circuit, the BM circuit and the
overall efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface when the voltage of the PEH
was 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp and when the loading resistance is 200 $k\Omega$ and 4
PEHs are connected in parallel

List of Abbreviations, and Nomenclature

AC	: Alternating Current
AC/DC	: Alternating Current / Direct Current
AD	: Active Diode
BM	: Battery Management
DC	: Direct Current
FB	: Full Bridge
FCR	: Flipping Capacitor Rectifier
FOM	: Figure of Merit
Li-ion	: Lithium Ion
LiPo	: Lithium Polymer
MSBF	: Multi-Step Bias-Flip
NiCd	: Nickel Cadmium
NiMH	: Nickel-Metal Hydride
NVC	: Negative Voltage Converter
NVC-PSSHI	: Negative Voltage Converter - Parallel Synchronized Switch
	Harvesting on Inductor
PCB	: Printed Circuit Board
PEH	: Piezoelectric Energy Harvester
P-S3BF	: Parallel Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip
P-S7BF	: Parallel Synchronized Seven Bias-Flip
PSSHI	: Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor
RF	: Radio Frequency
S-S3BF	: Series Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip
SA-SSH	: Self-Adapting Synchronized Switch Harvesting
SECE	: Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction
SMBF	: Synchronized Multiple Bias Flip
SSHC	: Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Capacitors
SSHO	: Synchronous Switch Harvesting using Power Oscillator

SSSHI	: Series Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor
VD	: Voltage Doubler
VR	: Voltage Regulator
WSN	: Wireless Sensor Node

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Due to environmental concerns, the look for renewable energy sources was of great importance. The energy can be harvested from the available ambient resources. Among the small-scale energy harvesting systems are the solar energy [1], [2], thermal energy [3], [4], Radio-Frequency (RF) energy [5], [6], and vibration energy systems [7], [8]. The vibration-based energy harvesters are characterized by a higher output voltage than its counterparts, and its high energy conversion efficiency. There are three ways to harvester the ambient vibration energy: Piezoelectric [9], [10], electromagnetic [11], [12], and electrostatic [13], [14] approaches. Piezoelectric energy harvesting is one of the most common forms to harvest energy from ambient mechanical vibrations. It has been widely used because of its high-power density and no rotating parts are required to generate energy.

The harvested energy from the ambient vibrations can be used to provide power for wireless sensor nodes (WSNs). Using a non-rechargeable battery to power the WSNs is not an optimal solution because of the requirement to replace it regularly. Especially, some of the wireless sensing networks (WSNs) may install in hazard or remote areas. The replacement cost of both labor and material may also limit their use in these applications. Therefore, harvesting and converting the ambient energy into a useful electrical energy and then storing it into a rechargeable battery or other devices could be of great importance and provide a vital alternative.

In general, the output of the piezoelectric energy harvester is in AC form while most of the energy storage devices and sensors require DC voltage. Therefore, an electrical interface is needed to bridge between the harvester and the storage element. In certain situation, the interface circuits may serve a) AC/DC conversion, b) voltage regulation and c) voltage boosting function. It depends on

the application and the electrical device connected to the harvester. The interface circuit between the piezoelectric energy harvester and the storage element is generally either a single-stage or two-stage interface.

For best operating conditions, the electrical interface must have high power conversion efficiency, or, in other words, the electrical interface circuitry has minimal power losses.

1.1 Motivation

The electrical interface for piezoelectric energy harvesters is very critical for low power applications. The available power is small, so, it is desirable to decrease the power losses in the electrical interface as much as possible.

Electrical interfaces built with discrete components were proposed in the literature. A Full Bridge rectifier (FB) with a DC/DC converter was proposed in [15], and the overall efficiency reached a maximum of 70%, but with a high input peak-to-peak voltage of 140 Vpp and with an input power up to 50 mW. A FB with a buck converter was suggested in [16] and the efficiency reached a maximum of 68%. The authors in [17] implemented a FB with a voltage regulator interface and reached a maximum efficiency of 65% but for a lower input power of 66.75 μ W and with an input voltage of 14 Vpp.

Complementary Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor (CMOS) interface circuits were designed to reduce the power losses in the different components of the circuit. A Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE) interface circuit was proposed in [18] and the maximum efficiency reached 90% for a maximum power of 110 μ W. Another implementation of the SECE interface was reported in [19] and the maximum efficiency reached a maximum at 84.4% for maximum power of 78 μ W. However, the mentioned CMOS interfaces consist only of 1 stage circuit or an AC/DC converter. To charge a super capacitor or a rechargeable battery at a specific voltage, an additional circuit is needed. A Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI) interface with a voltage regulator was suggested

in [20], and the overall efficiency reached 50% when self-powered or 80% when externally powered. The maximum power was 2 mW for this implementation.

From the reported interfaces, it is desirable to design a novel self-powered highefficiency AC/DC converter for piezoelectric energy harvesters. The design specifications include low harvester voltage (up to 7 Vpp), built with discrete components that have a low power consumption. The target AC/DC efficiency is between 80% and 90%.

An array of Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters (PEHs) can be used to either increase the output power from the electrical interface [21] or to widen the operation frequency bandwidth [22]. The deviations in the generated voltage from a PEH array can be huge, as the case studied by Du et al. in [23], where the output voltage between 2 PEHs in a noisy vibration environment could vary by 20% to 30%, and the voltage could be completely out of phase. Considering the different operating conditions to maximize the output power from an array is essential. The different operating conditions include the voltage and phase angle mismatches between the PEHs in the array, the number and connection (series or parallel) of the PEHs, and the loading resistance connected to the PEH array.

1.2 Research Objectives

The objectives of this research can be summarized as follows:

- To develop a high efficiency PEH electrical AC/DC converter, targeting 80-90% efficiency for low power applications, to recharge a Lithium Polymer battery. The input voltage range between 2 Vpp and 7 Vpp and for microwatt range power.
- 2. To analyze and develop an analytical model to calculate the output power from an array of PEHs considering the mismatches of the output voltage from each PEH in the array, the phase angle mismatch between the generated voltages, the number and connection of the PEHs in the array, and the loading

resistance connected to the array. An optimum configuration of the PEH array can be determined to maximum the output power.

3. To validate, analytically and experimentally, the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit with a battery management (BM) circuit to charge a super capacitor and a Lithium Polymer (LiPo) battery with an optimized array of PEH.

1.3 Thesis Overview

This thesis provides detailed description of a novel Negative Voltage Converter – Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (NVC-PSSHI) AC/DC interface circuit for piezoelectric energy harvesters including analytical modeling, simulations and experimental results. A validation of a two-stage interface circuit including NVC-PSSHI and a Battery Management (BM) circuit was provided, with an optimized array of PEHs. The thesis consists of 7 chapters, described in the following paragraphs.

Chapter 2 provides an overview of the different small-scale energy harvesters, including the solar-based, thermal-based, Radio-Frequency-based (RF-based) and vibration-based harvesters. It also provides an overview of the different energy storage devices including rechargeable/secondary batteries, super capacitors and electrolytic capacitors.

Chapter 3 provides a detailed literature review for piezoelectric energy harvesters' electrical interfaces, including passive, semi-passive (resonant) and active interfaces, depending on the electronic switches used. The output power and efficiencies of the reported circuits were compared and recommendations for choosing between these circuits were provided.

Chapter 4 presents the analytical model, simulation and experimental results for newly designed NVC-PSSHI interface circuit as a highly efficient low power AC/DC converter for piezoelectric energy harvesters. The fundamentals and limitations of the designed interface were provided. Chapter 5 provides the analytical model of a single PEH as well as an array of PEHs. The output power was analyzed for different operating conditions, including PEH voltage mismatch and phase angle mismatch. Experimental results were provided to compare with the analytical expectations.

Chapter 6 provides the validation of the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit with a battery management (BM) circuit to charge a super capacitor and a Lithium-Polymer (LiPo) battery, when powered by an optimized array of PEHs. Experimental results for the whole two-stage energy harvesting systems were provided.

Chapter 7 provides conclusion of the work done in this thesis and the future work recommendations.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW – ENERGY HARVESTERS & STORAGE DEVICES

2.1 Overview on Energy Harvesting Systems

Energy harvesting is the process of capturing the available ambient energy and transform it into useful energy. In general, an energy harvesting process consists of three components: energy harvester, electrical interface circuit, and storage element device. In this chapter, a literature review of the energy harvesters and the storage devices will be presented and discussed. The literature review of the electrical interfaces is discussed in the next chapter. The different types of energy harvesters, including solar-based, thermal-based, Radio Frequency-based, are discussed in Section 2.2. The different technologies of storage elements, including the electrolytic capacitors, super capacitors and batteries, are discussed in Section 2.3. At last, a conclusion is provided in Section 2.4.

2.2 Methods of Energy Harvesting

There are several ways of harvesting the energy from ambient environment. In this Section 2.2, four of the most common energy harvesting techniques are described, including solar-based (Section 2.2.1), thermal-based (Section 2.2.2), Radio Frequency-based (Section 2.2.3), and vibration-based (Section 2.2.4). The concept and literature review are provided for each of these harvesting technologies. A comparison between the different types of energy harvesters is provided in Section 2.2.5.

2.2.1 Solar-based Energy Harvesting

Solar energy can be captured and converted into electrical energy using photovoltaic/solar cells [24]. When photovoltaic cells are subjected to sunlight, a

DC current/power is generated which amplitude is a function of the sunlight's intensity. Solar energy generators can operate in either mode: grid-connected or standalone. For the grid-connected solar generation system, DC/AC converters are required. For standalone systems, an energy storage is required to store the solar energy. The sunlight is available and free, only during the daytime, which makes it very promising harvesting technology. The photovoltaic cells, however, can't operate during nighttime when there is no solar energy. In addition, the solar power generation is very sensitive to the weather condition and the presence of clouds.

The electrical model of a solar cell is shown in Figure 2-1 [25]. It consists of a generated current source I_{PV} , and a diode D_{PV} , and two resistors R_{sh} and R_{series} . The R_{series} resistance represents the internal resistance of the photovoltaic cell, whereas the R_{sh} resistance represents the equivalent resistance between the cells in a photovoltaic cells array [26].

The diode current I_D can be calculated as follows [27]:

$$I_D = I_0 \left[\exp(\frac{V + IR_{series}}{nkT/q}) - 1 \right]$$
(2-1)

Where,

I_0	= inverse saturation current in A
q	= electron charge in C
k	= Boltzmann constant in J/C
Т	= temperature in K

The load current *I* is given in the following equation as:

$$I = I_{PV} - I_D - I_{sh} \tag{2-2}$$

Where,

 I_{sh} = shunt resistance current in A



Figure 2-1 Equivalent circuit of solar energy harvesters

2.2.2 Thermal-based Energy Harvesting

Heat, or temperature difference energy can be harvested using Thermoelectric energy harvesters, following the "Seebeck effect" [28]. A simple thermoelectric energy harvester is shown in Figure 2-2. It consists of 2 ceramic plates with temperature difference applied, so one plate is hot, and the other is cold. Between the two plates, a PN junction is fixed. At the application of the heat on the ceramic plates, the charge carriers displace from the hot plate to the cold plate, and an electrical potential difference is created between the two conductors, as shown in Figure 2-2. To increase the output voltage, a series of thermoelectric generators can be connected together [29]. The equivalent circuit of thermoelectric generators is shown in Figure 2-3, where the voltage V_{TEG} is the equivalent resistance of the hot and cold junctions.

The generated voltage V_{TEG} can be calculated as follows [30]:

$$V_{TEG} = \alpha \left(T_h - T_c \right) \tag{2-3}$$

Where,

α	= the Seebeck coefficient
T_h	= the temperature of the hot junction
T_{c}	= the temperature of the cold junction

The figure of merit Z can be defined, as a quality assessment of the TEG, and can be calculated as follows [30]:

$$Z = \frac{\alpha^2 \sigma}{\lambda} \tag{2-4}$$

Where,

 σ = the electrical conductivity λ = the thermal conductivity

The thermal-based energy generation has the advantages of not requiring an external supply to operate, and its simplicity. However, it suffers from low efficiency, 5% to 30% for different temperatures' difference between the hot and cold (PN) junctions [30], [31].



Figure 2-2 Thermoelectric generator configuration



Figure 2-3 Thermoelectric generator equivalent circuit

2.2.3 RF-based Energy Harvesting

Radio Frequency (RF) energy that is available in the environment from mobile phones, or radio stations can be harvested using RF energy harvesters. A typical RF harvesting system is shown in Figure 2-4. To harvest the RF energy, an antenna/RF receiver is needed. An RF/DC converter is needed to rectify the RF signal and charges an energy storage element for future use. A matching circuit is also needed to capture maximum power by tuning the resonant frequency [32]. The RF energy harvesting system strongly depends on the distance between the RF receiver and the RF signals source. The path loss of the RF signal L_P can be calculated as follows [33]:

$$L_{P} = \left(\frac{4\pi R}{\lambda}\right)^{2}$$
(2-5)

Where,

R = the distance between the RF source and the RF harvester $\lambda = \text{the RF signal wavelength}$

The RF energy harvesting has the advantages of free, and widely available. However, the amount of harvested power depends on the distance, as seen from equation (2-5) [34]. The RF energy harvesting system suffer from low power densities between 0.0002 μ W/cm² to 1 μ W/cm² [35].



Figure 2-4 RF harvesting system block diagram

2.2.4 Vibration-based Energy Harvesting

Vibration-based energy harvesters can be categorized into electrostatic, electromagnetic and piezoelectric generators, discussed in Sections 2.2.4.1, 2.2.4.2, and 2.2.4.3, respectively. The concept and the model of each one is presented in the following subsections.

2.2.4.1 Electrostatic Energy Harvesting

Parallel plate capacitors can be used to store vibration energy into an electrostatic field, as shown Figure 2-5. The two parallel plates are electrically isolated by a dielectric. The charge Q in the capacitor is given by:

$$Q = C \times V \tag{2-6}$$

Where,

Q	= charge on the parallel plate in C
С	= capacitance of the parallel plate in F
V	= voltage on the parallel plate in V

The capacitance *C* of the parallel plate is given by:

$$C = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r A}{d} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r l w}{d}$$
(2-7)

Where,

ε_0 = permittivity of	of free space in F/m
-----------------------------------	----------------------

A = parallel plate area in m²

- w =parallel plate width in m
- d = distance between the parallel plates in m

From the previous equations, the capacitance changes with the dielectric permittivity, the parallel plate dimensions and the gap distance between the plates.

The voltage across the capacitor changes and the energy is transformed into electrical energy.

Referring to Equation (2-6), the electrostatic transducer can operate in two modes: constant voltage or constant charge modes [36]. In the constant voltage mode, the change in capacitance affects the number of charges on the plates while the voltage is kept constant. Whereas, in the constant charge mode, the capacitor voltage changes with the variation of the capacitance, while the charge is kept constant. The electrostatic energy harvesting process only happens when there is an applied voltage on the parallel plates, or the parallel plates are charged. The equivalent circuit of the electrostatic generators is shown in Figure 2-6.

One of the advantages of using electrostatic energy harvesters is its compatibility with microfabrication processes and can be integrated with IC technologies [37]–[39]. One the other hand, the electrostatic energy harvesters need external voltage source to operate and this is one of its main pitfalls. Moreover, these harvesters have high output impedance and low output current [40].



Figure 2-5 Parallel plate configuration for electrostatic energy harvesters



Figure 2-6 Equivalent circuit of electrostatic energy harvesters

2.2.4.2 Electromagnetic Energy Harvesting

One way of harvesting the vibration energy and transform it into electrical energy can be done using Faraday's law. When a conductor is exposed to a time-varying magnetic field, an electromotive force is induced on the conductor. In other words, a potential difference is induced across the coil terminals [41]. Time-varying magnetic field can be created either by the motion (time-variance) of the magnetic field source (created by an AC current) or the motion of the coil. Figure 2-7 shows the concept of electromagnetic energy harvesting. The DC magnet is the source of the magnetic field, and the moving coil is cutting the magnetic field lines. The induced voltage V_{emf} across a conductor or a single turn coil is given by:

$$V_{emf} = -\frac{d\phi}{dt}$$
(2-8)

Where,

 V_{emf} = the electromotive force in V φ = the magnetic flux in Wb

The induced voltage across a conductor is generally small. In order to increase the output voltage, multiple turns can be added. The induced voltage is then given by:

$$V_{emf} = -N \frac{d\phi}{dt} \tag{2-9}$$

Where,

. .

The equivalent circuit of the electromagnetic energy harvester can be modelled as in Figure 2-8. The electromotive force V_{emf} is the induced voltage, and an inductance L with internal resistance R. Many researches have considered electromagnetic energy harvesting systems [42]–[47].

The main advantage of using the electromagnetic energy harvesters is the no need for an external supply for DC magnet generators [37]. In addition, unlike the electrostatic energy harvesters, electromagnetic harvesters have lower output impedance, and therefore higher output current [40]. On the other hand, the DC magnets needed in the electromagnetic generators are bulky. Moreover, they have poor compatibility with standard CMOS microfabrication technologies [48].



Figure 2-7 Concept for electromagnetic energy harvesting



Figure 2-8 Equivalent circuit of electromagnetic energy harvesters

2.2.4.3 Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting

The piezoelectric material generates energy when an external force is applied to it. Near its resonance frequency, the piezoelectric element generates the maximum energy. Polyvinylidene Fluoride (PVDF), Lead Zirconate Titanate (PZT), and Aluminum Nitride (AlN) are considered the most common piezoelectric harvesters reported/used in the literature [49]-[53]. There are several configurations for piezoelectric harvesters (cantilever, energy disc. diaphragm,..etc), and one of the common configurations is the cantilever-based piezoelectric energy harvesters, as shown in Figure 2-9. The piezoelectric layer is fixed on the cantilever, and when the vibration occurs, a potential difference across its terminals is generated. The resonance frequency of the harvester structure is determined by several factors, including the harvester geometry and mass. One way to change the resonance frequency of the harvester structure is the addition of a proof mass, as shown in Figure 2-9.

The electromechanical system can be modeled as a mass-damper-spring system, as shown in Figure 2-10. Under this model, the systems dynamics are affected by 4 forces: the external driving force F, the restoring force due to the piezoelectric element, the restoring force due to the spring (stiffness K_S), and the viscous force of the damper C. The electrical parameters of this electromechanical system are the voltage V across the piezoelectric element, and the current I flowing to the electrical interface.

The governing equation for the piezoelectric element is shown in the following equation [54]:

$$F_{R} = K_{E}u + \alpha V$$

$$I = \alpha i$$
(2-10)

Where,

F_R	=	the	summation	of	the	elastic	force	due	to	spring	and	the
			piezoelecti	ric e	eleme	ent actio	n in N					

 K_E = the spring stiffness

 α = the force factor in N/V

$$C_0$$
 = the piezoelectric element equivalent capacitance in F

The constants specified in the previous Equation (2-10) are calculated using the following Equation (2-11) [54].

$$K_{E} = \frac{c_{33}^{E}A}{L}, C_{0} = \frac{\varepsilon_{33}^{S}A}{L}, \alpha = \frac{e_{33}A}{L}$$
(2-11)

Where,

$y \ln N/m^2$
of the piezoelectric component in m ²
zoelectric element in m
permittivity in F/m
constant in N/Vm

The simplest equivalent circuit of the piezoelectric energy harvester can be modeled as shown in Figure 2-11. The equivalent circuit consists of a generated voltage across the piezoelectric element $V_{harvester}$ and an equivalent capacitance of the piezoelectric element $C_{harvester}$. This is a Thevenin equivalent circuit. The circuit can also be modeled as a Norton equivalent with a current source and an equivalent capacitance connected in parallel.

The main advantage of piezoelectric energy harvesters is that the harvester doesn't need an external voltage to operate, unlike the electrostatic harvesters.
They also have high density [37]. However, the piezoelectric energy harvesters are more difficult to integrate with microfabrication technologies. They also have high output impedance which limits the output current [40].



Figure 2-9 Cantilever piezoelectric energy harvester structure



Figure 2-10 Mass-spring-damper mechanical model for piezoelectric harvesters



Figure 2-11 Equivalent circuit of piezoelectric energy harvesters

2.2.5 Comparison between the different Energy Harvesters

The solar-based, thermal-based, RF-based, and vibration-based energy harvesters are compared in Table 2-1. The points of comparison are the power density, the output voltage, the conversion efficiency, the availability conditions, the advantages, and the disadvantages. Another comparison between the electromagnetic, the electrostatic, and the piezoelectric vibration-based energy harvesters is shown in Table 2-2.

	Solar	Thermal	RF	Vibration
Power Density	Indoor: <100 μ W/cm ² Outdoor: 100 mW/ cm ²	60 μW/cm ²	$0.0002-1 \ \mu W/cm^2$	1 (Electromagnetic)– 200 (Piezoelectric) μW/cm ²
Output Voltage	0.5 V	10–100 mV	3–4 V	100 mV (Electromagnetic)– 25 V (Piezoelectric)
Conversion Efficiency	10–24%	3%	50%	10-67%
Availability Conditions	Day time	Continuous	Continuous	Activity dependent
Advantages	High power density, well developed	Always available	Antenna can be integrated, widely available	Well developed, High output voltage (Piezoelectric)
Disadvantages	Need large area, intermittent, dependent on light conditions, and orientation issues	Low output voltage, low efficiency, and low power	Distance dependent, and RF harmonics	Bulky and low power density and output voltage (Electromagnetic), Large area and high output impedance (Piezoelectric)

Table 2-1: Comparison between solar, thermal, RF and vibration-based energy harvesters [34], [55]–[57]

Table 2-2: Comparison between electromagnetic, electrostatic, and piezoelectric

energy harvesters

	Electromagnetic	Electrostatic	Piezoelectric
Energy Density (mJ/cm ³) [58]	24.8	4	35.4
Advantages	No external voltage source required (for DC magnet generator)	Compatible with microfabrication process	No external voltage source required – high energy density
Disadvantages	Hard to integrate with microfabrication processes – Bulky and heavy	Need of an external voltage source – Low output current (High output impedance)	Hard to integrate with microfabrication processes – Low output current (High output impedance)

2.3 Energy Storage Devices

Since most of the ambient energy has an intermittent nature, a storage element is needed to store the harvested energy for a future demand. For instance, the solar energy is only available during daytime, therefore, if the harvested energy is needed during nighttime, a storage element is required. In addition, if the ambient available energy is low, as in the case of the vibration-based energy harvesting, the available power is not meeting the required level to supply power to the DC load, such as a Wireless Sensor Node (WSN). There are several storage technologies reported in the literature, such as: pumped hydro storage, flywheel, Hydrogen storage, and super capacitors [59]. However, in this chapter, the focus is on the electrolytic capacitors (Section 2.3.1), the super capacitors (Section 2.3.2) and the batteries (Section 2.3.4.

2.3.1 Electrolytic Capacitors

The electrolytic capacitors have been widely used in the energy harvesting systems [60]–[63]. The lifetime assessment of the use of the electrolytic capacitors has been discussed in [60] in power applications in general. The authors concluded that the proper selection of the capacitors increases the lifetime of the energy harvesting system. A lifetime assessment has been discussed also in [61] for wind power energy harvesting system. The wind speed and the ambient temperature were considered for the lifetime assessment in this paper. The authors in [62] compared between the performance of the film capacitors and electrolytic capacitors for photovoltaic energy system. It was concluded that the use of film capacitors increases the lifetime of the energy system. The lifetime estimation of the electrolytic capacitors for fuel cell systems was addressed in [63]. Earlier researches have also considered the electrolytic capacitors for energy storage as in [64]–[67].

The electrolytic capacitors have the highest power density (specific power) among all storage elements. However, they suffer from low energy density and high leakage current [68]. The low energy density of the electrolytic capacitors imply that they can not supply power for long periods of time. Also, the electrolytic capacitors cannot be used to store energy for long time.

2.3.2 Super Capacitors

Super capacitors are also called "ultracapacitors" or "double layer electrolytic capacitor". Unlike the electrolytic capacitor, the super capacitors have a much higher energy density. They also have a higher charging and discharging time compared to electrolytic capacitors [68]. However, they have lower lifetime when compared to electrolytic capacitors.

Super capacitors have been widely used in the literature for energy harvesting systems [69]–[75]. In [70], the authors have discussed the use of super capacitors and rechargeable batteries to power wireless sensor nodes (WSNs). In [71], the authors used a super capacitor as a storage element in a solar energy harvesting system. In [73], a super capacitor was utilized as storage element for multiple energy harvesting sources (solar, thermal, vibration, and RF). The authors in [74] proposed an energy harvesting circuit including a super capacitor storage element for flexible piezoelectric energy harvesters. Super capacitors were also suggested for low wind energy harvesting systems [75].

2.3.3 Batteries

Generally, the batteries are categorized into primary and secondary batteries [76]. The primary batteries are the ones that, when depleted, they are recycled and changed; they are non-rechargeable. These primary batteries are not of interest in this section. The secondary batteries are the rechargeable ones.

The rechargeable batteries have the highest energy density when compared to electrolytic capacitors and super capacitors. However, they have the lowest lifetime, compared to its counterparts.

In this subsection, different types of secondary (rechargeable) batteries are compared in Table 2-3. The comparison includes the Nickel Cadmium (NiCd), Nickel-Metal Hydride (NiMH), Lead Acid, Lithium Ion (Li-ion), and Lithium Polymer (LiPo) batteries. The rechargeable batteries have generally high energy densities so they are considered widely in the literature for energy harvesting systems [15], [77]–[80]. In [79], the authors investigated the use of capacitors and NiMH batteries in a piezoelectric energy harvesting system. In [80], the authors considered super capacitors, Li-ion and NiMH rechargeable batteries to study the charge/discharge efficiency. They concluded that the leakage resistance of the super capacitors was the lowest and the charge/discharge efficiency was highest for the super capacitors.

		[04]			
	NiCd	NiMH	Lead Acid	Li-ion	LiPo
Energy Density (Wh/kg)	45-80	60-120	30-50	110-160	100-130
Internal Resistance (m Ω)	100-200	200-300	<100	150-250	200-300
Life Cycle	1500	300-500	200-300	500-1000	300-500
Fast Charge Time	1 hour typical	2-4 hours	8-16 hours	2-4 hours	2-4 hours
Overcharge Tolerance	Moderate	Low	High	Very Low	Low
Self-discharge/month	20%	30%	5%	10%	10%
Nominal Voltage	1.25V	1.25V	2V	3.6V	3.6V
Operating Temperature	-40 to 60°C	-20 to 60°C	-20 to 60°C	-20 to 60°C	0 to 60°C
Maintenance Requirement	30-60 days	60-90 days	3-6 months	Not Req.	Not Req.

Table 2-3: Comparison between the different types of rechargeable batteries [81]–

2.3.4 Comparison between Storage Elements

In this subsection, a comparison between the electrolytic capacitors, super capacitors, and Lithium-based batteries is shown in Table 2-4. A very comprehensive overview has been conducted in [85] for mechanical, chemical,

electromagnetic and thermal storage elements in terms of energy density, specific power, life cycle, charge/discharge efficiency, fast charge and discharge times.

Topology	Electrolytic Capacitors	Super	Lithium-based
		Capacitors	Batteries
Energy Density (Wh/kg)	0.01-0.3	1-10	30-200
Specific Power (W/g)	>100	<10	<1
Life Cycle	Unlimited	>500,000	1,000
Charge/Discharge Efficiency	99%	85-98%	80-90%
Fast Charge Time (s)	<0.1	0.3-30	1-5 hours
Discharge Time (s)	< 0.1	0.3-30	0.3-3 hours

Table 2-4: Comparison between electrolytic capacitors, supercapacitors, and batteries performances [68], [86], [87]

2.4 Conclusion

In this Chapter, a literature review and comparison of the most common smallscale energy harvesters' technologies has been provided, including the solarbased, thermal-based, RF-based and vibration-based energy harvesters. Among those harvesters, the vibration-based energy harvesters are characterized by a high energy conversion efficiency (up to 67%) and higher output voltage when compared to its counterparts. A comparison of the different vibration-based energy harvesters' types including electrostatic, electromagnetic and piezoelectric harvesters were performed. Furthermore, different types of rechargeable batteries including NiCd, NiMH, Lead Acid, Li-ion and LiPo batteries, and both the super capacitors and electrolytic capacitors were compared. Based on the literature reviews, the super capacitors have higher life cycle than the lithium-based batteries (Li-ion or LiPo) but at the expense of a lower energy density. In the next chapter (Chapter 3), electrical interfaces for piezoelectric energy harvesters are reviewed and analyzed.

CHAPTER 3: PIEZOELECTRIC ENERGY HARVESTER INTERFACES*

3.1 Overview

In this chapter, different piezoelectric energy harvesters' interfaces are reviewed. The electrical interfaces are categorized into passive, semi-passive and active. A background section is provided in Section 3.2. Section 3.3 reviews 2 types of passive interfaces. Sections 3.4 and 3.5 report the semi-passive and active interfaces, respectively. The categorized interfaces depend on the type of electronics switches used. Under each section, theoretical analysis of the output power and efficiency of different interfaces were performed. Section 3.6 provides a comparison summary. A conclusion is provided at the end of this chapter, in Section 3.7.

3.2 Background

Power is one of the essential components for wireless sensor nodes. Using a nonrechargeable battery as the major power is not an optimal solution because batteries usually have limited capacity and life. Especially, some of the wireless sensing networks (WSNs) may install in hazard or remote areas which imply challenges on replacing batteries. The replacement cost of both labour and material may also limit their use in these applications. Therefore, harvesting and converting the ambient energy into a useful electrical energy and then storing it into a rechargeable battery or device could be of great importance and provide a vital alternative. Among the sources of ambient available energy are the thermal energy [3], [4], [88], the solar energy [1], [2], [89], the radio-frequency energy [5], [6], [90], and the vibration-based energy [7], [8], [91].

^{*} Some of the material in this chapter has been submitted to IET Circuits, Devices and Systems journal: A. O. Badr, E. Lou, Y. Y. Tsui, and W. A. Moussa, "Review of AC/DC Converters for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters," *IET Circuits, Devices Syst.*, Under Revision.

The vibration-based energy harvesting is the most common since it is available in a wide range of sources, as human motion and machine vibrations. There are three ways to harvest ambient vibration energy: Piezoelectric [9], [10], [92]–[94], electromagnetic [11], [12], [95]–[97], and electrostatic [13], [14], [98], [99] approaches. Piezoelectric energy harvesting is one of the most common forms to harvest energy from ambient mechanical vibrations. It has been widely used because of its high-power density and no rotating parts are required to generate energy. Many studies have been conducted in using piezoelectric energy harvesters (PEHs) and these reports showed that a wide variation of the electrical and mechanical characteristics of piezoelectric energy harvester exist [100]–[102]. The authors in [100] used Genetic-Algorithm (GA) to optimize the physical parameters, such as the cantilever beam length and width, of the piezoelectric energy harvester. In [101], two-beam cantilever-based piezoelectric energy harvester was reported and the resonance frequency was 466 Hz. In [102], the authors presented a method to determine piezoelectric beam parameters. The resonance frequency of this harvester was 250 Hz.

In general, the output voltage of the vibration-based energy harvester is in AC form, but most of the wireless nodes operate with DC power. Therefore, it is common to use an AC to DC conversion circuit to bridge between these two components. From the literature, passive, semi-passive (or resonant), and active interfaces have been reported [19], [103]–[107]. The authors in [103] described an interface circuit for the piezoelectric harvesters with a new cold-startup circuit. It was concluded in that paper that the voltage needed for the circuit to start was lowered by 50% compared to the conventional Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (SSHI) interfaces. Full bridge (FB) rectifier circuit was proposed for piezoelectric energy harvesting systems [108]. Comparisons of the output power for full bridge and the synchronous energy harvesting interfaces, such as Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE), Parallel SSHI (PSSHI), and Series SSHI (SSSHI), has been reported in the literature [109]–[111].

Moreover, there were several review articles comparing between the different interfaces [109], [112]–[114]. However, most of the reported interfaces in these articles were only the conventional ones used for piezoelectric energy harvesting, as the FB, PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE interfaces. The analysis of the active interfaces in terms of output power, efficiency, and power losses comparisons was limited. A comparison between the interfaces built with discrete components and those fabricated using CMOS technologies, in terms of input voltage requirements, input frequency range, output power and overall efficiency, was also presented.

This chapter reports the theories of the up-to-date passive, semi-passive, and active interfaces for piezoelectric energy harvesters, compares between the different interfaces in terms of input voltage, input frequency, output power, and interface efficiency, and suggests the most suitable interface depending on the application and the components used in these circuits.

3.3 Passive Energy Harvester Interfaces

Passive interfaces are considered the simplest energy harvester interface to convert AC to DC signals. The most commonly used passive interfaces are the Voltage Doubler (VD) and the Full Bridge (FB) circuits which are described in the Sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2, respectively. Diodes are the main components in these two types of circuits, responsible for the AC/DC conversion. The main advantages of passive circuits are no external power required, simple to build and no control circuit needs. The main energy losses are on the diode which is due to voltage drop and forward resistance. Schottky diodes are more commonly used because they have low forward voltage drop. The VD and FB circuits are analyzed in Sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2, respectively. A comparison between the VD and FB interfaces is presented in Section 3.3.3.

3.3.1 Voltage Doubler (VD)

The VD circuit consists of 2 diodes (*D*), considering identical diodes, and an output capacitor (C_L) to smooth the output voltage which converts AC to DC signals [115]. Figure 3-1 shows a VD with a piezoelectric energy harvester and the harvester's equivalent capacitance C_0 . The following equations describe the output power and efficiency of the described VD connected with a piezoelectric energy harvester. The DC output voltage from the VD (V_{Out_VD}) with the harvester is [116]:

$$V_{Out_VD} = \frac{2\alpha u_m \omega R_L}{R_L C_0 \omega + 2\pi}$$
(3-1)

Where,

α	= the piezoelectric force factor to convert the mechanical force to
	electrical signal

u_m	= the mechanical displacement of the harvester
ω	= the angular frequency of the vibration
RL	= the loading resistance of the connected circuit
<i>C</i> ₀	= the clamped capacitance of the harvester

The output power from the voltage doubler ($P_{Out VD}$) is [116]:

$$P_{Out_VD} = \frac{4\alpha^2 u_m^2 \omega^2 R_L}{\left(R_L C_0 \omega + 2\pi\right)^2}$$
(3-2)

The power losses in the VD ($P_{Losses VD}$) can be written as:

$$P_{Losses_VD} = 2 \times P_D = 2 \times I_D \times \left(\left(I_D R_D \right) + V_F \right)$$
(3-3)

Where,

P_D = the power losses in the diod	e D

- I_D = the diode forward current
- R_D = the equivalent diode resistance

The efficiency of the VD (η_{VD}) can be expressed as:

$$\eta_{VD} = 100 \times \frac{P_{Out_VD}}{P_{Out_VD} + P_{Losses_VD}} \%$$
(3-4)



Figure 3-1 Voltage doubler (VD) circuit

3.3.2 Full Bridge (FB)

Figure 3-2 shows an FB rectifier circuit with a piezoelectric energy harvester circuit model. It consists of 4 diodes (*D*) and an output capacitor C_L . It is one of the most commonly used AC/DC interfaces reported in the literature [117]–[120]. The output DC voltage of the FB circuit (V_{Out_FB}) is [116]:

$$V_{Out_FB} = \frac{2\alpha u_m \omega R_L}{2R_L C_0 \omega + \pi}$$
(3-5)

The output power from the FB circuit (*P*_{Out_FB}) is [116]:

$$P_{Out_FB} = \frac{4\alpha^2 u_m^2 \omega^2 R_L}{\left(2R_L C_0 \omega + \pi\right)^2}$$
(3-6)

The power losses in the FB circuit ($P_{Losses FB}$) can be written as:

$$P_{Losses_FB} = 4P_D = 4I_D \times \left(\left(I_D R_D \right) + V_F \right)$$
(3-7)

The efficiency of the FB (η_{FB}) can be expressed as follows:

Figure 3-2 Full Bridge (FB) circuit

3.3.3 Comparison of VD vs FB Interfaces

From Equations (3-3) and (3-7), the power losses in the FB circuit are double of the VD circuit because two more diodes are used. The comparison of the output power and efficiency of the VD and FB are expressed in the following equations.

Using Equations (3-2) and (3-6), the ratio (R_{Power}) between the output power of the VD versus the FB is:

$$R_{Power} = \frac{P_{Out_VD}}{P_{Out_FB}} = \frac{(2R_L C_0 \omega + \pi)^2}{(R_L C_0 \omega + 2\pi)^2}$$
(3-9)

The condition where the output power from the VD circuit equals to the FB when: $R_L C_0 \omega = \pi$ (3-10)

Therefore, the output power from the VD circuit is higher when:

$$R_L C_0 \omega > \pi \tag{3-11}$$

On the other hand, the output power from the FB circuit is higher when:

$$R_L C_0 \omega < \pi \tag{3-12}$$

If the piezoelectric energy harvester for both circuits is the same, the $C_{0}\omega$ value is a constant. The output powers P_{Out_VD} and P_{Out_FB} are determined by the loading resistance R_L .

From Equations (3-4) and (3-8), the ratio of the efficiency ($R_{Efficiency}$) between the VD versus the FB is given by:

$$R_{Efficiency} = \frac{\eta_{VD}}{\eta_{FB}} = \frac{P_{Out_VD} \left(P_{Out_FB} + 4P_D \right)}{P_{Out_FB} \left(P_{Out_VD} + 2P_D \right)}$$
(3-13)

The efficiency of VD and FB is equaled when:

$$P_{Out_FB} = 2P_{Out_VD} \tag{3-14}$$

When the following condition occurs, the efficiency of the VD is higher:

$$P_{Out_FB} < 2P_{Out_VD} \tag{3-15}$$

Otherwise, the efficiency of the FB circuit is higher when the following condition occurs:

$$P_{Out_FB} > 2P_{Out_VD} \tag{3-16}$$

Therefore, the selection of the VD or FB circuit depends on a) the output power of the harvester, b) the loading condition and c) the efficiency of the entire circuit. If the energy harvester voltage is low, it is preferable to select VD because of its lower voltage threshold compared to the FB. When the output power from the FB (P_{Out_FB}) is higher than double the value of the output power from the VD (P_{Out_VD}) , the efficiency of the FB is higher and then more favorable.

3.4 Semi-Passive Energy Harvester Interfaces

To increase the output power and efficiency of an energy harvesting interface, a combination of the FB circuit with an active switch can be adopted, which is called "Semi-Passive Interfaces". In the following subsections, four of the most common semi-passive energy harvester interfaces, a) Parallel Synchronized

Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI), b) Series Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (SSSHI), c) Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE), and d) Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip Rectifier (P-S3BF), are presented and compared in Sections 3.4.1, 3.4.2, 3.4.3, and 3.4.4, respectively. A comparison between these interfaces is discussed in Section 3.4.5.

3.4.1 Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI)

In the literatures [116], [121]-[125], the design and the operation principle of the PSSHI interface circuit has been reported. Different researchers have reported how to implement the PSSHI interface for low frequency range (100 Hz or less) applications [116], [122], [124]. In [121], [123], [125], these authors reported the high frequency range (205 Hz - 900 Hz) applications. The frequency applications were determined by the resonance frequency of the harvester used. Figure 3-3 shows a typical PSSHI interface with a harvester and loading condition. The PSSHI interface consists of an inductor L_{PSSHI} in series with an active switch S, connected in parallel with the piezoelectric energy harvester and a triggering circuit. During the operation, the active switch is only turned on for a relatively short time t_{on} when comparing with the mechanical vibration period (T_S) of the harvester, which is occurred at the maximum and minimum instants of the generated voltage (or at the maximum displacement), as shown in Figure 3-4. The active switch S is fired at instant $(T_S/4)$ for a short time of (τ_{LC}) . The triggering circuit generally consists of a comparator, powered by a DC supply, which provides a signal to turn on the active switch S. It is powered either directly from the harvester circuit or from an external power supply. An oscillating $L_{PSSHI}C_0$ circuit is established at the turn on period, which inverts the generated voltage across the piezoelectric energy harvester. The inversion time, of the generated voltage across the piezoelectric energy harvester, is also chosen for small time period when compared with the mechanical oscillation period. Therefore, the inductor could be chosen in the range of μ H to mH [54] while the capacitance was in the range of nF to μ F. When the condition in equation (3-17) is fulfilled, the inductance (L_{PSSHI}) value can be calculated using equation (3-18):

$$\tau_{LC} \ll T_S \tag{3-17}$$

$$\pi \sqrt{L_{PSSHI}C_0} \ll \frac{T_s}{2} \tag{3-18}$$

Where,

 τ_{LC} = the $L_{PSSHI}C_0$ resonant circuit time constant T_S = the mechanical oscillation period

The output voltage from the PSSHI interface (*V*_{Out_PSSHI}) is given by [126]:

$$V_{Out_PSSHI} = \frac{2R_L \alpha \omega u_m}{R_L C_0 \left(1 - e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right)\omega + \pi}$$
(3-19)

Where,

$$Q_I$$
 = the quality factor of the $L_{PSSHI}C_0$ circuit

The other parameters were defined the same as in the previous sections. The output power from the PSSHI interface (P_{Out_PSSHI}) is given by [126]:

$$P_{Out_PSSHI} = \frac{4R_L \alpha^2 \omega^2 u_m^2}{\left(R_L C_0 \left(1 - e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right)\omega + \pi\right)^2}$$
(3-20)

The power losses in the PSSHI circuit ($P_{Losses PSSHI}$) can be written as:

$$P_{Losses_PSSHI} = P_{Losses_Trig} + P_{Losses_S} + P_{Losses_L} + P_{Losses_FB}$$

= $P_{Losses_Trig} + (I_S^2 R_S) + (I_S^2 R_L) + (4P_D)$ (3-21)

Where,

P_{Losses_Trig}	= the power losses in the triggering circuit
P_{Losses_FB}	= the power losses in the FB
P_{Losses_S}	= the power losses in the active switch S
P_{Losses_L}	= the power losses in the inductor L
Is	= the current in the inductor-switch branch
Rs	= the equivalent resistance of the active switch S

The power loss in the active switch branch (or the summation of the P_{Losses_S} and P_{Losses_L} terms) is expected to be significantly lower than the FB losses (P_{Losses_FB}) because of the small activation time of the switch S (τ_{LC}). However, if the LC_0 quality factor Q_I was low, the power losses in the inductor-switch branch might be significant. Using a high-quality factor inductor in the semi-passive or resonant circuits is critical to improve their performance. Furthermore, the comparator in the triggering circuit usually consumes low power. Therefore, the P_{Losses_FB} is the dominant power loss of the PSSHI. The efficiency of the PSSHI circuit (η_{PSSHI}) can be expressed as follows:

$$\eta_{PSSHI} = 100 \times \frac{P_{Out_PSSHI}}{P_{Out_PSSHI} + P_{Losses_PSSHI}} \%$$
(3-22)



Figure 3-3 Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI) circuit



Figure 3-4 The firing instant of the Active Switch in the PSSHI circuit

3.4.2 Series Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (SSSHI)

A SSSHI interface has the same configuration as the PSSHI interface but with the switch-inductor branch connected in series to the energy harvester. The SSSHI circuit is shown in Figure 3-5. In [126]–[129], the authors reported different implementations and designs of the SSSHI interface for frequency ranges from 10.4 Hz to 106.1 Hz [127], [128] and output power up to 300 mW [126]. The SSSHI interface has the similar operating principle at which the switch is turned on at the maximum and minimum displacement (or voltage) of the energy harvester. The switch on time is designed to be much lower than the mechanical oscillation period of the energy harvester. The output voltage from the SSSHI interface ($V_{Out SSSHI}$) is given by [126]:

$$V_{Out_SSSHI} = \frac{2R_L \alpha \omega u_m \left(1 + e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right)}{2R_L C_0 \left(1 + e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right) \omega + \pi \left(1 - e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right)}$$
(3-23)

All the parameters described above are the same as the previous section. The output power from the SSSHI interface (P_{Out_SSSHI}) is given by [126]:

$$P_{Out_SSSHI} = \frac{4R_L \alpha^2 \omega^2 u_m^2 \left(1 + e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right)^2}{\left(2R_L C_0 \left(1 + e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right)\omega + \pi \left(1 - e^{-\pi/2Q_I}\right)\right)^2}$$
(3-24)

As seen in Figure 3-5, the power losses in the SSSHI circuit (P_{Losses_SSSHI}) can be written as:

$$P_{Losses_SSSHI} = P_{Losses_Trig} + P_{Losses_S} + P_{Losses_L} + P_{Losses_FB}$$

= $P_{Losses_Trig} + (I_S^2 R_S) + (I_S^2 R_L) + (4P_D)$ (3-25)

As in the PSSHI interface, the major component of the triggering circuit is also a comparator which consumes low power and implies low power losses. Therefore, the P_{Losses_FB} is the most significant source of power losses. The efficiency of the SSSHI (η_{SSSHI}) can be expressed as follows:

$$\eta_{SSSHI} = 100 \times \frac{P_{Out_SSSHI}}{P_{Out_SSSHI} + P_{Losses_SSSHI}} \%$$
(3-26)

In [126], the authors concluded that the PSSHI and SSSHI could provide output power 15 times higher than a FB rectifier circuit when the selected inductors had very low internal resistance (high Q_l). For an application with a lower loading resistance condition, the SSSHI interface outputs higher power than the PSSHI [126]. Since the PSSHI and SSSHI interfaces have similar components and principle of operation, the power losses in both circuits (for the same input conditions) are expected to be the same. Therefore, for low load resistance R_L , the efficiency of the SSSHI is higher than the PSSHI, and vice versa.



Figure 3-5 Series Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (SSSHI) circuit

3.4.3 Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE)

The SECE interface circuit is shown in Figure 3-6. Different implementations and designs were reported in [130]–[134]. The maximum efficiency from the SECE interface reached a maximum of 80% [130] and 70% [133] in using off-shelf components. The input power in [130] was 3 mW, lower than the input power of 18 mW in [133] and the implementation in [133] required a coupled inductor with 2 windings which decreased the overall circuit efficiency. From the literature, one of the applications of the SECE interface was used to provide power to an RF transmitter with a maximum efficiency of 63.5% [134]. Unlike the PSSHI and SSSHI, the inductor branch is connected after the full bridge (FB) circuit. The active switch *S* is on when the piezoelectric voltage reaches its maximum or minimum values, same concept as in Figure 3-4. When the switch is turning on, the piezoelectric clamped capacitance C_0 is discharged through the inductor L_{SECE} . Since the current in an inductor cannot reach zero instantaneously, the energy in the inductor is transferred to the output capacitor C_L , then to the load R_L . The diode D_{SC} prevents reverse current flow in the circuit.

The output voltage from the SECE interface ($V_{Out SECE}$) is given by [126]:

$$V_{Out_SECE} = \frac{2\alpha u_m}{C_0}$$
(3-27)

The output power from the SECE interface ($P_{Out SECE}$) is given by [126]:

$$P_{Out_SECE} = \frac{2\alpha^2 u_m^2 \omega}{\pi C_0}$$
(3-28)

From Equations (3-27) and (3-28), the output voltage and power don't depend on the loading resistance R_L . This is the main advantage of the SECE circuits when compared to the PSSHI and SSHI circuits.

Ignoring the triggering power losses (P_{Losses_Trig}), the power losses in the SECE circuit (P_{Losses_SECE}) can be written as:

$$P_{Losses_SECE} = P_{Losses_FB} + P_{Losses_S} + P_{Losses_L} + P_{Losses_Dsc}$$

= $(4P_D) + (I_S^2R_S) + (I_S^2R_L) + (I_S^2R_{Dsc})$ (3-29)

The efficiency of the SECE (η_{SECE}) can be expressed as follows:

$$\eta_{SECE} = 100 \times \frac{P_{Out_SECE}}{P_{Out_SECE} + P_{Losses_SECE}} \%$$
(3-30)

In [116], the reported output power from the SECE was 5 times higher than a standard FB circuit. However, when comparing the maximum output power between the SECE and the SSHI interfaces, the SSHI interfaces provided higher power. According to the work done in [121], the use of the PSSHI, SSSHI, or SECE circuits can increase the output power up to 8, 7 and 4 times the output power from a FB circuit, respectively.



Figure 3-6 Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE) circuit

3.4.4 Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip Rectifier (P-S3BF)

The Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip Rectifier (P-S3BF) was reported in [135], [136]. The circuit diagram for the P-S3BF rectifier is shown in Figure 3-7. The synchronized switching circuit is realized using the switches M_{r1} , M_{r2} , M_{r3} , M_{l1} , M_{l2} and M_{l3} . In the triple bias-flip circuit, 3 bias voltage levels are required (- V_b , 0, and V_b) to reverse the voltage across the PEH in 3 steps. The PSSHI and SSSHI are considered the simpler version of the bias-flip rectifiers, with only a single flip. The loading resistance R_l is connected after the FB as shown in Figure 3-7. In the implementation of [136], the maximum power compared to the FB reached 3.88 while the PSSHI maximum power reached 3.11. The inductor used was 47 mH which is big and has a high internal resistance, and hence higher power losses are expected.



Figure 3-7 The Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip Rectifier (P-S3BF) circuit diagram [136]

3.4.5 Comparison of PSSHI vs SSSHI vs SECE Interfaces

Table 3-1 compares the output power between the three most common semipassive interfaces (PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE interfaces). For example, the output from the PSSHI interface P_{Out_PSSHI} is greater than P_{Out_SSSHI} when R_L is greater than $2\pi c/(C_0\omega(1+c)^2)$.

	P _{Out_PSSHI}	P _{Out_SSSHI}	P_{Out_SECE}
P _{Out_PSSHI} >		$R_{L} > \frac{2\pi c}{C_{0}\omega (1+c)^{2}}$	$R_{L1} < R_L < R_{L2}$
P _{Out_SSSHI} >	$R_{L} < \frac{2\pi c}{C_{0}\omega \left(1+c\right)^{2}}$		$R_{L3} < R_L < R_{L4}$
$P_{Out_SECE} >$	$R_L < R_{L1} \text{ or } R_L > R_{L2}$	$R_L < R_{L3} \text{ or } R_L > R_{L4}$	

 Table 3-1: The dependence of the output power on the loading resistance for semi-passive interfaces

Where

$$c = e^{-\pi/2Q_l}$$
 (3-31)

$$R_{L1} = \frac{\pi c - \pi \sqrt{2c - 1}}{C_0 \omega (1 - c)^2}$$
(3-32)

$$R_{L2} = \frac{\pi c + \pi \sqrt{2c - 1}}{C_0 \omega (1 - c)^2}$$
(3-33)

$$R_{L3} = \frac{\pi (3c-1) - \pi \sqrt{(5c-3)(1+c)}}{4C_0 \omega (1+c)}$$
(3-34)

$$R_{L4} = \frac{\pi (3c-1) + \pi \sqrt{(5c-3)(1+c)}}{4C_0 \omega (1+c)}$$
(3-35)

The quality factor of the resonant circuit Q_I is the key component which affects the output power on both PSSHI and SSSHI, as shown in Equations (3-20) and (3-24). The SECE interface, on the other hand, does not depend on the quality factor Q_I , as shown in Equation (3-28). The critical quality factor that makes the output power from the SECE interface higher than the PSSHI and SSSHI interfaces can be summarized in Table 3-2.

Table 3-2: The dependence of the output power on the quality factor of the resonant circuit Q_I for semi-passive interfaces

Topology	P _{Out_PSSHI}	P_{Out_SSSHI}
P _{Out_SECE} >	$Q_I < Q_{Icr1} = \frac{\pi}{2\ln(2)} \approx 2.27$	$Q_I < Q_{Icr2} = \frac{\pi}{2\ln\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)} \approx 3.08$

To study the PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE interfaces equations between (3-17) and (3-30), the output power equations against the loading resistance R_L were plotted. The parameters used for this comparison study are summarized in Table 3-3, and they are the same parameter values used in [126]. Figure 3-8 shows the output power for the PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE interfaces against loading resistance R_L , as in equations (3-20), (3-24) and (3-28). The SECE output power is independent of the loading resistance and quality factor and is constant at 0.0903 mW as shown in the straight line (1) in the Figure 3-8. The SSSHI output power; however, is factor of the loading resistance and quality factor, as seen from the curves (2), (3) and (4) in the Figure 3-8. As the quality factor Q_I increases from 1 to 5, the output power increases. The maximum power from the SSSHI interface is equal to the output power from the SECE (0.0903 mW) at a quality factor of 3.08, as seen in curve (3). For lower quality factor Q_I (<3.08), the output power from the SECE is higher than the SSSHI. The intersection of curves (1) and (2) occurs at the resistance R_{L3} (979 Ω) and R_{L4} (1.71×10⁴ Ω), at which the power from the SSSHI is equal to the SECE, are shown in Figure 3-8. On the other hand, the maximum power from the PSSHI interface equals the SECE at a quality factor of 2.27, as shown in curve (6) in Figure 3-8. For lower quality factor (<2.27), the SECE output power is higher than the PSSHI. At loading resistances R_{LI} $(3.73 \times 10^4 \ \Omega)$ and R_{L2} $(1.02 \times 10^6 \ \Omega)$, the power from the PSSHI is equal to the SECE. The values of the loading resistances R_{L1} , R_{L2} , R_{L3} and R_{L4} confirm the calculations provided in Table 3-1.

semi-passive	interfaces
Parameter	Value
C_0	170 nF
f	56 Hz
α	4.14×10 ⁻³
u _m	2 mm

Table 3-3: The dependence of the output power on the loading resistance for



Figure 3-8 The output power against loading resistances from the SECE interface (Curve (1)), PSSHI interface (Curve (5) at $Q_I = 5$, Curve (6) at $Q_I = 2.27$ and Curve (7) at $Q_I = 1$), and SSSHI interface (Curve (2) at $Q_I = 5$, Curve (3) at $Q_I = 3.08$ and Curve (4) at $Q_I = 1$)

3.5 Active Energy Harvester Interfaces

The active rectifiers were introduced to improve the efficiency of the electrical interfaces for energy harvesting. In the active energy harvester interfaces, the conventional diodes are not used, and are substituted by active switches, as reported in [137]. Figure 3-9 shows the configuration of an active diode, consisting of a MOSFET switch and a comparator. The replacement of the passive diodes with active switch configuration reduces the power losses in the interface and hence increases the circuit efficiency. Four of the highest efficiency active interfaces are reported in this section: Negative Voltage Converter (NVC) with

Active diode, and Full wave rectifier with comparator-controller switches, the Multi-Step Bias-Flip (MSBF), and the Flipping Capacitor Rectifier (FCR) in Sections 3.5.1, 3.5.2, 3.5.3, and 3.5.4, respectively.



Active Diode

Figure 3-9 An active diode configuration as reported in [137]

3.5.1 Negative Voltage Converter (NVC) with Active Diode (AD)

The authors in [138] reported an active rectifier based on a 2-stage concept: NVC followed by an active diode, shown in Figure 3-10. The NVC converts the negative input voltage to positive voltage and the circuit is built based on MOSFET switches as shown in Figure 3-11. The active diode stage has the same configuration as in Figure 3-9. The reported interface was operated at a low peak-to-peak input voltage (1 Vpp), low output power range (5 μ W to 25 μ W) and reached a high efficiency of about 90%.

Considering identical PMOS and NMOS switches (with the same R_{DSon}) and neglecting the comparator power losses, the power losses in the NVC-AD interface circuit ($P_{Losses NVC-AD}$) can be expressed as follows:

$$P_{Losses_NVC-AD} = P_{Losses_NVC} + P_{Losses_AD} = 4(P_{MOSFET}) + (P_{MP})$$

= $4(I_{NVC}^2 R_{DSon}) + (I_{MP}^2 R_{DSon})$ (3-36)

Where,

P_{Losses_NVC}	= the power losses in the NVC circuit
PLosses_AD	= the power losses in the AD
P _{MOSFET}	= the conduction power losses of the MOSFET switches
P_{MP}	= the power losses of the MOSFET switch in the AD circuit

$$I_{NVC} = \text{the current flowing in the NVC MOSFET switches (N_1, N_2, P_1 and P_2)}$$
$$R_{DS(on)} = \text{the drain-source on resistance of all the MOSFET switches}$$

 I_{MP} = the current flowing in the AD MOSFET switch

The efficiency of the NVC-AD interface (η_{NVC-AD}) can be expressed as follows:



Figure 3-11 The first stage in the active interface reported in [138] (Negative Voltage Converter)

3.5.2 Full Wave Rectifier (FWR) with Comparator-Controlled Switches

The authors in [139] reported an active CMOS full-wave rectifier built with comparator-controlled switches, as shown in Figure 3-12. The input voltage range was between 2.4 Vpp and 4.8 Vpp and the maximum efficiency reached a maximum of 87%. The power losses in the active FWR interface circuit ($P_{Losses FWR}$) can be summarized as follows:

$$P_{Losses_FWR} = P_{Losses_MOSFETs} = 4(P_{MOSFET})$$

= 4($I_{MOSFET}^2 R_{DSon}$) (3-38)

Where,

 P_{Losses_MOSFET} = the power losses in the MOSFET switches (M_{p1}, M_{p2}, M_{n1} and M_{n2})

Pmosfet	= the power losses in one MOSFET switch
Imosfet	= the current flowing in the MOSFET switches

The efficiency of the active FWR interface (η_{FWR}) can be expressed as follows:

$$\eta_{FWR} = 100 \times \frac{P_{Out_FWR}}{P_{Out_FWR} + P_{Losses_FWR}} \%$$
(3-39)



Figure 3-12 The active interface reported in [139]

3.5.3 Multi-Step Bias-Flip Rectifier (MSBF)

S. Javvali *et al.* reported the multi-step bias-flip rectifier for piezoelectric energy harvesting in [140], [141]. The circuit diagram of the multi-step bias-flip rectifier is shown in Figure 3-13. In this implementation, the PEH is flipped in multiple steps using the active switches S₁ to S₆. The FB, built with diodes D_1 to D_4 as shown in Figure 3-13, was implemented as a Negative Voltage Converter (NVC) followed by an active diode. The advantage of this implementation of the conventional bias-flip rectifier reported in [142] is that it requires a smaller inductor and hence reduces the size and the interface power losses. The maximum output power enhancement, compared to the FB reached a maximum of 3.85 in [140] and 4.48 in [141] with a 47 µH with a DCR of 5 Ω . The voltage flipping efficiency reached 90%. The disadvantage of the presented implementation is that it requires an external inductor which is off the chip.



Figure 3-13 The Multi-Stage Bias Flip (MSFB) circuit diagram [141]

3.5.4 Flipping Capacitor Rectifier (FCR)

Z. Chen *et al.* designed the Flipping Capacitor Rectifier (FCR) interface in [143]– [145]. The main advantage of the FCR interface is that it doesn't require a bulky high-quality factor (Q_I) inductor to extract the PEH power by realizing an LC resonant circuit. In order to increase the output power from the PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE interfaces, the inductor quality factor should increase, as shown in Figure 3-8. The block diagram of the FCR interface used in [143] is shown in Figure 3-14. The reconfigurable capacitor array consists of 4 on-chip capacitors, with 7 different combinations of series and parallel connections. The synchronous switching of the capacitors flips the voltage across the PEH. Twenty-one active switches are used to arrange the connection of the capacitors in the array. The maximum output power enhancement, compared to the FBR, of the FCR reached a maximum of 4.83 and a maximum voltage flipping efficiency of 85%. However, the power conversion efficiency was not reported.



Figure 3-14 The Flipping Capacitor Rectifier (FCR) block diagram [143]

3.6 Summary

3.6.1 Comparison between the reported interfaces in this chapter

Table 3-4 provides the breakdown of the components in the reported electrical interfaces in this paper. The number of switches, diodes, inductors, capacitors and total number of components. The passive interfaces VD and FB have the least number of components and are then expected to have the smallest footprint of all interfaces. The semi-passive interfaces have a higher number of components, compared to the passive interfaces and the requirement of an inductor to realize the resonant LC circuit. The output power is higher for the semi-passive interfaces, and can reach 10 times higher [114]. The P-S3BF interface has significantly a high number of components compared to the other semi-passive interfaces because of the higher number of bias-flip actions. The inductors in the semi-passive interfaces need to have a high quality factor Q_I as shown in Figure 3-8 to increase the output power of the electrical interface and to reduce the power losses in the inductor and therefore increase the overall efficiency. The active

interfaces have comparable number of components, compared to the semi-passive interfaces. The active interfaces, that do not require an inductor, have much smaller footprint since the whole interface can be implemented on-chip, and reduce the power losses in the electrical interface. Considering the same components for all the interfaces in Table 3-4 were used, the P-S3BF has the highest number of diodes and is therefore expected to have high power losses and lower efficiency compared to the PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE semi-passive interfaces. The input voltage requirement for the VD would be 50% less than the FB which reduces the power losses, for the same diodes used.

Interface	Switches	Diodes	Inductor	Capacitors	Total
VD	-	2	-	1	3
FB	-	4	-	1	5
PSSHI	1	4	1	1	7
SSSHI	1	4	1	1	7
SECE	1	5	1	1	8
P-S3BF	6	10	1	1	18
NVC-AD	5	-	-	1	6
Active FWR	4	-	-	1	5
MSBF	11	-	1	1	13
FCR	4	-	-	5	9

Table 3-4: The reported interface circuits breakdown of components

Table 3-5 shows a comparison between the reported interfaces in term of the input voltage magnitude requirement, the load dependency, the easiness of implementation, the number of components and CMOS compatibility. The input voltage requirement is low when there are no diodes in the interface circuit, medium when there are two diodes or less and high when the number of diodes is higher than two. The least voltage requirements are expected from the active interfaces (NVC-AD, Active FWR, MSBF and FCR). The SECE interface has the ability of load independency, as seen in equation (28) compared to all other interfaces. More load independent interfaces were reported in the literature as the Double Synchronized Switch Harvesting (DSSH) interface [146] which is a

combination of the SSSHI and SECE interfaces. The easiness of implementation is determined according to the need and complexity of the control circuit for the piezoelectric energy harvester interface. The design of the control/triggering circuit for the PSSHI interface can be realized using 1 comparator, 2 diodes and 2 capacitors, as reported in [123]. The same design can be used for the SSSHI and SECE interfaces. However, the implementation of the P-S3BF interface control circuit in [136] was more complicated, requiring a digital controller to turn on the 6 active switches. The implementation of the P-S3BF interface is more complex than the PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE interfaces. The implementation of NVC-AD [138], the active FWR [139], the multi-stage bias-flip (MSBF) [140], [141] and the FCR [143]–[145] were all using CMOS technologies. The active interfaces are recommended for very low input power range. The semi-passive interfaces (PSSHI, SSSHI, SECE and P-S3BF) and the MSBF active interface have lower CMOS compatibility because of the inductor needed in these interfaces. The inductor in these interfaces are off the chip.

Interface	Input	Load	Control	Easiness of	No. of	CMOS
menace	Voltage	Dependency?	Circuit?	Implementation	Components	Compatibility
VD	Medium	Y	Ν	High	Low	High
FB	High	Y	Ν	High	Low	High
PSSHI	High	Y	Y	Medium	Medium	Low
SSSHI	High	Y	Y	Medium	Medium	Low
SECE	High	Ν	Y	Medium	Medium	Low
P-S3BF	High	Y	Y	Low	High	Low
NVC- AD	Low	Y	Y	High	Low	High
Active FWR	Low	Y	Y	High	Low	High
MSBF	Low	Y	Y	High	High	Low
FCR	Low	Y	Y	Low	High	High

Table 3-5: Comparison between the different reported interfaces

Improving the efficiency of the piezoelectric interfaces is very critical, especially for low harvested power range. The efficiency of the VD or FB can be improved by using low power losses diodes as the Schottky diodes, that have lower forward voltage drop compared to the conventional diodes, as the VD circuit implemented in [147]. CMOS implementation of passive interfaces would further increase the efficiency. Regarding the semi-passive or resonant interfaces, reducing the diode losses is important, especially for the P-S3BF interface that has 10 diodes. In addition, the inductor used in the resonant interfaces needs to have a high-quality factor Q_I that can be calculated as follows:

$$Q_I = \frac{\omega L}{R} = \frac{1}{\omega C_0 R} = \frac{1}{R} \sqrt{\frac{L}{C_0}}$$
(3-40)

Where,

R = the equivalent series resistance of the LC_0 resonant circuit

The resistance *R* includes the internal resistance of the inductor *L*. As seen from Figure 3-8, the Q_I factor affects the output power. A lower inductance is recommended for the semi-passive or resonant interfaces, since it has a lower internal resistance, and therefore lower power losses in the LC_0 resonant circuit. A 100 μ H inductance was used in the NVC-PSSHI interface reported in [148] with 1.6 Ω internal resistance, and the efficiency of the interface reached 82.1%. On the other hand, the inductor used in the interface reported in [149] was 10 mH with an internal resistance of 72 Ω , and the efficiency reached a maximum of 61%. To improve the efficiency of the active interfaces, inductor-less solution is recommended as in FCR interface. Eliminating the inductor from the interface decreases the power losses in the interface and, hence increasing the efficiency. Reducing the number of components and integrated circuits required would also improve the active interfaces efficiency.

3.6.2 More Reported Interfaces

The general Synchronized Multiple Bias Flip (SMBF) concept and model were prosed by Liang in [150]. The voltage flipping factor, which means higher Q inductor, and the number of bias-flips can be optimized to maximize the output

power from the SMBF, and this is called the Optimal Bias Flip (OFB) strategy. The Series Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip (S-S3BF) was proposed in [151] and it was found that it can switch between single, double and triple bias-flips for heavy, medium, and light load conditions, respectively. A higher loading condition means lower bias/load voltage. Seven bias-flips interface (P-S7BF) was considered in [152]. However, the increase of the number of bias-flips to 7 did not increase the output power significantly. The maximum output power from the P-S7BF compared to the FB reached 1.75 while the maximum output power from the P-S3BF in [136] reached 1.56. It is concluded that increasing the number of bias-flips leads to a more sophisticated switching strategies and a higher number of active switches requirements.

More recent implementations of the SSHI interfaces were reported in the literature. A high efficiency NVC-PSSHI interface was designed for low input voltage and power applications [148]. The interface was built using discrete components and reached a maximum efficiency of 82.1% when powered with a single PEH. A self-adapting Synchronized Switch Harvesting (SA-SSH) interface was reported in [153] built with CMOS technology with an off-chip inductor of 1 mH. The SA-SSHI interface proved load independency at different loading conditions. A Synchronized Switch Harvesting using Power Oscillator (SSHO), built with discrete components, was reported in [154] eliminating the need of an inductor.

The implementation of the FCR in [143]–[145] was for high frequency applications, 110 kHz resonant frequency for the PEH used. This range is not suitable for typical vibration-based applications which are in the range of 10's of Hz and 1's of kHz [155]. For the range of frequencies of typical vibrations, the PEH capacitance would be higher than 78.4 pF used in [143], the total capacitance required for the reconfigurable array would be larger and more capacitors would need to be added to the chip. More active switches are used in this implementation compared to the SSHI and SECE interfaces [156].

3.6.3 Comparisons between the reported interfaces in the literature

Table 3-6 provides a summary of the reported energy harvester interfaces built with discrete components in terms of the interface types, the input voltage (peakto-peak), the harvester frequency, the output power and the electrical interface efficiency. The references in the table are grouped in 3 sections: passive (upper part), semi-passive (middle part) and active interfaces (lower part), respectively. The passive interfaces show high efficiency [157] occur when the input harvester voltage is high (~134 Vpp). This is due to the loss on the forward diode voltage is relatively small when compared with the input voltage. When the input voltages are relatively low (7.2 Vpp) [106] and (14 Vpp) [17], the efficiency of passive interface is around 65% to 70%. References [157] and [15] use the same circuit structure but with different storage devices voltage levels (16 V and 19 V storage voltage for [157] and 3 V battery for [15]), and the circuit in [157] has higher efficiency. The semi-passive interfaces show improved efficiency, comparing [158] to [105] and [159] to [17] for mW and μ W power levels, respectively. Active interfaces built with discrete components show improvement of efficiency over semi-passive and passive interfaces in Table 3-6.

Ref.	Year	Interface	Input Voltage (peak-to-peak)	Frequency	Output Power	Efficiency
[105]	2010	Voltage Doubler + Step-down Converter	10 to 40 V	250 Hz	Up to 3.5 mW	60%
[107]	2018	Full Bridge + Buck- Boost Converter	Up to 20 V	57 Hz	Up to 800 μW	79%
[157]	2007	Full Bridge	42 to 134 V	60 Hz	0.6 to 1.6 mW	20 to 90%
[157]	2007	Full Bridge + Step- down Converter	42 to 134 V	60 Hz	5 to 30 mW	75 to 85%
[17]	2014	Full Bridge + Voltage Regulator	Up to 14 V	235 Hz	Up to 66.75 μW	65%
[15]	2003	Full Bridge + Step- down Converter	40 to 140 V	60 Hz	Up to 50 mW	70%
[125]	2015	PSSHI	4.8 V	225 Hz	10 to 70 μW	N/A
[158]	2012	Flyback Converter	N/A	50 Hz	Up to 8.4 mW	72%
[148]	2019	NVC-PSSHI	3 to 7 V	100 to 500	Up to 300 μW	82.1% max

Table 3-6: The reported vibration-based energy harvester circuits built with

				Hz		
[136]	2019	P-S3BF	30 V	24.9 Hz	Up to 0.5 mW	N/A
[159]	2014	SECE with Shared Inductor	Up to 40 V	40 Hz	300 µW	74%
[106]	2017	Bridgeless AC/DC Boost Rectifier + Voltage Regulator	7.2 V	21.4 to 275 Hz	Up to 60 μ W	70%
[160]	2009	Active Rectifier	N/A	5 Hz	Up to 25 mW	78%

Table 3-7 provides the energy harvester interfaces built with CMOS technologies. In general, the input harvester voltage to the CMOS interface circuit is normally in a lower range as the CMOS circuit will have lower internal resistance. Excluding [149], the peak-to-peak input voltage to the CMOS interface circuit is less than 10 V as in [19], [137]–[139], [161]–[166]. The main contribution of the CMOS interface fabrication is the high efficiency at very low power range. The electrical components can be fabricated with very low power losses. The CMOS fabricated active interfaces can operate at low input voltage of 1 V as in [138] and [163]. From this review, it was indicated that the maximum efficiency for low power application with discrete component interface was 90% with input voltage of 134 V. For low input voltages of 7.2 V in [106], the efficiency was only 70%. A high efficiency interface circuit is needed to operate with low input voltages (less than 10 V) with higher efficiency of at least 80%.

Ref.	Year	Interface	Input Voltage (peak-to-peak)	Frequency	Output Power	Efficiency
[161]	2015	Full Bridge + Boost Converter	2.56 V	60 Hz	Up to 1.1 mW	Less than 80%
[19]	2019	SECE with Multistage Energy Extraction	Up to 10 V	390 Hz	Up to 30 μ W	84.4%
[149]	2014	MS-SECE	80 V	5 to 50 Hz	10 to 1000 μW Input	61% max
[167]	2017	SSSHI	N/A	121 to 131 Hz	165 μW	60%
[168]	2019	SSHI + MPPT	3 to 7 V	140 Hz	Up to 30 μ W	77% max

Table 3-7: The reported vibration-based energy harvester circuits built with

CMOS technologies
[137]	2011	PSSHI with Active Diodes	N/A	200 Hz	17.5 μW	92%
[162]	2007	NVC with Active Diode	Up to 6 V	125 kHz	N/A	90%
[138]	2011	Active Rectifier	1 V	100 Hz	5 to 25 μ W	90%
[169]	2017	Active SSHI	9.8 V	144 Hz	Up to 140 µW	60% to 85%
[163]	2006	Active Voltage Doubler & Full Bridge	1 V	340 Hz	22 µW	86%
[153]	2020	SA-SSH	2 to 5.6 V	317 Hz	Up to 100 μ W	N/A
[164]	2008	Synchronous Rectifier	2.3 V	100 to 10 kHz	20 μW to 4 mW	80%
[141]	2019	MSBF	3 to 4 V	441 Hz	Up to 150 μ W	N/A
[165]	2009	Active Full Wave Rectifier	10 V	0.1 to 2 MHz	4.36 V at 1 kΩ (19 mW)	84.8%
[139]	2009	Active Full Wave Rectifier	2.4 to 4.8 V	0.2 to 1.5 MHz	2.08 V at 100 Ω (43.3 mW)	87% max
[144]	2017	FCR	2 to 8.5 V	110 kHz	Up to 50 μW	N/A
[166]	2005	Active Voltage Doubler & Full Bridge	Up to 8.6 V	5 MHz	Up to 4.16 mW	54 to 80%

3.7 Conclusion

This chapter analyzed and discussed different piezoelectric energy harvester interfaces, including the passive, semi-passive and active interfaces. The different reported interfaces were compared in terms of the technology of the circuit, the input voltage range, input frequency, output power, and circuit efficiency. The limitations of these different reported circuits were discussed. From the literature, it is desirable to design an electrical interface built with discrete components to operate at low input voltage of 10 V or less with high efficiency of 80%. In the next chapter (Chapter 4), the development of a new high efficiency NVC-PSSHI AC/DC converter for piezoelectric energy harvesters will be presented.

CHAPTER 4: DEVELOPMENT OF A HIGH EFFICIENCY AC/DC NVC-PSSHI ELECTRICAL INTERFACE FOR VIBRATION-BASED ENERGY HARVESTERS*

4.1 Overview

In this chapter, an introduction about different AC/DC converters is presented in Section 4.2. The analytical model of the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit is developed in Section 4.3, as well as the simulation model and the experimental setup for the designed NVC-PSSHI interface circuit. The analytical, simulation and experimental results are presented and discussed in Section 4.4. A summary and discussion regarding the obtained results is provided in Section 4.5. A conclusion to this chapter is in Section 4.6.

4.2 AC/DC converters

In general, the output of the piezoelectric energy harvester is in AC form while most of the energy storage devices and sensors require DC voltage. Therefore, an electrical interface is needed to bridge between the harvester and the storage element. In certain situation, the interface circuits may serve a) AC/DC conversion, b) voltage regulation and c) voltage boosting function. It depends on the application and the electrical device connected to the harvester. The interface circuit between the piezoelectric energy harvester and the storage element is generally either a single-stage or two-stage interface, as shown in Figure 4-1.

^{*} Some of the material in this chapter has been published in the following paper: A. O. Badr, E. Lou, Y. Y. Tsui, and W. A. Moussa, "A High Efficiency AC/DC NVC-PSSHI Electrical Interface for Vibration-Based Energy Harvesters," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I* Regul. Pap., vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 346–355, 2020.

As mentioned in Chapter 3, the simplest interface circuit is passive interface such as Full Bridge rectifiers (FBs) or Voltage Doubler (VD) circuits. Semi-passive interfaces were introduced to improve the output power and efficiency, such as PSSHI, SSSHI and SECE interfaces reported in Chapter 3. Active circuits built with active switches were proposed to further improve the efficiency of the energy harvester interface. Table 4-1 summarizes different harvester interfaces, circuit implementation, input voltage range, output power range, and circuit efficiency from literature.

Since the current active interface circuits still have limitations. The interfaces built with discrete components have low overall efficiency, such as 65% [17], 70% [15], and 72% [158]. To have a higher efficiency 90% [157], the input voltage range should increase to 134 Vpp. The active circuits built with actives switches using CMOS technologies have generally a higher efficiency, such as 90% [138] with a low input voltage of 1 Vpp. A novel self-powered high-efficiency NVC-PSSHI interface circuit, built with discrete components, was proposed and developed.



Figure 4-1 The stages of vibration-based energy harvesting (one-stage or twostage)

Technology	Cincrit Hand	Frequency, Input	Harvested	Efficiency
[Ref]	Circuit Used	Voltage	Power	(%)
Discrete [15]	FBR+DC-DC	60 Hz, 40-140 Vpp	Up to 50 mW	70%
Discrete [157]	FBR	60 Hz, 42-134 Vpp	0.6-1.6 mW	20-90%
Discrete [157]	FBR+DC-DC	60 Hz, 42-134 Vpp	5-30 mW	75-85%
Discrete [105]	VD+DC-DC	250 Hz, 10-40 Vpp	Up to 3.5 mW	60%
CMOS [138]	Active Recitifer	100 Hz, 1 Vpp	5-25 μW	90%
Discrete [158]	Flyback Conv.	50 Hz, N/A	Up to 8.4 mW	72%
Discrete [17]	FBR+VR	235 Hz, Up to 14 Vpp	Up to 66.75 μW	65%
CMOS [161]	Active Rectifier+DC- DC	60 Hz, 2.56 Vpp	12-1100 μW (input)	10-79%
CMOS [149]	MS-SECE	5-50 Hz, 80 Vpp	10-1000 μW (input)	61% max
Discrete [125]	PSSHI	225 Hz, 4.8 Vpp	10-70 μW	5.8x FBR
Discrete [159]	SECE with Shared Inductor	40 Hz, Up to 40 Vpp	300 µW	74%
CMOS [167]	SSSHI	122-131 Hz, N/A	165 μW	60%

Table 4-1: The reported vibration-based energy harvester circuits

4.3 NVC-PSSHI Interface Circuit

Increasing the efficiency of the proposed NVC-PSSHI interface, considering the input voltage and power range was the major requirement considered when designing the circuit. The PSSHI circuit has demonstrated a higher output power compared to the SSSHI and SECE interfaces as shown in the previous chapter. The efficiency of the PSSHI circuit can be improved further if the diodes used had low voltage drops or substituted by active switches. A Negative Voltage Converter (NVC) was added to the PSSHI circuit to improve the efficiency using 4 MOSFET switches, instead of 4 passive diodes, hence reducing the power losses in the electrical interface.

The analytical model of the NVC-PSSHI circuit was then designed and derived prior to building the system. The simulation results of the output power and efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI were compared with the PSSHI interface to validate that the efficiency could be improved by adding the NVC feature. Prototypes were then built. Experiments using a function generator and a single vibration harvester were performed at different equivalent harvesting voltage, frequency, and loading resistance. The experimental results were compared with analytical model and simulation to validate the high efficiency designed interface.

Main features of the circuit including (i) it was built with a relatively low number of inexpensive commercially available components (17 components compared to 30 components in a recently reported PSSHI circuit [170]), (ii) it has a cold-startup ability (not requiring a pre-charged capacitor to operate) and (iii) its triggering circuit consumes relatively low power and does not need an external power supply.

4.3.1 Analytical Model of a Piezoelectric Energy Harvester with the NVC-PSSHI Interface

Figure 4-2 shows the proposed NVC-PSSHI interface, connected to a DC load. The proposed interface comprises two circuits: triggering and NVC-PSSHI circuits. For the NVC-PSSHI circuit analysis, the energy harvester voltage is $V_{harvester}$ while the input voltage of the NVC-PSSHI circuit is V_s . The analytical models of the vibration harvester and the NVC-PSSHI are derived in the following sections.

NVC-PSSHI Interface



Figure 4-2 The proposed NVC-PSSHI interface circuit

4.3.1.1 Analytical Model of the Piezoelectric Energy Harvester

A single degree of freedom is adopted to model the piezoelectric energy harvester [171]. This piezoelectric energy harvester model consists of a mass, a spring, and a damper. Equations (4-1) and (4-2) are the governing equations of the electromechanical system [171]:

$$M^{"} \quad \Theta V = F \tag{4-1}$$

$$I + C_S J \qquad (4-2)$$

Where,

M	= the rigid mass of the energy harvester
D	= the damper coefficient
Κ	= the spring constant
θ	= the force factor
Cs	= the clamped capacitance of the energy harvester
V	= the output voltage from the energy harvester
и	= the displacement of the rigid mass
F	= the driving force applied on the energy harvester
ü	= the velocity of the rigid mass
Ι	= the output current

Equation (4-1) describes the forces applied on the piezoelectric element to generate the motion which converts to electrical energy. The force F is the force

being applied on the harvester system from the vibration, and the term $D\dot{u}$ corresponds to the mechanical losses in the system. The term Ku corresponds to the stiffness of the mechanical system while the term θV corresponds to the converted energy from the mechanical system. Equation (4-2) relates the output current (*I*) with the current generated in the clamped capacitance ($C_S\dot{V}$) and the mechanical movement ($\theta \dot{u}$). According to equation (4-2), the piezoelectric energy harvester is then electrically modeled as a voltage source in series with a capacitor (Thevenin equivalent). The harvester voltage is then modeled as:

 $v_{harvester}(t) = V_{harvester}\sin(\omega t) \tag{4-3}$

Where,

 $V_{harvester}$ = the peak energy harvester voltage ω = the vibration angular frequency

During the analysis for this thesis study, the targeted voltage range is between 3 Vpp and 7 Vpp with 1 Vpp increment, while the targeted frequency range is between 100 Hz and 500 Hz with 100 Hz increment. The input voltage range and the frequency studied are within the ranges studied in the literature.

4.3.1.2 Analytical Model of the NVC-PSSHI Interface

The NVC-PSSHI interface consists of a triggering circuit and the NVC-PSSHI circuit. The triggering function is to turn on and off the switch in the PSSHI circuit (an inductor in series with an active switch) which can generate a higher output power as compared to other conventional interfaces [114], [172]. The NVC circuit is a full bridge rectifier based on MOSFETs instead of Schottky diodes so that the power losses can be reduced.

Triggering Circuit

Figure 4-3 shows the schematic of the triggering circuit which consists of a comparator supply circuit (D_1 , D_2 , C_1 and C_2), a differentiator circuit (R_{trig} and C_{trig}) and a signal comparator circuit (C_{comp} and Comp). The comparator supply

circuit provides the positive and negative DC voltages through the diodes (D_1 and D_2 , both are BAT54, Infineon) and the capacitors (C_1 and C_2 , both are 10 µF) to the selected comparator (TLV3691, Texas Instruments). The differentiator circuit detects the maximum and minimum of the input voltage from the harvester to determine the triggering time based on the R_{trig} and C_{trig} values. The comparator outputs a square wave signal to turn on and off the active switch in the PSSHI circuit. The output voltage from the differentiator circuit $v_t(t)$ is given by:

$$v_t(t) = R_{trig} C_{trig} \frac{dv_s(t)}{dt}$$
(4-4)

Where,

R _{trig}	= the triggering circuit resistance
C_{trig}	= the triggering circuit capacitance
v_s	= the input voltage to the NVC-PSSHI circuit

The comparator input power voltage V_{ss} is:

$$\pm V_{ss} = \pm \left(V_s - V_D \right) \tag{4-5}$$

Where,

 V_s = the peak input voltage V_D = the voltage drops across the diode D_1 or D_2

The triggering signal which outputs from the comparator $v_{trig}(t)$ is given by:

$$v_{trig}(t) = \begin{cases} -V_{ss} \text{ when } 0 \le \omega t < \frac{\pi}{2} \text{ and } \frac{3\pi}{2} < \omega t \le 2\pi \\ V_{ss} \text{ when } \frac{\pi}{2} \le \omega t \le \frac{3\pi}{2} \end{cases}$$
(4-6)

To obtain the differentiator time constant τ_{RC} to be 91 µsec, the resistance R_{trig} was selected to be 91 k Ω and capacitance C_{trig} was selected to be 1000 pF. Hence,

$$\tau_{RC} \ll I_s$$

Where,

$$T_s$$
 = the period of the voltage V_s (between 2 msec and 10 msec)



Figure 4-3 The triggering circuit for the NVC-PSSHI interface

• NVC-PSSHI Circuit

Figure 4-4 shows the schematic of the NVC-PSSHI circuit. The PSSHI circuit consists of an inductor connected in series with N_T and P_T MOSFET switches (N_T and P_T are AO3414 and AO3435, respectively from Alpha and Omega Semiconductor Inc.). The N_T switch is turned on when the triggering circuit output is high, while the P_T switch is turned on when the triggering circuit output is low. The NVC circuit also consists of two p-channel (P_1 and P_2 are AO3435) and two n-channel MOSFETs (N_1 and N_2 are AO3414) in a full bridge configuration. The inductance L_{PSSHI} is selected to be 100 µH to form a resonant LC circuit with the harvester, where *C* is the equivalent capacitance of the harvester $C_{harvester}$ (which is equal to 0.1 µF). The function of the resonant LC circuit is to flip the voltage across the harvester in a very short time when compared to half the harvester period. Equation (4-8) can be used to determine the inductance value L_{PSSHI} :

$$\pi \sqrt{L_{PSSHI} C_{harvester}} \ll T_s/2 \tag{4-8}$$

The selected MOSFET switches also have a low gate voltage so that two switches either P_1 and N_2 (for the positive half cycle) or P_2 and N_1 (for the negative half cycle) are on at every half-cycle. At each maximum and minimum of the generated harvester voltage, the switching of the inductor branch occurs, and the PEH voltage is reversed.

The harvester impedance, the inductor quality factor, the maximum voltage and the minimum (reversed) voltage are defined below:

$$Z_{input} = \frac{1}{\omega C_{harvester}}$$
(4-9)

$$Q = \frac{1}{R_{PSSHI}} \sqrt{\frac{L_{PSSHI}}{C_{harvester}}}$$
(4-10)

$$V_{\max} = \frac{R_{load}}{\sqrt{R_{load}^2 + Z_{input}^2}} V_{harvester}$$
(4-11)

$$V_{\rm inv} = V_{\rm max} e^{-\pi/2\varrho} \tag{4-12}$$

Where,

Zinput	= the harvester impedance
Q	= the quality factor of the PSSHI circuit
R _{PSSHI}	= the equivalent PSSHI circuit resistance
V _{max}	= the maximum input voltage to the circuit
Rload	= the loading resistance
V_{inv}	= the inverted voltage after the switch N_T or P_T is turned on

The voltage waveforms of the NVC-PSSHI circuit are shown in Figure 4-5 which include the harvester voltage $v_{harvester}(t)$, the triggering voltage $v_{trig}(t)$, the input voltage to the NVC-PSSHI interface $v_s(t)$, and the output voltage $v_{load}(t)$. At time t_1 , the harvester voltage reaches its maximum, and the switch N_T in the PSSHI circuit is activated. The input voltage to the circuit v_s voltage is inverted from V_{max} at t_1 to $-V_{inv}$ at $t_1+\tau_{LC}$. The v_s voltage is then building up from $-V_{inv}$ at $t_1+\tau_{LC}$ to

reach $-V_{max}$ at t_2 . At time t_2 , the switch P_T is activated, and the input voltage v_s is inverted from $-V_{max}$ to V_{inv} . The input voltage v_s is then processed in the NVC circuit and the negative part of the voltage signal is inverted. The input voltage v_s waveform can be written as follows:

$$v_{s}(t) = \begin{cases} V_{\max} \text{ when } t = t_{1} \\ -V_{inv} \text{ when } t = t_{1} + \tau_{LC} \\ -\left(V_{\max} + (V_{\max} - V_{inv}) \left[1 - e^{-t_{2}}\right]\right) \text{ when } t_{1} + \tau_{LC} < t \le t_{2} \end{cases}$$
(4-13)

The load voltage $v_{load}(t)$ equation is then equal to:

$$v_{load}(t) = \begin{cases} v_s(t) \text{ when } 0 < t \le t_1 \\ -v_s(t) \text{ when } t_1 + \tau_{LC} < t \le t_2 \end{cases}$$

$$(4-14)$$

The PSSHI current $i_{PSSHI}(t)$, and the supply current $i_{supply}(t)$ can be calculated as follows:

$$i_{PSSHI}(t) = \frac{v_{s}(t)}{\sqrt{(R_{PSSHI})^{2} + (\omega L_{PSSHI})^{2}}}$$
(4-15)

$$i_{supply}(t) = \frac{v_{load}(t)}{R_{load}} + i_{PSSHI}(t)$$
(4-16)

The output power P_{out} , can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{out} = Average\left(\frac{v_{load}^2(t)}{R_{load}}\right)$$
(4-17)

The NVC-PSSHI interface consists of the triggering, the NVC, and the PSSHI circuits. The power losses in the NVC-PSSHI interface P_{loss} can be broken down into:

$$P_{loss} = P_{loss_trig} + P_{loss_NVC} + P_{loss_PSSHI}$$
(4-18)

Where,

 P_{loss_trig} = the triggering circuit power loss

 P_{loss_NVC} = the NVC circuit power loss

 $P_{loss PSSHI}$ = the PSSHI circuit power loss

The input power P_{in} can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{in} = Average \left(v_s(t) \times i_{supply}(t)\right) = P_{out} + P_{loss}$$

$$(4-19)$$

The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface η can be written as follows:

$$\eta = 100 \times \frac{P_{out}}{P_{out} + P_{loss}}$$

$$= 100 \times \frac{P_{out}}{P_{out} + \left(P_{loss_trig} + P_{loss_NVC} + P_{loss_PSSHI}\right)}$$
(4-20)

In the analytical model, the losses in the triggering circuit P_{loss_trig} were not considered.



Figure 4-4 The schematic of the proposed NVC-PSSHI interface circuit



Figure 4-5 The simulated voltage waveforms using MATLAB for the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit

4.3.2 Simulation Model of a Piezoelectric Energy Harvester with the NVC-PSSHI Interface

The entire simulation circuit for the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit is shown in Figure 4-6. PSpice simulator (OrCAD Capture v16.6, Cadence) was used to simulate the NVC-PSSHI interface. The energy harvester model is an AC voltage source, with voltage amplitude of $V_{harvester}$ and a series equivalent capacitor $C_{harvester}$ of 0.1 µF. The simulated harvester voltage is varied between 3 Vpp and 7 Vpp, while the oscillating frequency was varied between 100 Hz and 500 Hz. The reasons of these configurations were described in Section 4.3.1.1. The DC loading resistance is varied between 5 k Ω and 30 k Ω . A total of 125 conditions (5 voltages × 5 frequencies × 5 loading resistances) are performed. These input parameters are varied to investigate the NVC-PSSHI output power and efficiency. The simulation results from the NVC-PSSHI interface are compared with the traditional PSSHI interface circuit [54], [126], depicted in Figure 4-7.



Figure 4-6 The NVC-PSSHI circuit model



Figure 4-7 The traditional PSSHI interface

4.3.3 Experimental Work

The schematic of the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit and the triggering circuit are depicted in Figure 4-8 and Figure 4-9, respectively. The PCB layout design is shown in Figure 4-10. Figure 4-11 shows the populated printed circuit board (PCB) for the NVC-PSSHI interface. The circuits were broken down into 3 sections: triggering, PSSHI, and NVC circuits. The footprint of the designed circuit is 5.8 cm × 3.5 cm. Figure 4-12 shows the schematic diagram of the experimental setup for the input power from either a function generator or a Piezoelectric Energy Harvester (PEH) (PPA-1001, Midé Technology) depending on the switch in position 1 or 2, respectively. A resistor R_{Series} (1 k Ω) was added before the NVC-PSSHI interface to measure the input current based on the voltages V_1 and V_2 from an oscilloscope (DSO-X 2004A, Agilent). The resonance frequency of the selected PEH is 100 Hz and its clamped capacitance is 0.1 μ F. The output voltage is collected across the load resistance R_{Load} . Same as the

simulation, 125 condition experiments are performed on the function generator. At each condition, for example at 3 Vpp, 100 Hz and 10 k Ω loading, approximately 2000 data points are collected from the oscilloscope. Five repeated experiments at the same condition are conducted. During the PEH experiments, the oscillating frequency is fixed at the harvester resonance frequency 100 Hz, and the loading resistance is varied between 5 k Ω and 30 k Ω . The output voltage of the PEH depends on the vibration of the shaker and is related to the output voltage from the function generator. The output voltage from the PEH is varied between 3 Vpp and 7 Vpp with 1 Vpp increment. Prior to performing the PEH experiments, the open circuit output voltage from the PEH is measured to ensure it meets the targeted peak-to-peak. The NVC-PSSHI circuit is then connected after the target voltage range was confirmed.



Figure 4-8 The schematic of the NVC-PSSHI interface



Figure 4-9 The schematic of the triggering circuit of the NVC-PSSHI interface



Figure 4-10 The PCB layout design of the NVC-PSSHI interface



Figure 4-11 The PCB layout of the NVC-PSSHI interface



Figure 4-12 The experimental setup of the NVC-PSSHI interface

4.4 Comparison of Analytical, Simulation, and Experimental Results

Figure 4-13 shows the input voltage and control signals captured from the scope for the 5 Vpp and 100 Hz case. The captured waveforms are the input voltage v_s to the NVC-PSSHI, the control signal from the differentiator circuit v_t , and the triggering voltage v_{trig} . Figure 4-14 and Figure 4-15 show the output power and efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface under the i) analytical, ii) simulation and iii) function generator experiment, respectively. The tested conditions are at 3 Vpp to 7 Vpp, 100 Hz and 10 k Ω loading resistance. The error bar from the measurements are shown in the experimental results.

The output power from the analytical and the generator experimental models has the same trend when the input voltage is between 3 Vpp and 5 Vpp. The output power difference ranges between 2.6 μ W and 8.1 μ W, or 7.7% and 23.3%. When the input voltage is increased to 7 Vpp, the output power difference increases from 23.3% to 32.6%. On the other hand, the output power difference between the simulation and generator experiment is always less than 7.2 μ W (8.3%), which is within the equipment measurement error. Furthermore, the circuit efficiency from the generator experiment increases from 74.9% at 3 Vpp to 82.9% at 7 Vpp. The difference between the experimental and analytical ranges from 8.8% down to 2.5% when the input voltage increases. However, the difference between the experimental and simulation is less than 1.8% for all input voltage range. Excluding the 3 Vpp input voltage case, the efficiency results confirm the analytical and simulation models matching the experimental model with less than 4.2% efficiency deviation. Figure 4-16 shows the circuit efficiency from the function generator experiment only when the input frequency is changed from 100 Hz to 500 Hz while the input voltage is kept at 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp and 7 Vpp and the loading resistance is at $10 \text{ k}\Omega$.

The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface has the trend of decreasing when increasing the input frequency from 100 Hz to 500 Hz. However, for the 3 Vpp input voltage, the circuit efficiency starts to decrease after 300 Hz. The maximum efficiency reaches 82.4% and 82.9% for the 5 Vpp and 7 Vpp cases at 100 Hz. Figure 4-17 shows the efficiency when the loading resistances are varied between 5 k Ω to 30 k Ω at 4 Vpp and 100 Hz for analytical, simulation, function generator and PEH experiments. The maximum efficiency from the PEH is 82.1% at 15 k Ω . At that point the efficiency for the analytical, simulation and function generator experiment are 87.8%, 81.1% and 83.0%, respectively. Under the 4 Vpp and 100 Hz condition, the simulation agrees well with both types experiment when the loading resistance is greater than 10 k Ω . Overall, the efficiency derivation

between the PEH and analytical, simulation and function generator experiment ranges between 1.7% and 12.3%, 0.8% and 12.4%, and 0.2% and 16.0%, respectively. In addition, the simulation comparison between the designed NVC-PSSHI and the traditional PSSHI interface under the 3 Vpp to 7 Vpp input voltage variation at 100 Hz and 10 k Ω loading resistance is shown in Figure 4-18.

The maximum efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface versus the PSSHI is 84% vs 70.2% at 7 Vpp. The NVC-PSSHI efficiency is always higher than that of PSSHI, ranging from 23.4% increase at 3 Vpp to 13.8% increase at 7 Vpp.



Figure 4-13 The scope signals from the NVC-PSSHI experiment for the 5 Vpp and 100 Hz case – Channel 1 (yellow): Signal from differentiator circuit V_t , Channel 2 (Green): Input voltage to the NVC-PSSHI circuit V_s , Channel 3 (Blue): Triggering voltage V_{trig}



Figure 4-14 The output power from the NVC-PSSHI against input voltage variations for simulation, analytical, and experimental models at 100 Hz oscillating frequency



Figure 4-15 The NVC-PSSHI interface circuit efficiency against input voltage variations for simulation, analytical, and experimental models at 100 Hz oscillating frequency



Figure 4-16 The NVC-PSSHI interface circuit efficiency against oscillating frequency variations for the function generator experiment at 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp and 7 Vpp input voltages



Figure 4-17 The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface against loading resistance variations for the analytical and simulation models, the function generator and PEH experiments at 4 Vpp input voltage



Figure 4-18 The efficiencies of the NVC-PSSHI interface, and the PSSHI interface from simulation at 100 Hz oscillating frequency against input voltage variations

4.5 Summary

To analyze the output power and efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface, a breakdown of the power losses based on individual component is shown in Fig. 16. The NVC losses are more significant when the input voltage is low (at 3Vpp). However, when the input voltage is increased from 4 Vpp to 7 Vpp, the PSSHI loss is increased because the current i_{PSSHI} in Equation (4-15) is increased, and therefore the PSSHI loss becomes more significant. The power loss in the triggering circuit is always below 1 μ W (7.1% contribution to the total power losses). During the NVC-PSSHI analytical model, the loss in the triggering circuit is ignored. Similarly, the on-resistance and body-diode voltage in the MOSFET are eliminated at the ideal case; therefore, the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit efficiency deviates more between the analytical and experimental models in the low voltage range (8.8% at 3 Vpp) and decreases in the higher voltage range (2.5% at 7 Vpp). However, the load dependency in the PSSHI circuit is considered in the analytical model. Including the load-dependency of the

MOSFETs in the NVC circuit would increase the accuracy of the analytical model, especially in the low voltage range. In Figure 4-17, the analytical model confirms the experimental results for the 5 k Ω and 10 k Ω loading resistances, and the deviation in efficiency calculation increases when the loading resistance is increased. At a lower loading resistance or a higher load current condition, the PSSHI circuit losses are dominant, and the efficiency calculation from the analytical model is more accurate, with maximum deviation of 3.7% at 5 k Ω . However, at a higher loading resistance condition, the deviation in efficiency increases and reaches a maximum of 12.2% at 30 k Ω .

The function generator experiment results confirm the simulation results for all loading resistances, with maximum deviation of 3.6% at 5 k Ω . The PEH experiment, however, does not agree well with the simulation or the function generator model at 5 k Ω . This is due to other PEH parameters such as the damping ratio and coupling factor [173], [174] which are not considered during the analysis.

The designed NVC-PSSHI interface can provide high AC/DC conversion efficiency, approximately 82.1%, even though the circuit is built on discrete components. Higher efficiency may be achieved if the circuit is integrated into a CMOS integrated circuit. Table 4-2 shows the comparison between the designed NVC-PSSHI circuit with other circuits from the literature. To compare between the different interfaces reported in the literature with different frequencies, input voltages and capacitances, the Figure of Merit (FOM) was introduced [170], [175], which can be calculated as follows:

$$FOM = \frac{P_{out}}{C_{harvester}V_{harvester}^2 f}$$
(4-21)

Where,

f

= the oscillating frequency

The efficiency of the designed NVC-PSSHI interface is higher than the other reported interfaces. However, the FOM of the interface reported in [125] is higher. In this study, the selected input voltage range must be greater than the threshold voltage for the MOSFET switches (AO3414 and AO3435) and the maximum DC operating voltage of the comparator (TLV3691).



Figure 4-19 The output power and the breakdown of the power losses in the NVC, PSSHI, and the triggering circuits against the variation of the input voltage from 3 Vpp to 7 Vpp for 100 Hz input frequency from the simulation model

	_	_			
Ref	[149]	[161]	[125]	[167]	This work
Year	2014	2015	2015	2017	2019
Technology	0.35 μm CMOS	0.25 µm CMOS	Discrete	0.25 μm CMOS	Discrete
Circuit Used	MS-SECE	Active Rectifier + DC-DC	PSSHI	SSSHI	NVC- PSSHI
Circuit Dimensions	1.9 mm x 1.9 mm	2 mm x 2 mm	N/A	2.2 mm x 1.97 mm	5.8 cm x 3.5 cm (built for prototyping)
Frequency	5-50 Hz	60 Hz	225 Hz	122-131 Hz	100-500 Hz
Harvester Capacitance	23 nF	225 nF	18 nF	15.9 nF	0.1 µF

Table 4-2: Comparison of the Proposed Work with the Literature

Inductance	10 mH and 25 μH	330 µH	22 μH and 940 μH	820 μH	100 µH
Inductance Series Resistance	72 Ω and 0.2 Ω	N/A	N/A	N/A	1.6 Ω
Input Voltage	80 Vpp	2.56 Vpp	4.8 Vpp	N/A	3-7 Vpp
Interface Input Power Range	10-1000 μW	12-1100 μW	N/A	275 μW	Up to 500 μW
Interface Output Power Range	Up to 610 μW	Up to 869 μW	10-70 μW	165 μW	Up to 300 µW
Figure of Merit (FOM)	0.54	N/A	5.8	1.63	2.45
Efficiency (%)	61%	10%-79%	N/A	60%	82.1% max

4.6 Conclusion

A novel self-powered high efficiency NVC-PSSHI energy harvester interface is designed to convert the AC signals generated by a piezoelectric energy harvester to DC signal. An analytical model is derived and validated using simulation and experimental models. A PEH experiment was set up to test the proposed circuit for practical application. The maximum efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interfaces with the PEH model reaches 82.1% at 15 k Ω loading resistance. The NVC-PSSHI interface provides an efficiency improvement when compared to the conventional PSSHI interface up to 23.4% at 3 Vpp and 100 Hz. In this chapter, the NVC-PSSHI is powered using a single PEH. However, in practical applications, an array of PEHs might be used to increase the output power of the electrical interface. In the next chapter (Chapter 5), an array of PEHs is analyzed and the objective is to maximize the output power from the array.

CHAPTER 5: ANALYSIS OF A PIEZOELECTRIC ENERGY HARVESTER ARRAY*

5.1 Overview

In this chapter, a background about the piezoelectric energy harvester (PEH) array is first provided in Section 5.2. The analytical model of the PEH along with the array are discussed in Section 5.3. The experimental setup for the PEH is described in Section 5.4. The analytical results for the array of PEHs are discussed in Section 5.5. Experimental results are provided, to compare with the analytical results, in Section 5.6. A discussion and a conclusion of the work done in this chapter are provided in Sections 0 and 5.8, respectively.

5.2 Background

Scavenging the energy from ambient environment and transforming it into useful energy has been of interest for the researchers in the recent years. The scavenged energy can be useful to supply power to small electrical devices, such as Wireless Sensor Nodes (WSNs). Traditionally, the power of these WSNs is supplied using primary or non-rechargeable batteries which are depleted eventually and need to be replaced. Providing an autonomous power supply for WSNs, avoiding the batteries replacement and reducing the installation costs, is very important, especially when the WSNs have limited accessibility. Examples of ambient energy included: wind, solar, wave, vibration, Radio Frequency, and thermal energies.

^{*} Some of the material in this chapter has been submitted to: A. O. Badr, Y. Y. Tsui, W. A. Moussa, and E. Lou, "Optimization of Piezoelectric Energy Harvester Array for Low Power Applications," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, Under Review.

Among those, vibration energy harvesters are commonly to be used for low power wireless sensing devices. The reasons are the ambient vibrations are widely available in human motion, road traffic and machines operation [176]–[178]. To capture the ambient vibration, vibration-based energy harvesters can be used to convert vibration energy to electrical energy. There are 3 different types of vibration energy harvesters such as piezoelectric [93], [94], [148], [153], [179], electromagnetic [12], [97], [180]–[182] and electrostatic energy harvesters [13], [36], [99], [183]. Combinations of different vibration-based energy harvesters were proposed in [18], [184]. Among these 3 types, piezoelectric energy harvesters (PEHs) are more promising solution for WSNs because they do not require pre-charging when compared to electrostatic harvesters, and do not need an external power supply when compared to electromagnetic harvesters. To convert the vibration energy to electrical energy, electrical interfaces are needed.

From the literature, researchers have reported to use an array of PEHs to generate power. Performing this can either increase the harvested power [21], [185], [186], or to widen the operating frequency bandwidth [22], [187]–[191]. The array configuration can be in series or in parallel or in combination. Wang et al. [192] investigated the ability of harvesting vibration energy from a two-dimensional inplane and out-of-plane vibration directions using an array of four radially distributed piezoelectric energy harvesters (PEHs) on a cylinder. They showed that the output voltage from the parallel connected harvesters was higher than that connected in series, when increasing the number of harvesters from 1 to 4. In [187], the authors studied the output power of an array of 3 PEHs connected to 3 different rectifiers was analyzed for small or large deviations in the mass of the PEH. The authors showed that the harvested power increased with a small deviation in mass and that a large deviation in mass resulted in wideband energy harvesting (wider frequency range). The authors in [188] tuned the natural frequency of the PEH by changing the geometrical configurations (length of the cantilever) and the connection of the PEHs in the array (series or parallel) to match the environment frequency, between 2300 and 5300 rad/sec resonance

frequency. The authors in [193] studied the output power from 1 to 8 PEHs connected in series configuration when attached to 2 different rectifiers: Full Bridge rectifier (FB) and SSHI circuit. The output power from the FB was increased by 230% and from the SSHI by 580% when compared to the maximum power from the 8 PEHs connected in series.

Lu et al. has developed multi-layer PEHs [194] to generate higher voltage. In their study, they performed experiments on parallel combination of the PEHs with loading resistances between 470 Ω and 20 k Ω . The authors demonstrated that the output voltage of the multi-layer PEHs increased between 1.98 and 2.5 times higher than the traditional PEHs with the same loading conditions. The authors didn't consider the series connection of the PEHs and changing the number of harvesters. Du et al. [23] conducted experiments on multiple PEHs in a noisy vibration environment. Their results showed there were phase and voltage differences on the output of each of the PEH that they used. The phase of the output signal from different PEHs could be completely out of phase and the output voltage could be 20% to 30% difference between different PEHs. They concluded that the harvested power was increased when each individual PEH was connected to an FB, to avoid the phase angle mismatch between the PEHs. However, the effects of the connection of PEHs in series or parallel have not been studied. The number of PEHs with different loading conditions was not considered in this work.

The objectives of this chapter are to investigate the effects of multiple PEHs connected in different combination such as in a) series, b) parallel, and c) combination of series and parallel. At each of the combination, different loading resistances were also connected. The mismatch of the phase angles and output voltages in the multiple PEHs was also considered. A direct comparison between the analytical and experimental results were performed.

As mentioned in Chapter 4, the NVC-PSSHI interface can be used for piezoelectric energy harvesting systems with high efficiency. With proper design of the PEH array to supply the required power for the interface, the energy harvesting system can operate more efficiently.

5.3 Energy Harvester Analytical Model

5.3.1 Piezoelectric Energy Harvester Model

A single degree of freedom of an electromechanical system can be used to model the PEH, as shown in [171], as a mass-spring-damper system. On the other hand, the equivalent electrical circuit of the PEH is shown in Figure 5-1, as an AC voltage source $V_{Harvester}$ in series with a capacitance $C_{Harvester}$ (Thevenin's equivalent). It can also be modeled as a current source in parallel with the capacitance (Norton's equivalent). In this work, the Thevenin's model is adopted for the analysis.



Figure 5-1 The equivalent circuit of the piezoelectric energy harvester

5.3.2 Energy Harvester Array Analytical Model

Figure 5-2 shows the connection of *n* number of energy harvesters (a) in series or (b) in parallel (c) or in combination of series and parallel (*m* PEHs in series, and *n* branches connected in parallel). Each harvester is modeled as shown in Figure 5-1. Considering an array of n PEHs, the reactance of the ith PEH in the array X_{Ci} is given by:

$$X_{Ci} = \frac{1}{\omega C_i} = \frac{1}{(2\pi f)C_i}$$
(5-1)

Where,

ω	= the vibration angular frequency
C_i	= the equivalent capacitance of the i^{th} PEH
f	= the vibration frequency

And the counter *i* can be any value from 1 to n. The phasor form of the generated voltage from each harvester is given by:

$$\overline{V_i} = V_i | \phi_i$$
(5-2)

Where,

 V_i = the root mean square voltage generated from the ith PEH ϕ_i = the phase angle of the voltage generated from the ith PEH

For *n* harvesters connected in series, the output voltage $\overline{V_{LS}}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$\overline{V_{LS}} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} V_i \left(\cos(\phi_i) + j\sin(\phi_i)\right)\right) \times \frac{R_L}{R_L - n \times jX_C}$$

$$= V_{LS} \left| \phi_{LS} \right|$$
(5-3)

Where,

 R_L = the loading resistance Φ_{LS} = the phase angle of the output voltage for series connection of the PEHs

The output power P_{LS} for series connection of harvesters can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{LS} = \frac{V_{LS}^2}{R_L} \tag{5-4}$$

For *n* harvesters connected in parallel, the output voltage $\overline{V_{LP}}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{1}{V_{LP}} = \frac{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} V_i \left(\cos(\phi_i) + j\sin(\phi_i)\right)\right)}{n} \times \frac{R_L}{R_L - jX_C/n} = V_{LP} \left|\phi_{LP}\right|$$
(5-5)

Where,

$$\Phi_{LP}$$
 = the phase angle of the output voltage for parallel connection of the PEHs

The output power P_{LP} for parallel connection of harvesters can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{LP} = \frac{V_{LP}^2}{R_L}$$
(5-6)

For a mixed combination of m parallel branches of PEHs with n series PEHs in each branch, the output voltage $\overline{V_{LSP}}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$\overline{V_{LSP}} = \frac{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m \times n} V_i \left(\cos(\phi_i) + j\sin(\phi_i)\right)\right)}{m} \times \frac{R_L}{R_L - jnX_C/m}$$

$$= V_{LSP} |\phi_{LSP}|$$
(5-7)

Where,

 Φ_{LSP} = the phase angle of the output voltage for the mixed parallel and series connections of the PEHs

The output power P_{LSP} for mixed parallel and series connections of harvesters can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{LSP} = \frac{V_{LSP}^2}{R_L} \tag{5-8}$$

The maximum output power from the PEH array occurs when the loading resistance matches the input impedance of the PEH array. The input impedance of *n* PEHs connected in series X_{CeqS} is calculated as follows (Figure 5-2(a)):

$$X_{CeqS} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} X_{Ci}$$
 (5-9)

For *n* PEHs connected in parallel, the input impedance X_{CeqP} is calculated as follows (Figure 5-2(b)):

$$X_{CeqP} = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{X_{Ci}}}$$
(5-10)

For *n* branches connected in parallel, and each branch consists of *m* PEHs connected in series, the equivalent impedance of each branch X_{Cb} is calculated as follows (Figure 5-2(c)):

$$X_{Cb} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} X_{Ci}$$
(5-11)

The equivalent impedance of the *n* branches X_{CeqSP} is then calculated as (Figure 5-2 (c)):

$$X_{CeqSP} = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{X_{Cbi}}}$$
(5-12)

During the analysis in this chapter, the effect of the magnitude voltage and phase angle mismatches is studied. An array of 2 PEHs connected in series or parallel is considered, where the impedance of both harvesters is identical, or $X_{C1} = X_{C2} =$ X_C . Starting from equation (5-3), the output voltage from 2 PEHs connected in series (n=2 and m=1 in equation (5-7)) is given by:

$$\overline{V_{LS}} = \frac{V_1(\cos(\phi_1) + j\sin(\phi_1)) + V_2(\cos(\phi_2) + j\sin(\phi_2))}{R_L - j2X_C} \times R_L$$
(5-13)

Where,

V_1	= the RMS voltage of PEH 1
V_2	= the RMS voltage of PEH 2
${oldsymbol{\Phi}}_l$	= the phase angle of PEH 1 voltage in radians
Φ_2	= the phase angle of PEH 2 voltage in radians

And starting from equation (5-5), the output voltage from 2 PEHs connected in parallel (n=1 and m=2 in equation (5-7)) is given by:

$$\overline{V_{LP}} = \frac{V_1(\cos(\phi_1) + j\sin(\phi_1)) + V_2(\cos(\phi_2) + j\sin(\phi_2))}{2R_L - jX_C} \times R_L$$
(5-14)

For 2 PEHs connected in series or parallel, the phase angle ϕ_2 and/or the voltage magnitude V_2 are varied, the output voltage is calculated using equations (5-13) or (5-14), and the output power is calculated as in equations (5-4) and (5-6). For an array of more than 2 PEHs, the output voltage is determined using equations (5-3) or (5-5), numerically using MATLAB. The range of the voltage magnitudes is considered between 2 Vpp and 3.2 Vpp with 0.01 Vpp increment, the phase angles are ranged between -60° and 60° with 1° increment, and the maximum number of PEHs in the array is 4. As this design is to focus on low power applications, only 4 harvesters are considered. The capacitance of the PEH is set to be 0.1 µF, which corresponds to the selected PEH equivalent capacitance used in the experiments. A summary of all the cases studied is shown in Table 5-1. Case 5 in Table 5-1 considered a wider range of phase angle and voltage deviations to assess the variation of output power from an array of 2 to 4 PEHs.

The maximum output power from 1 PEH can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{1PEH\max} = \frac{V^2}{2X_C} \tag{5-15}$$

The output power from 2 PEHs, connected in either series or parallel, with phase angle mismatch between the 2 PEHs can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{2PEH_phase_angle} = \frac{\left(V + V\cos(\phi_i)\right)^2 + \left(V\sin(\phi_i)\right)^2}{4X_C}$$
(5-16)

Where,

$$V$$
 = the RMS value of the PEH voltage

Equating equations (5-15) and (5-16) to get the PEH 2 phase angle at which the power from 1 PEH is equal to the power from the 2 PEHs leads to:

$$\phi_i = \pm 90^{\circ} \tag{5-17}$$

Considering the PEH 2 is the PEH with phase angle ϕ_i , if the phase angle is ±90°, the maximum output power from 1 PEH is equal to the 2 PEHs. Generalizing the equation to calculate the phase angle at which the output power from n-1 ideal harvesters is equal to the output power from n PEHs with PEH 2 phase angle ϕ_i can be written as follows:

$$n(n-1) = (n-1+\cos(\phi_i))^2 + (\sin(\phi_i))^2$$
(5-18)

Where,

n = the number of PEHs in the array

Considering the PEH 2 RMS voltage V, the output power from 2 PEHs with voltage magnitude mismatch between the 2 PEHs can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{2PEH_volt_mag} = \frac{(V+V)^2}{4X_c}$$
(5-19)

The condition at which the output power from 1 PEH is equal to the 2 PEHs with voltage mismatch can be written as:

$$V' = (\sqrt{2} - 1)V$$
(5-20)

The generalized form at which the output power from n-1 PEHs is equal to n PEHs with 1 PEH voltage mismatch can be written as:

$$V' = \left[\sqrt{n(n-1)} + 1 - n\right]V \tag{5-21}$$



Figure 5-2 The piezoelectric energy harvester array (a) n PEHs connected in series (b) n PEHs connected in parallel (c) n branches connected in parallel, each branch formed with m PEHs connected in series

Case	Number and Connection of PEHs	Loading Resistance <i>R_L</i>	Phase Angle (ϕ_i)	Voltage Magnitude (V _i)	Number of Studies
1	2, 3 and 4 – Series and Parallel and Combination	1 kΩ to 100 kΩ	0°	3 Vpp	7
2	2 and 4 – Series and Parallel and Combination	$R_L = X_{Ceq}$	-60° to 60°	3 Vpp	5
3	2 and 4 – Series and Parallel and Combination	$R_L = X_{Ceq}$	0°	2 Vpp to 3.2 Vpp	5
4	2 - Parallel	$R_L = X_{Ceq}$	-60° to 60°	2 Vpp to 3.2 Vpp	1
5	1, 2, 3 and 4 - Series	$R_L = X_{Ceq}$	-180° to 180°	1 Vpp to 3.2 Vpp	6

Table 5-1: The analytical case studies

5.4 Experimental Setup

Experiments are performed to compare the analytical results in the cases described in Table 5-1. Figure 5-3 shows the schematic diagram of the experimental work. It consists of a function generator (Agilent 33220A, Agilent) to generate the sinusoidal wave. A desired magnitude and frequency (108 Hz) of the sinusoidal wave was then connected to a custom-built power amplifier which was set with gain of 20. The output signal from the amplifier is then input into a vibration shaker (B&K 4809, Brüel & Kjær) to provide the mechanical vibration to the PEHs (PPA-1011, Midé Technology, resonance frequency 108 Hz). The range of the acceleration ias set between 0.1 g to 0.25 g to limit the output voltage on the PEHs. The selected PEHs are mounted on the vibration shaker using a custom 3D-printed disc that was designed to allow maximum 4 PEHs mounted in 90° apart. An accelerometer (WT901BLECL 5.0, WitMotion) is mounted in the center of the shaker to measure the acceleration, which has 0.01 g resolution and ± 16 g range. An oscilloscope (DSO-X 2004A, Agilent) is used to measure the output voltage from the PEH array with different configurations. The image of the experimental setup is shown in Figure 5-4. Prior to performing the experiments,
the no-load output voltages of 4 PEHs are measured directly at different vibration conditions. Each experimental study case is repeated 5 times to obtain the average value. Since not all the analytical model cases, shown in Table 5-1, are possible to be validated experimentally, the different combination of 2 PEHs connected in series or in parallel are experimented. The experimental results are compared to the analytical results. The array of PEHs is loaded by 30 k Ω for the series connected PEHs, and 7.5 k Ω for the parallel connected PEHs. The phase angle mismatch is measured using the signals captured from the oscilloscope. The time difference between the voltage waveforms at zero crossing is measured and the phase angle difference can be calculated as follows:

$$\Delta \theta = \omega \times \Delta t \tag{5-22}$$

Where,

$$\Delta \theta$$
 = the phase angle difference between both voltage waveforms in radians

 Δt = the time difference in sec

The time difference Δt is measured using the oscilloscope as well.



Figure 5-3 The schematic diagram for the PEH array experiment



Figure 5-4 The experimental setup of the PEH array

5.5 Analytical Results

Figure 5-5 shows the output power from 1 PEH to 4 PEHs connected in either series or parallel or a combination of series and parallel, while the loading resistance is ranged from 1 k Ω to 100 k Ω (Case 1 in Table 5-1). The loading resistance is varied with an increment of 100 Ω per step. The voltage of all PEHs is set to 3 Vpp. The 1 PEH case is plotted as a reference for comparison (Figure 5-5(a)). The maximum power from 1 PEH reaches 38.2 μ W at 14.7 k Ω loading resistance. When increasing the number of PEHs connected in series from 2 to 4 (Figure 5-5(b) to (d)), the maximum output power increases from 76.3 μ W at 29.4 $k\Omega$ to 152.4 μ W at 58.8 $k\Omega$. The output power is increased proportionally with the number of PEHs. Increasing the number of parallel harvesters from 2 to 4 (Figure 5-5(e) to (g)), the maximum output power increases from 76.3 μ W at 7.4 k Ω to 152.4 μ W at 3.7 k Ω . For the combination of 4 PEHs connected in series and parallel configuration (2 in series and then parallel), the maximum power is the same as 4 parallel or 4 series configurations. However, the maximum power 152.4 μ W occurs at 14.7 k Ω resistance (Figure 5-5(h)). The maximum power occurs when the loading resistance matches the input impedance of the PEH array as calculated in equations (5-9), (5-10) and (5-12). The MATLAB code to draw Figure 5-5 is provided in the Appendix A.1.



Figure 5-5 The output power from (a) 1 PEH, (b) 2 PEHs in series, (c) 3 PEHs in series, (d) 4 PEHs in series, (e) 2 PEHs in parallel, (f) 3 PEHs in parallel, (g) 4 PEHs in parallel, and (h) 4 PEHs with 2 in series and 2 in parallel. The voltage of all PEHs is set to 3 Vpp, no phase angle or voltage magnitude mismatch, and loading resistance varied between 1 k Ω and 100 k Ω

Figure 5-6 and Figure 5-7 show the output voltages and output powers from 2 PEHs connected in (a) series or (b) parallel and from 4 PEHs connected in (c) series, or (d) parallel, or (e) combination of series and parallel when varying the phase angle of the PEH 2 between -60° and 60° (Case 2 in Table 5-1). The loading resistance is set to the equivalent input impedance of the array to deliver the maximum power, i.e, $R_L = 2X_C$ for 2 PEHs connected in series and $R_L = X_C/2$ for 2 PEHs connected in parallel. In the analysis, the voltage from all PEHs is assumed 3 Vpp, while the phase angle of PEH 1 is 0° and PEH 2 is varied between -60° and 60°. The maximum output voltage reaches 1.5 Vrms and 0.75 Vrms at 0° for the 2 PEHs connected in series and parallel, respectively. For the 4 PEHs, the phase angle of PEH 1, 3 and 4 are 0° and PEH 2 is varied between -60° and 60°, the maximum output voltage is 3 Vrms, 0.75 Vrms and 1.5 Vrms for the series connection, parallel connection, and the combination of series and parallel connection. The RMS output voltages are also mirrored at the 0° phase no matter

in series or parallel connections. The voltage decreases reaching a minimum of 1.3 Vrms and 0.65 Vrms for the series and parallel connections, respectively.

From Figure 5-7, the output power from the 2 PEHs connected in (a) series or (b) parallel is equal, and, also, similar output power for all 4 PEHs configurations ((c), (d) and (e)). The output power, from the 2 PEHs reaches a maximum of 76.3 μ W at 0° and a minimum of 57.3 μ W at ±60°, and from the 4 PEHs reaches a maximum of 152.7 μ W at 0° and a minimum of 124.1 μ W at ±60°. Increasing the phase angle of PEH 2 reduces the output power by 25% for the 2 PEHs case and reduces the output power by 18.8% for the 4 PEHs case. The MATLAB code to plot Figure 5-6 and Figure 5-7 is provided in the Appendix A.1A.2.



Figure 5-6 The output voltage from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L = X_C$



Figure 5-7 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L = X_C$

Figure 5-8 and Figure 5-9 show the output voltages and output powers from 2 PEHs connected in (a) series or (b) parallel and from 4 PEHs connected in (c) series, or (d) parallel, or (e) combination of series and parallel when the voltage of the PEH 2 is varied between 2 Vpp and 3.2 Vpp (Case 3 in Table 5-1). In the analysis, there is no phase angle mismatch and the voltages from PEH 1, 3, 4 are kept at 3 Vpp. Increasing the PEH 2 voltage to 3.2 Vpp, the output voltage increases to 1.6 Vrms and 0.8 Vrms for the 2 PEHs connected in series and parallel, respectively. For the 4 PEHs case, the output voltages are 3.1 Vrms, 0.8 Vrms, and 1.5 Vrms for the series, parallel, and the combination of series and parallel connections, respectively. The output voltage decreases until reaching 1.3 Vrms and 0.6 Vrms for the series and parallel connection of 2 PEHs at a PEH 2 voltage of 2 Vpp, and decreases to 2.8 Vrms, 0.7 Vrms and 1.4 Vrms for the series, parallel, and combination of series and parallel connection of 4 PEHs.

From Figure 5-9, the output power, from the 2 PEHs cases (a) and (b) reaches a maximum of 81.5 μ W and from the 4 PEHs cases (c), (d) and (e) reaches a maximum of 157.8 μ W, at a PEH 2 voltage of 3.2 Vpp. Reducing the PEH 2 voltage from 3.2 Vpp to 2 Vpp, the output power is reduced by 34.9% for the 2

PEHs cases and by 18.7% for the 4 PEHs cases. The MATLAB code to plot Figure 5-8 and Figure 5-9 is provided in the Appendix A.1A.3.



Figure 5-8 The output voltage from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L = X_C$



Figure 5-9 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs in series when $R_L = 2X_C$, (b) 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$, (c) 4 PEHs in series when $R_L = 4X_C$, (d) 4 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/4$, and (e) 4 PEHs in series and parallel when $R_L = X_C$

Figure 5-10 shows a surface plot of the output power from 2 PEHs connected in parallel when the phase angles of PEHs 1 and 2 are varied between -60° and 60°. The voltages of PEHs 1 and 2 were set at 3 Vpp. The maximum power of 76.34 μ W occurs when the phase angles of both PEHs are equal. When the phase angles are different, but they are both either positive or negative (same sign), the power is reduced slightly compared to the maximum power. When the phase difference between both harvesters are of different signs, the power is reduced considerably, reaching a minimum of 19.09 μ W.

Figure 5-11 shows a surface plot of the output power from 2 PEHs connected in parallel when the voltage magnitudes of PEH 1 and 2 are varied between 3.2 Vpp and 2 Vpp. The output power is increased to 86.86 μ W when both PEH voltage magnitudes are 3.2 Vpp and reaches a minimum output power of 33.93 μ W when the voltages of PEHs 1 and 2 are at 2 Vpp.



Figure 5-10 The output power from 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$. The voltages of PEH 1 and PEH 2 were set to 3 Vpp. The phase angles of PEHs 1 and 2 are varied between -60° and 60°



Figure 5-11 The output power from 2 PEHs in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$. There is no phase angle difference between PEHs 1 and 2. The voltage magnitudes of PEHs 1 and 2 are varied between 3.2 Vpp and 2 Vpp

Figure 5-12 shows the output power from the 2 PEHs connected in parallel when the phase angle and the voltage magnitudes are changing simultaneously (Case 4 in Table 5-1). The maximum power of 81.5 μ W occurs when the PEH 2 voltage was at 3.2 Vpp and phase angle of 0° (in phase with the PEH 1). The output power is reduced when changing the phase angle or voltage magnitude. Keeping the PEH 2 voltage at 3.2 Vpp, the output power reaches a minimum of 61.2 μ W when the PEH 2 phase angle changes to 60° or -60°, or a reduction of output power of 25%. Keeping the phase angle at 0°, the output power is reduced from 81.5 μ W to 53.0 μ W when the PEH 2 voltage changes from 3.2 Vpp to 2 Vpp, or an output power reduction of 35%. The MATLAB code to plot Figure 5-10, Figure 5-11 and Figure 5-12 is provided in the Appendix A.4.



Figure 5-12 The output power from 2 PEHs connected in parallel when $R_L = X_C/2$. The voltage of PEH 1 was set to 3 Vpp. The voltage magnitude of PEH 2 is varied between 3.2 Vpp and 2 Vpp, and the phase angle is varied between -60° and 60°

Figure 5-17 and Figure 5-18 show the output power from the 1 to 4 PEHs connected in series when the phase angle and the voltage magnitudes are changing simultaneously (Case 5 in Table I). In Figure 5-17, the intersection between 1 and 2 PEHs (graphs (a) and (d)) happens at $\pm 90^{\circ}$ at 38.17 µW. For a higher phase angle mismatch between the 2 PEHs, the output power from 1 PEH is higher than 2 PEHs. The intersection between the 2 and 3 PEHs (graphs (b) and (e)) occurs at $\pm 75^{\circ}$ at 76.34 µW. At a phase angle mismatch higher than 75°, The output power from 2 PEHs with no mismatch is higher than 3 PEHs. Lastly, the intersection between 3 and 4 PEHs (graphs (c) and (f)) is at $\pm 70^{\circ}$ at 114.5 µW. In Figure 5-18, the intersection between the 1 and 2 PEH cases (graphs (a) and (d)) occurs at 1.24 Vpp. When the PEH 2 voltage is lower than 1.24 Vpp, the output power from 1 PEH is higher. The intersection between the 2 and 3 PEH cases (graphs (b) and (e)) happens at 1.35 Vpp, and between the 3 and 4 PEH cases (graphs (c) and (f)) is at 1.39 Vpp.



Figure 5-13 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs, (b) 3 PEHs and (c) 4 PEHs in series, (d) the output power from 1 PEH, and the maximum output power from (e) 2 PEHs and (f) 3 PEHs, when the phase angle of PEH 2 varies between -180° and 180°



Figure 5-14 The output power from (a) 2 PEHs, (b) 3 PEHs and (c) 4 PEHs in series, (d) the output power from 1 PEH, and the maximum output power from (e) 2 PEHs and (f) 3 PEHs, when the PEH 2 voltage varies between 3.2 Vpp and 1 Vpp

Figure 5-15 is the plot of equation (5-18), varying the number of PEHs *n* against the phase angle of PEH 2 ϕ_i . As shown in the figure, as increasing the number of PEHs n, the phase angle is reduced from $\pm 90^{\circ}$ at n=2 to $\pm 61.7^{\circ}$ at n=20. For lower

phase angle ϕ_i , the n PEHs output higher power than the n-1 PEHs, and for higher phase angle, the n-1 PEHs output higher power. For a high number of PEHs $(n\rightarrow\infty)$, the condition for a higher maximum output power can be summarized as follows:

$$\begin{array}{l}
P_{(n-1)PEHs} > P_{(n)PEHs} & when \ \left|\phi_{i}\right| > 60^{\circ} \\
P_{(n-1)PEHs} < P_{(n)PEHs} & when \ -60^{\circ} < \phi_{i} < 60^{\circ}
\end{array}$$
(5-23)

Figure 5-16 is the plot of equation (5-21), with a peak-to-peak voltage of 3 Vpp. As shown in the figure, increasing the number of PEHs n from 2 to 20, the voltage V' is increased from 1.24 V at n=2 to 1.48 V at n=20. For lower voltage V', the n-1 PEHs output higher power than the n PEHs array and for a higher voltage V', the n PEHs output higher power. For a high number of PEHs $(n\rightarrow\infty)$, the condition for a higher maximum output power can be summarized as follows:

$$P_{(n-1)PEHs} > P_{(n)PEHs} \text{ when } V' < \frac{V}{2}$$

$$P_{(n-1)PEHs} < P_{(n)PEHs} \text{ when } V' > \frac{V}{2}$$
(5-24)



Figure 5-15 The phase angle of PEH 2 that makes the (n-1) PEHs output power equal to (n) PEHs



Figure 5-16 The voltage magnitude of PEH 2 that makes the (n-1) PEHs output power equal to (n) PEHs

5.6 Experimental Results

Figure 5-17 shows the phase angle difference between the voltage waveforms of the 4 PEHs used in the experiment. All the voltages are measured at the open circuit condition. As seen from the figure, the output voltage from all 4 PEHs are not exactly equal, but PEHs 1 and 4, and PEHs 2 and 3 have the close signals at the same condition, respectively. In addition, the generated voltages have phase angle difference.



Figure 5-17 The output voltage waveforms from all 4 PEHs captured from the oscilloscope

Figure 5-18 shows the output voltage of all 4 PEHs against the acceleration of the vibration between 0.07 g and 0.25 g. The vibration frequency is set at 108 Hz which is the resonance frequency of the PEHs used. The data points from the 4 PEHs can be linearly fitted and the equations are given as follows:

$$V_{PP1} = 22.99g + 0.11 \tag{5-25}$$

$$V_{PP2} = 27.8g + 0.25 \tag{5-26}$$

$$V_{PP3} = 26.24g + 0.13 \tag{5-27}$$

$$V_{PP4} = 20.91g + 0.1 \tag{5-28}$$

Where,

V _{pp1}	= the peak-to-peak output voltage from PEH 1
V_{pp2}	= the peak-to-peak output voltage from PEH 2
V_{pp3}	= the peak-to-peak output voltage from PEH 3
V_{pp4}	= the peak-to-peak output voltage from PEH 4

The linearity of the 4 equations with $R^2 = 0.99$ for all PEHs.



Figure 5-18 The peak-to-peak voltage from each harvester (PEH 1, 2, 3 and 4) against the acceleration

The experimental conditions, including the combinations of PEHs in the array, the phase angle difference in degrees, and the voltages of the PEHs, are shown in Table 5-2. Table 5-3 and Table 5-4 summarize the experimental results for 2 PEHs when connected in series and parallel, respectively. Since the output voltage from the 4 PEHs is not identical as shown from Figure 5-18, the individual PEH peak-to-peak voltage is recorded in the table, in addition to the phase angle difference between the generated voltages in (°) assuming that the PEH 2 phase angle is 0° . The vibration acceleration is set to 0.1 g to generate a PEH voltage of 3 Vpp. The PEHs' voltages (Vpp±SD) (Standard Deviation) and the phase angle difference between the 2 PEHs are recorded from the oscilloscope. The analytical voltages V_{LS} and V_{LP} and output powers P_{LS} and P_{LP} are calculated and compared with the experimental results. The percentage deviation of the experimental results from the analytical ones for the output voltage and power is also shown in Table 5-3 and Table 5-4, respectively. The series connected PEH array is loaded by a 30 k Ω resistance while the parallel connected PEH array is loaded by a 7.5 $k\Omega$ resistance. The output voltage from the experiment is recorded and the output power is calculated for the different cases and compared to the analytical results.

The experimental tests are the Case 4 in Table 5-1 with varied combination of 2 PEHs, where the voltage and phase angles are different between the PEHs. The output power deviation from the analytical results reaches a maximum of 16.48% for the series connected PEHs and 19.51% for the parallel connected PEHs. The output voltage deviation from the analytical results reaches a maximum of 8.61% for the series connected PEHs and 10.28% for the parallel connected PEHs. When measuring the phase angle difference using the oscilloscope, an error of \pm 5% was recorded and added in Table 5-3 and Table 5-4. For the combination of PEHs 2 and 3, the experimental output power is maximum at 57.92 µW and 54.1 µW for series and parallel connection, respectively.

Table 5-5 and Table 5-6 show the comparison between the output power from 1 and 2 PEHs, and 2 and 3 PEHs in series, respectively. In Table 5-5, the output power from the experiment from PEH 2 was lower than the combination of PEHs 2 & 3, with PEH 3 at full voltage, 33.95 μ W compared to 57.92 μ W. The experimental results confirm the analytical ones. When the PEH 3 voltage was reduced using voltage divider, the output power from PEHs 2 & 3 with reduced voltage was lower than that of the PEH 2, 28.04 μ W compared to 33.95 μ W. The same happened in Table 5-6 comparing between the 2 and 3 PEHs. The output power from PEHs 2 & 3 was higher than the array with PEHs 2 & 3 & 4 with PEH 4 reduced voltage, 57.92 μ W compared to 52.91 μ W.

Combination	Phase Angle	1 st PEH Voltage	2 nd PEH Voltage
Comonitation	Difference	(Vpp)	(Vpp)
PEHs 1 & 2	19°±1.0°	$2.24{\pm}0.11$	2.98±0.15
PEHs 1 & 3	19°±1.0°	$2.24{\pm}0.11$	2.79±0.15
PEHs 1 & 4	7°±0.4°	$2.24{\pm}0.11$	$1.91{\pm}0.1$
PEHs 2 & 3	0°±0.2°	2.98±0.15	2.79±0.14
PEHs 2 & 4	26°±1.3°	2.98±0.15	1.91 ± 0.1
PEHs 3 & 4	26°±1.3°	2.79±0.14	$1.91{\pm}0.1$

Table 5-2: The experimental conditions for the PEHs in the array

Analytical V _{LS} (Vrms)	Analytical P _{LS} (μW)	Experimental V _{LS} (Vrms)	Experimental P _{LS} (µW)	% Deviation (Voltage)	% Deviation (Power)
1.3	54.26	1.2 ± 0.06	46.07±2.5	7.86%	15.11%
1.25	50.32	1.17 ± 0.06	44.31±2.2	6.16%	11.95%
1.05	35.23	$0.96{\pm}0.05$	29.42±2.01	8.61%	16.48%
1.45	68.1	$1.34{\pm}0.07$	57.92±3.1	7.78%	14.95%
1.20	46.53	1.16 ± 0.06	43.03±2.35	3.83%	7.51%
1.15	42.96	1.08 ± 0.05	37.63±2.11	6.41%	12.41%

Table 5-3: The experimental results for 2 PEHs connected in series with 30 k Ω loading resistance

Table 5-4: The experimental results for 2 PEHs connected in parallel with 7.5 k Ω loading resistance

Analytical V _{LP} (Vrms)	Analytical P_{LP} (μ W)	Experimental V _{LP} (Vrms)	Experimental P_{LP} (μ W)	% Deviation (Voltage)	% Deviation (Power)
0.65	55.99	$0.59{\pm}0.03$	46.89±2.61	8.49%	16.25%
0.56	51.58	0.57 ± 0.06	42.71±2.52	9.00%	17.2%
0.52	36.05	0.47 ± 0.02	29.7±1.91	9.23%	17.61%
0.71	67.21	0.64 ± 0.03	54.1±3.25	10.28%	19.51%
0.60	48.02	0.54 ± 0.03	39.46±2.45	9.33%	17.8%
0.58	44.39	0.53±0.03	37.59±2.28	7.97%	15.31%

Table 5-5: Comparison of the maximum power between 1 and 2 PEHs in series

Combination	Analytical $P_{LP}(\mu W)$	Experimental $P_{LP}(\mu W)$	Comparison
PEH 2	38.17	33.95±1.91	N/A
PEHs 2 & 3	76.33	57.92±3.1	$P_{\rm 2PEH} \! > \! P_{\rm 1PEH}$
PEHs 2 & 3 (Reduced Voltage)	32.42	28.04±2.56	$P_{1PEH} > P_{2PEH}$

Combination	Analytical $P_{LP}(\mu W)$	Experimental $P_{LP}(\mu W)$	Comparison
PEH 2 & 3	76.33	57.92±3.1	N/A
PEHs 2 & 3 & 4	80.22	66.42±2.61	$P_{\rm 3PEH} \! > \! P_{\rm 2PEH}$
PEHs 2 & 3 & 4 (Reduced Voltage)	62.35	52.91±1.59	$P_{2PEH} > P_{3PEH}$

Table 5-6: Comparison of the maximum power between 2 and 3 PEHs in series

5.7 Discussion

According to Figure 5-5, the maximum output power only occurs when the loading resistances match to the input impedance and is the same for the same number of PEHs. Hence, in an application of using PEH array to provide power for a circuit, the loading resistance of the interface circuit affects the output voltage and power. In a 4 PEHs array circuit, the maximum output current at maximum power point from the 4 PEHs connected in series is 50.9 μ A while the output current from 4 PEHs connected in parallel is 203.6 μ A. On the other hand, the series connected PEHs are preferred when the electrical interface connected to the PEH array needs a high threshold voltage to operate.

From Figure 5-5, the output power from the series connected PEHs has higher operational loading resistance bandwidth compared to the parallel connected PEHs. For instance, considering the 2 PEHs array, the maximum output power is 76.3 μ W for both series and parallel connection. At least 90% of the maximum output power (68.7 μ W) can be achieved if the loading resistance is between 18.5 k Ω and 47 k Ω , and between 4.6 k Ω and 11.8 k Ω for the parallel connection. The series connection of the PEHs has a wider range of loading resistance for the same output power range, when compared to the parallel connection of the PEHs.

The phase angle is varied between -60° and 60° while the PEH voltage is varied between 2 Vpp and 3.2 Vpp in Figure 5-12. This is a realistic case for the variations between the PEHs when added in an array, as seen experimentally, from Table 5-2. It has been concluded from Figure 5-12 that the reduction of output power from the voltage mismatch is higher than the phase mismatch. This also shows in the experimental results.

The output voltages and phase angles from all 4 PEHs are not identical as seen from Figure 5-17. That can be attributed to the clamping positions, clamping tightness, eccentricity of the vibration from the shaker, and the manufacturing tolerance of harvesters. The clamping positions and tightness also affect the resonance frequencies of the harvesters. When the deviation of the experimental voltage is bigger, the deviation of the experimental power is larger as well. Furthermore, the error of the same 2 PEHs is always higher in parallel connection then in series connection because the loading resistance is more sensitive in the parallel connection. The maximum power occurs when both of the phase angle and output voltage mismatch are minimum (PEH 2 and PEH 3).

In term of limitation, since only one shaker is available in this study, the variation of the phase angle differences between different harvesters is limited. Also, the voltage variation will be linearly correlated between different harvesters.

5.8 Conclusion

In this chapter, the analysis of a PEH array is discussed considering the array configuration (series or parallel or combination of both), the number of PEHs in the array (from 1 to 4), and the loading resistance (from 1 k Ω to 100 k Ω). The effect of phase angle mismatch between the generated voltages from the PEHs (between -60° and 60°) and the voltage magnitude mismatch (between 2 Vpp and 3.2 Vpp) are taken into consideration to determine the output power from the array. A higher reduction of output power occurs when the input voltage is reduced from 3 Vpp to 2 Vpp (35%), while only 25% of the output power is reduced when the phase angle varies between 0° and ±60°. The output power deviation of 2 PEHs from the analytical results reaches a maximum of 16.48% for the series connection and 19.51% for the parallel connection. The phase angle and voltage magnitude conditions of one mismatched PEH in an array, that made the

lower number of PEHs output higher power, were derived in Section 5.5 in this Chapter.

In the next chapter (Chapter 6), the PEH array will be used to supply power to a full energy harvesting system, including the designed NVC-PSSHI interface in the previous chapter.

CHAPTER 6: VALIDATION OF THE NVC-PSSHI INTERFACE CIRCUIT*

6.1 Overview

In this chapter, a background about the two-stage piezoelectric energy harvester interfaces is presented in Section 5.2. The energy harvesting system model, including the array of PEHs, the NVC-PSSHI interface, the Battery Management (BM) interface and the energy storage device, is discussed in Section 5.3. The experimental setup for the NVC-PSSHI BM interface is described in Section 5.4. The experimental results are discussed in Section 5.5. A discussion is provided in Section 5.6. A conclusion of the work done in this chapter is provided in Section 0.

6.2 Background

Converting the ambient energy and using it to power small power electronic devices has gained importance over the last decade. The conventional way to power the small electronic devices (or Wireless Sensor Nodes, WSNs) is the use of non-rechargeable/primary batteries. However, the cost of replacement, maintenance, and the installation of the new batteries may be high, due to the hard accessibility of the electronic device. Using rechargeable/secondary batteries to power the wireless sensor nodes (WSNs) can provide a viable solution, where these rechargeable batteries can be recharged using the ambient energy. There are several forms of ambient energy sources available for harvesting, among which: thermal [88], solar [195], radio-frequency [90], and vibration energies [91].

^{*} Some of the material in this chapter has been submitted to: A. O. Badr, Y. Y. Tsui, W. A. Moussa, and E. Lou, "Validation of the NVC-PSSHI with Battery Management Interface Circuit with an Array of PEHs for Low Power Applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, Under Review.

The vibration-based energy harvesters can be classified into three: piezoelectric [92]–[94], electromagnetic [95]–[97] or electrostatic [13], [98], [99]. The piezoelectric energy harvesters (PEHs) are characterized by a higher power density [94], [196], [197], its simplicity and easy integration [198].

The generated voltage from the PEH is in AC form. Generally, the energy storage devices (rechargeable batteries or super capacitors) must be charged using DC voltage. Therefore, an electrical interface is needed between the PEH and the storage device. Figure 6-1 shows a two-stage piezoelectric energy harvesting system and charging an energy storage device. The 1st stage (Stage 1) consists of an AC/DC converter, to convert the generated AC voltage to a DC voltage. The 2nd stage (Stage 2) is a DC/DC converter that conditions the output voltage from the AC/DC converter for the storage element. The efficiency of the overall interface is very critical since the available energy budget from the vibration sources is limited.

The one-stage interface or an AC/DC converter has been reported in the literature. Passive rectifiers such as Full Bridge rectifier (FB) and Voltage Doubler (VD) circuits, built with passive diodes, could be used for piezoelectric harvesting systems [116]. Semi-passive or resonant rectifiers have been introduced to increase the output power compared to the passive rectifiers, as Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI) [199], Series Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (SSSHI) [129] and Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction (SECE) [200], [201]. Active interfaces built with active switches were proposed to increase the efficiency of the electrical interface. However, the one-stage interface does not condition the voltage to meet the charging requirements for the energy storage, which means either a high voltage from the PEH or a DC/DC converter is needed. In term of efficiency, the one-stage interface might have higher efficiency than the two-stage interface because it has one less circuit and the power loss should be lower.

Ottman et al. in [15] reported a two-stage interface for PEHs, consisting of a FB and a step-sown DC/DC converter instead of the boost converter because of the high PEH open circuit voltage (up to 70 V). The maximum power withdrawn from the circuit was 50 mW. The maximum efficiency of the proposed interface reached about 70%. Tabesh and Fréchette in [105] proposed a VD and a step-down converter as a two-stage interface. The interface operated at a lower output power at 3.5 mW max, compared to [15]. However, the interface efficiency only reached a maximum of 60%. Besides these two interfaces, Table 6-1 summarizes the reported interfaces for PEH systems compared in terms of the manufacturing technology (discrete or CMOS) used for the interface circuit, the operating frequency, the input voltage range Vpp, the harvested power range, and the interface circuit efficiency. There is a commercial circuit for PEH systems, as EH300/301 EPAD from ALD Inc., US that has an input voltage range up to 500 Vpp and output power range up to 500 mW. However, the efficiency of the PEH circuit was not reported.

This chapter reports the experimental results to validate a high efficiency discrete components built Negative Voltage Converter PSSHI (NVC-PSSHI) interface circuit [148], powered by an array of PEHs to charge a super capacitor and a LiPo battery to 4.2 V. The optimum configuration of the PEH array to provide maximum power and efficiency is investigated against input voltage from the PEHs, loading resistance, the number and connection of the PEHs in the array to power the 2 stages interface which includes a NVC-PSSHI and a Battery Management (BM) circuits.





Figure 6-1 The schematic of a two-stage energy harvester interface

C' '41 1	Frequency	Input Voltage		Efficiency
Circuit Used	(Hz)	(Vpp)	Output Power	(%)
FB ¹ + DC-DC Converter	60	40 to 140	Up to 50 mW	70%
FB	60	42 to 134	0.6 to 1.6 mW	20 to 90%
FB + DC-DC Converter	60	42 to 134	5 to 30 mW	75 to 85%
VD + DC-DC Converter	250	10 to 40	Up to 3.5 mW	60%
SECE	250	4.2 to 9.8	Up to 130 μ W	60 to 75%
FB + Buck Converter	10 to 100	20	Up to 14 mW	55 to 68%
PSSHI + off-chip VR ²	82	1 to 12	Up to 2 mW	80% (externally powered) or 50% (self- powered)
Connection Switching + VR	82	1 to 12	Up to 600 µW	75% (externally powered) or 50% (self- powered)
SSHC ³	92	2 to 30	Up to 1.2 mW	N/A
FB	220	3	Up to 4.6 μ W	N/A
SECE	42	1 to 10	Up to 659 μ W	Up to 71.3%
NVC-PSSHI	100 to 500	3 to 7	Up to 300 μW	Up to 82.1%
SECE	390	1 to 10	Up to 78 μ W	Up to 84.4%
SECE	500	0.5 to 6	Up to 110 μW	Up to 90%
	Circuit Used FB ¹ + DC-DC Converter FB FB + DC-DC Converter VD + DC-DC Converter SECE FB + Buck Converter PSSHI + off-chip VR ² Connection Switching + VR SSHC ³ FB SECE NVC-PSSHI SECE SECE	Circuit UsedFrequency (Hz) $FB^1 + DC-DCConverter60FB60FB60FB + DC-DCConverter60VD + DC-DCConverter250SECE250FB + BuckConverter10 to 100PSSHI + off-chipVR^282ConnectionSwitching + VR82SSHC^392FB220SECE42NVC-PSSHI100 to 500SECE390SECE500$	Circuit UsedFrequency (Hz)Input Voltage (Vpp) $FB^1 + DC-DC$ Converter6040 to 140FB6042 to 134FB + DC-DC Converter6042 to 134VD + DC-DC Converter25010 to 40SECE2504.2 to 9.8FB + Buck Converter10 to 10020PSSHI + off-chip VR2821 to 12Connection Switching + VR821 to 12SSHC3922 to 30FB2203SECE421 to 10NVC-PSSHI100 to 5003 to 7SECE3901 to 10SECE5000.5 to 6	$\begin{array}{c cccc} Circuit Used & Frequency (Hz) & Input Voltage (Vpp) & Output Power \\ \hline (Hz) & (Vpp) & Output Power \\ \hline (Hz) & (Vpp) & Output Power \\ \hline (Vpp) & Output Power \\ \hline (Hz) & (Vpp) & Output Power \\ \hline (Vpp) & Output Power \\ \hline (Hz) & (Ito Output $

Table 6-1: Summary of energy harvester interface circuits

¹FB: Full Bridge rectifier, ²VR: Voltage Regulator, ³SSHC: Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Capacitors

6.3 Energy Harvester System Model

-

Prior to the experimental study, the following sections describe the analytical model of the PEH array, the NVC-PSSHI, battery management BM, the storage device and the load to provide the theory and to compare with the experimental results.

6.3.1 PEH Array Model

The PEH array structure is shown in Figure 6-2. It consists of $m \times n$ PEHs with m PEHs connected in series and n in parallel branches. In this paper, a maximum of 4 PEHs is considered as we only focus on the low power applications, connected in series or parallel. The theoretical reactance of each PEH in the array can be calculated as follows:

$$X_{C} = \frac{1}{\omega C} = \frac{1}{(2\pi f)C}$$
(6-1)

Where,

ω	= the vibration angular frequency
С	= the equivalent capacitance of the PEH
f	= the vibration frequency

The phasor form of the PEH voltage is given by:

$$\overline{V_i} = V_i | \underline{\phi_i} \tag{6-2}$$

Where,

$$V_i$$
 = the root mean square value of the ith PEH output voltage
 ϕ_i = the phase angle of the ith PEH output voltage

For *m* harvesters connected in series, the PEH array output voltage $\overline{V_{PEHS}}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$\overline{V_{PEHS}} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \overline{V_i}\right) \times \frac{R_L}{R_L - \sum_{i=1}^{m} j X_{Ci}} = V_{PEHS} | \phi_{PEHS} |$$
(6-3)

Where,

 R_L = the loading resistance connected to the PEH array ϕ_{PEHS} = the phase angle of the load voltage for series connection of harvesters The PEH array output power P_{PEHS} for series connection of harvesters can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{PEHS} = \frac{V_{PEHS}^2}{R_L} \tag{6-4}$$

For *n* harvesters connected in parallel, the equivalent impedance X_{CeqP} of the PEH array can be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{1}{X_{CeqP}} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{X_{Ck}}$$
(6-5)

The load voltage $\overline{V_{PEHP}}$ from *n* PEHs connected in parallel can be calculated as follows:

$$\overline{V_{PEHP}} = \overline{V_i} \times \frac{R_L}{R_L - jX_{CeqP}} = V_{PEHP} \left[\phi_{PEHP} \right]$$
(6-6)

Where,

$$\phi_{PEHP}$$
 = the phase angle of the load voltage for parallel connection of harvesters

The PEH array output power P_{PEHP} for parallel connection of PEHs can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{PEHP} = \frac{V_{PEHP}^2}{R_L} \tag{6-7}$$

For an $m \times n$ array, the equivalent impedance X_{CeqSP} of the PEH array can be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{1}{X_{CeqSP}} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{X_{Ck}} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} X_{Cik}\right)}$$
(6-8)

The load voltage $\overline{V_{PEHSP}}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$\overline{V_{PEHSP}} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \overline{V_i}\right) \times \frac{R_L}{R_L - jX_{CeqSP}} = V_{PEHSP} \left| \phi_{PEHSP} \right|$$
(6-9)

The output power from the $m \times n$ PEH array can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{PEHSP} = I_L^2 R_L = \left[\frac{V_{PEHSP}}{\sqrt{R_L^2 + X_{CeqSP}^2}} \right]^2 R_L$$
(6-10)

The output power delivered from a PEH array depends on the loading resistance. The output power from 1 to 4 PEHs connected in series or parallel is calculated analytically as shown in Figure 6-3. During the analytical, the equivalent capacitance of each PEH is 0.1 µF, and the resonant frequency of each PEH is 108 Hz. These values match to the specifications of the PEHs (PPA-1011, Midé Technology) which are used in the experiment study. The analytical results show the maximum output power of 1 PEH was 106.0 μ W at 14.7 k Ω . Furthermore, the theoretical maximum output power for 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in parallel with no phase and output voltage difference from each PEH are 212 μ W, 318 μ W and 423 μ W, at the loading resistances 7.5 k Ω , 5 k Ω , and 3.5 k Ω , respectively. Similarly, the maximum output powers for 2, 3 and 4 PEH connected in series were the same as the parallel connection except the loading resistances are different and at 29.5 k Ω , 44 k Ω , and 59 k Ω , respectively. In addition, the parallel circuit has narrower range of the loading resistance to deliver the higher power when comparing with the series connection array. Therefore, knowing the equivalent loading resistance/impedance of the interface circuit is important to design the PEH array optimally, so the number of PEHs and the connection of the PEHs in the array can be designed to deliver the maximum power.



Figure 6-2 The structure of the PEH array with n branches in parallel, each branch with m harvesters in series



Figure 6-3 The output power from 1 PEH, 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in series or parallel. The PEH voltage was kept at 5 Vpp, and the loading resistance was varied between 1 k Ω and 100 k Ω . "P" denotes parallel connection and "S" denotes series connection of the PEHs

6.3.2 NVC-PSSHI Circuit Model

In Chapter 4, the high efficiency NVC-PSSHI AC/DC conversion interface was developed and reported in [148]. The block diagram of the NVC-PSSHI is shown in Figure 6-4. The interface consists of a Parallel Synchronized Switch Harvesting on Inductor (PSSHI) circuit, Negative Voltage Converter (NVC) circuit and a triggering circuit. The NVC circuit has the same configuration as an FB but built with 4 MOSFET switches. The input AC signal is fully rectified but with lower losses. The PSSHI circuit increases the output power from the interface by flipping the voltage across the PEH for a very short time using an active switch. The triggering circuit. The maximum efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI connects with a single PEH reached 82.1% [148] at 15 k Ω loading. A more detailed description and explanation of the high efficiency NVC-PSSHI interface was reported in [148].

NVC-PSSHI Interface



Figure 6-4 The NVC-PSSHI circuit block diagram

6.3.3 Battery Management (BM) Circuit Model

The output from the NVC-PSSHI is input into battery management (BM) circuit to charge an energy storage device to ensure consistent energy can be provided to the loading circuit, as seen in Figure 6-1. The battery management integrated circuit (IC) BQ25505 (Texas Instruments Inc, USA) is selected because of its low quiescent supply current and designing for low power applications. Figure 6-5

shows the schematic diagram of the BM circuit. The resistors R_1 and R_2 were used to determine the charging voltage which was chosen to be 4.2 V. The inductance L_{BM} is used to boost the input voltage so that this IC is able to operate even when the input voltage is as low as 0.3 V.



Figure 6-5 The schematic diagram of the Battery Management (BM) circuit

6.3.4 Energy Storage and Load Model

An energy storage device is used to store the harvested energy and at the same time connect to a load resistance R_{load} for validate the efficiency of the entire circuit. A 1 mF super capacitor is selected to emulate the Lithium Polymer battery (LiPo). The energy storage and DC load models are shown in Figure 6-6. The super capacitor is modeled as a capacitance $C_{Storage}$. Since the internal resistance of a super capacitor is always small, the equivalent internal resistance is ignored for simplicity of the model development. The charging current to the super capacitor $I_{Charging}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$I_{Charging} = C_{Storage} \frac{dV_{load}}{dt}$$
(6-11)

The load current I_{load} can be calculated as follows:

$$I_{load} = \frac{V_{load}}{R_{load}}$$
(6-12)

The input current to the storage device and the loading resistance $I_{Storage}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$I_{Storage} = I_{Charging} + I_{load}$$
(6-13)

When the capacitor is fully charged, the V_{load} is the load voltage and constant. The output power can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{load} = \frac{V_{load}^2}{R_L} \tag{6-14}$$



Figure 6-6 The energy storage and load model

6.4 Experimental Setup

Figure 6-7 shows the experimental setup for the NVC-PSSHI BM interface. A function generator (Agilent 33220A, Agilent) is used to generate the sinewave waveform with the desired oscillating frequency and amplitude. A custom-made amplifier is used to amplify the generated sinewave signal from the function generator and input into the shaker. A vibration shaker (B&K 4809, Brüel & Kjær) is utilized to vibrate the 4 PEHs (PPA-1011, Midé Technology) which are mounted in 90° apart, as shown in Figure 6-8. An oscilloscope (DSO-X 2004A, Agilent) is used to collect the voltages V_1 , V_2 and the load voltage V_{load} from the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit. Two multimeters (Agilent 34401A, Agilent) are used to collect the input voltage and current to the BM circuit, V_3 an I_2 , respectively. An accelerometer (WT901BLECL 5.0, WitMotion) is used to record the vibration acceleration. Table 6-2 shows the different experimental cases which

are used to investigate the efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface and optimize the PEH array connected to it. During experiments, the number of PEHs which is used to supply power to the NVC-PSSHI BM interface are varied between 1 and 4, connected in series or parallel to investigate the optimum PEH array configuration. The loading resistance for the designed electrical interface is selected in the range of 50 - 200 k Ω to fulfill the low power range of μ W. Four values such as 50 k Ω , 100 k Ω , 150 k Ω and 200 k Ω , are used in this study. The peak-to-peak input voltage to the NVC-PSSHI BM interface is set at 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp, meeting the low input voltage range reported in [148]. The voltages and currents (V_1 , V_2 , V_3 , V_{load} and I_2 from Figure 6-7) are measured from the oscilloscope and multimeters, which are recorded after the super capacitor is fully charged. Each study condition which is shown in Table 6-2 is recorded 5 times. In addition, the validation of NVC-PSSHI interface with the BM circuit through charging a 1 mF super capacitor and a 40 mAh LiPo battery is presented. For the LiPo battery charging experiment, the battery voltage as well as the charging current are sampled every 30 minutes using LabView software, where 10 samples are averaged for each.

Since the 4 PEHs used in the experiments do not output the same voltage while they are under the same vibration conditions, the correlation of the vibration with the output voltage of each PEH is studied and the results are shown in Figure 6-9. Among the 4 PEHs, the magnitude of each PEH output voltage is in the descending magnitude from PEH 2, PEH 3, PEH 4 and PEH 1, which is the same order of adding PEHs to the experiments. For example, the experiment value of the 3 Vpp means that the PEH 2 voltage is 3 Vpp at the open circuit; the rest of the PEH voltages are lower than that. Therefore, the equivalent output voltage from the PEH array will be lower than 3 Vpp. To calculate the input and output powers of both NVC-PSSHI and BM circuits and also to calculate the efficiencies for each stage and the overall, the voltages and currents (V_1 , V_2 , V_3 , V_{load} and I_2) are recorded.

The input current to the NVC-PSSHI circuit I_{1rms} can be calculated as follows:

$$I_{1rms} = RMS \left[\frac{V_1 - V_2}{R_{load}} \right]$$
(6-15)

Where,

 V_1 and V_2 = the voltage across the series resistance R_{series} whose waveforms are collected from the oscilloscope

The current sensing series resistance (R_{series}) used is 2 k Ω . The input power P_1 to the NVC-PSSHI circuit can be calculated as follows:

$$P_1 = Average[V_{2rms} \times I_{1rms}]$$
(6-16)

Where,

$$V_{2rms}$$
 = the root mean square (RMS) value for the voltage V_2

The input power P_2 to the BM circuit can be calculated as follows:

$$P_2 = Average[V_3 \times I_2] \tag{6-17}$$

Where,

$$V_3$$
 = the voltage reading collected from the multimeters
 I_2 = the current reading collected from the multimeters

The load power P_{load} can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{load} = Average\left[\frac{\left(V_{load}\right)^2}{R_{load}}\right]$$
(6-18)

Where,

 V_{load} = the voltage across the load resistance R_{load} whose waveforms are collected from the oscilloscope

The power losses $P_{losses_NVC-PSSHI}$ in the NVC-PSSHI circuit can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{losses_NVC-PSSHI} = P_1 - P_2 \tag{6-19}$$

The power losses $P_{losses BM}$ in the BM circuit can be calculated as follows:

$$P_{losses_BM} = P_2 - P_{load} \tag{6-20}$$

The efficiency $\eta_{NVC-PSSHI}$ of the NVC-PSSHI circuit can be calculated as follows:

$$\eta_{NVC-PSSHI} = 100 \times \frac{P_2}{P_1} \tag{6-21}$$

The efficiency η_{BM} of the BM circuit can be calculated as follows:

$$\eta_{BM} = 100 \times \frac{P_{load}}{P_2} \tag{6-22}$$

The overall efficiency $\eta_{Overall}$ can be calculated as follows:

$$\eta_{Overall} = 100 \times \frac{P_{load}}{P_1} = \eta_{NVC-PSSHI} \times \eta_{BM}$$
(6-23)



Figure 6-7 The connection diagram of the experimental circuit including the function generator, amplifier, vibration shaker, NVC-PSSHI and BM interface circuits, storage device and the loading resistance



Figure 6-8 The connection of the PEHs on the vibration shaker



Figure 6-9 The output voltage from all PEHs 1, 2, 3 and 4 against the vibration acceleration g

Case	Number of	Connection	D	Output Voltage	Number of
	PEHs	of PEHs	Rload	from PEH	Studies
1	1, 2, 3 and 4	Series	100 kΩ	3 Vpp, 5 Vpp and 7 Vpp	12
2	2, 3 and 4	Parallel	50 k Ω to 200 k Ω	5 Vpp	12
3	2 and 4	Parallel	100 kΩ and 200 kΩ	3 Vpp, 5 Vpp and 7 Vpp	12

Table 6-2: Experimental Case Studies

6.5 Experimental Results

The series connection of 1, 2, 3 and 4 PEHs is first investigated for the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit (Case 1 in Table 6-2). Table 6-3 summarizes the output power and efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface for, up to 4 PEHs connected in series, when the PEH 2 voltage (reference PEH) is either 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp, at a loading resistance of 100 k Ω . For the 3 Vpp case, the NVC-PSSHI BM circuit does not operate. It should be noted that the NVC-PSSHI interface was tested before with a single PEH at 3 Vpp and operated with an efficiency of about 80% [148]. However, in this work, the loading of the NVC-PSSHI interface is the summation of the BM circuit and the loading resistance R_L . The loading resistance described in Section II-A is the total equivalent loading connected to the PEH array which is calculated in parallel from the resistance of the NVC-PSSHI, the BM, and the loading resistance R_{load} plus the R_{series} . From Table 6-3, it is shown that the NVC-PSSHI BM interface operates with 1 PEH at 7 Vpp, outputting 51.9 μ W at 72.3% efficiency. The output power only increases from 51.9 µW for 1 PEH to 54.3 µW for 4 PEHs (5.8% increase), for the 7 Vpp case. The efficiency is higher when the input voltage is increased. The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI is plotted in Figure 6-10. It is shown that increasing the number of PEHs from 2 to 4, the overall efficiency increases from minimum 68.9% to maximum 75.8%. Especially, the 3 PEHs and the 4 PEHs cases with PEH 2 voltage of 7 Vpp, the efficiency is at the maximum.

Number of PEHs	R_{load} (k Ω)	Output Voltage from the PEH Array (Vpp)	$I_{load}(\mu A)$	$P_{load}(\mu W)$	$\eta_{Overall}$
		3	-	-	-
1	100	5	-	-	-
		7	22.8	51.9 ± 0.8	$72.3\%\pm1.0\%$
		5.6	-	-	-
2	100	9.6	18.4	33.9 ± 0.1	$68.9\%\pm0.4\%$
		13.5	23.1	53.3 ± 1.0	$72.7\%\pm1.4\%$
		8	-	-	-
3	100	13.6	18.7	34.9 ± 0.9	$70.5\%\pm2.1\%$
		19.1	23.5	55.4 ± 1.4	$75.8\%\pm2.0\%$
4		10	-	-	-
	100	17	18.7	34.9 ± 1.5	$71.6\%\pm2.9\%$
		24.1	23.1	54.3 ± 1.1	$75.7\%\pm1.9\%$

Table 6-3: The output power and efficiency from the NVC-PSSHI BM interface for 1, 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in series at a loading resistance of 100 k Ω

△ PEH 2 - 5 Vpp □ PEH 2 - 7 Vpp



Figure 6-10 The overall efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit, when powered by 1, 2, 3 or 4 PEHs connected in series with an open circuit voltage of 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp, for 100 k Ω loading
Table 6-4 summarizes the output power and efficiency against the variation of the loading resistance for 1, 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in parallel (Case 2 in Table 6-2). The PEH 2 open circuit voltage is 5 Vpp, and the loading resistance range was between 50 k Ω and 200 k Ω . As shown in the table, when the loading resistance is 50 k Ω , only the 4 PEHs array provides power to the loading resistance R_{load} . The output power is 73.6 μ W, and the overall efficiency was 70%. Similar to the series cases, the output power from the 4 PEHs is always higher than the 2 or 3 PEHs cases. The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface for the same conditions is plotted in Figure 6-11. The overall efficiency between 100 $k\Omega$ and 200 $k\Omega$ is between 73.9% and 76.4% for all parallel PEHs studied cases. At 100 k Ω , the maximum overall efficiency is 76.4% for the 4 PEHs case, while for the 200 k Ω loading, the maximum overall efficiency is 75.9% for 2 PEHs case. For 2 PEHs connected in series and parallel, with 5 Vpp PEH 2 voltage and 100 k Ω loading resistance, the output power is 33.9 μ W and 60.1 μ W, respectively. Considering the results from Table 6-3 and Table 6-4, for the 100 k Ω loading resistance, it is shown that the output power and efficiency are always higher for the parallel connected PEHs than the series connected. From these results, it can be expected that the overall equivalent circuit impedance (NVC-PSSHI, BM, and loading resistance) is around the 10 k Ω as seen in Figure 6-3. In this loading resistance range, increasing the number of PEHs in parallel increases the output power, which is not the case for the series connected PEHs.

Number of PEHs	R_{load} (k Ω)	Output Voltage from the PEH Array (Vpp)	$I_{load}(\mu A)$	$P_{load}(\mu W)$	$\eta_{Overall}$
2		4.8	-	-	-
3	50	4.5	-	-	-
4		4.1	38.7	73.6 ± 0.2	$70.0\%\pm0.2\%$
2		4.8	24.5	60.1 ± 0.2	$73.9\%\pm0.4\%$
3	100	4.5	25.6	65.6 ± 1.0	$75.4\%\pm1.2\%$
4		4.1	28.5	81.1 ± 1.3	$76.4\%\pm1.2\%$
2		4.8	19.8	58.6 ± 1.3	$75.6\% \pm 1.7\%$
3	150	4.5	21.3	67.9 ± 0.44	$74.3\%\pm0.6\%$
4		4.1	23	78.7 ± 0.3	$74.3\%\pm0.5\%$
2		4.8	17.1	58.7 ± 1.0	$75.9\%\pm1.3\%$
3	200	4.5	18.4	67.9 ± 0.3	$74.4\%\pm0.4\%$
4		4.1	19	79.2 ± 0.6	$74.5\%\pm0.8\%$

Table 6-4: The output power and efficiency from the NVC-PSSHI BM for 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in parallel at 5 Vpp, at loading resistances of 50, 100, 150

and 200 $k\Omega$

```
▲ 2P ■ 3P ● 4P
```



Figure 6-11 The overall efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit, when powered by 2, 3 or 4 PEHs connected in parallel with the PEH 2 voltage of 5 Vpp, for loading between 50 and 200 k Ω

The results for the Table 6-2 case 3 are to investigate the effect of varying the PEH array voltage with different loading resistances. Figure 6-12 and Figure 6-13 show the output power and overall efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface when 2 or 4 PEHs (2P or 4P) connected in parallel and the voltage of the PEH 2 varied at 3 Vpp, 5Vpp and 7 Vpp, respectively. At 3 Vpp and the 4P case, the NVC-PSSHI BM interface operates only when the loading resistance is 200 k Ω , having an output power of 21.3 µW with an overall efficiency of 74.6%. The rate of increase of the output power with the increase of the PEH voltage is higher for the 4P case (29.3 μ W/Vpp) compared to the 2P case (14.3 μ W/Vpp). For the 4P 200 k Ω case, increasing the PEH 2 voltage from 5 Vpp to 7 Vpp, it increases the output power from 79.2 μ W to 87.2 μ W. The overall efficiency is reduced from 74.8% to 50.0%. For the 200 k Ω loading resistance, increasing the PEH voltage from 5 Vpp to 7 Vpp for the 2P and 4P cases, the overall efficiency is reduced to 69.8% and 50.0%, respectively. For all the studied cases, the maximum overall efficiency is 77% for 3 PEHs connected in parallel, 7 Vpp case and with a loading resistance of 100 k Ω .

Figure 6-14 validates the entire circuits that can charge a super capacitor 1 mF with initial voltage at 0.6 V to 4.2 V in 400 seconds, or about 7 minutes. Three PEHs were connected in parallel while the output voltage of the PEH 2 was 7 Vpp.

Lastly, the LiPo voltage and charging current are monitored and plotted against the number of days as shown in Figure 6-15 and Figure 6-16, respectively. In this experiment, 3 PEHs are connected in parallel with each PEH voltage at 7 Vpp. It is shown that the battery was charged from 3.84 V to 4.08 V in 14 days, at a charging current of about 50 μ A.



Figure 6-12 The output power from the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit, when powered by 2 or 4 PEHs connected in parallel at loading resistances of 100 k Ω or 200 k Ω , for input voltage range between 3 and 7 Vpp



Figure 6-13 The overall efficiency from the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit, when powered by 2 or 4 PEHs connected in parallel at loading resistances of 100 $k\Omega$ or 200 $k\Omega$, for input voltage range between 3 and 7 Vpp



Figure 6-14 The load voltage waveform captured from the oscilloscope for charging the 1 mF super capacitor, at no load



Figure 6-15 The LiPo battery voltage charging against the number of days



Figure 6-16 The LiPo battery charging current against the number of days

6.6 Discussion

The series connection of 2, 3 and 4 PEHS does not increase the output voltage from the PEH array linearly, as seen in Table 6-3. This can be attributed to the voltage and phase angle mismatch between the generated voltages from each PEH for the array. As shown in Figure 6-9, the output voltages from PEH 1 to 4 are different even at the same applied acceleration condition. Also, it is expected that there are phase differences on these 4 PEHs. The authors in [23] demonstrated an array of 2 PEHs in a noisy excitation environment and showed that the generated voltage from both PEHs were different by 20% to 30% and the voltage waveforms are out of phase, about 180°. The same happens for the parallel connected PEHs in Table 6-4, as the PEH array voltage is reduced when adding more PEHs in parallel. More studies should be dedicated to maximizing the output voltage/power from an array of PEHs considering the voltage and phase angle mismatches. For our experiments, a more adjustable design of the PEH mount on the vibration shaker is recommended so that the PEH output.

From Table 6-3, it is shown that increasing the number of PEHs from 1 to 4 in series, for the 7 Vpp cases, only increases the output power from 51.9 μ W to 54.3 μ W, respectively. Referring to the output power from the PEH array graph in Figure 6-3, the maximum power from 2, 3 and 4 PEHs connected in series occurs at 29.5 k Ω , 44 k Ω , and 59 k Ω , respectively. For the lower loading resistance ranges (10 k Ω or less), increasing the number of PEHs in series does not boost the output power, unlike the parallel connected PEHs. These results suggest that the equivalent impedance/resistance of the NVC-PSSHI, BM and loading resistance is in the lower range of the equivalent loading resistances.

From Figure 6-12 and Figure 6-13, for the 4P 200 k Ω case, the output power increases from 79.2 μ W at 5 Vpp to 87.2 μ W at 7 Vpp and the overall efficiency decreases from 74.8% to 50.0%. The reason is that, at 5 Vpp, the voltage across the super capacitor is 4.0 V, or almost fully charged, and increasing the input voltage to 7 Vpp boosts the capacitor voltage to 4.2 V at a much lower efficiency (50.0%). Therefore, there is a trade-off between the input voltage from the PEH array and loading resistance to maximize the NVC-PSSHI BM interface efficiency.

To have a closer look at the NVC-PSSHI BM interface, the breakdown of the power losses for the NVC-PSSHI and the BM circuits, in addition to the output power from the NVC-PSSHI BM interface is shown in Figure 6-17. The PEH voltage is set to 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp, the loading resistance is 200 k Ω and 4 PEHs are connected in parallel in the array. For lower input voltages (5 Vpp and 7 Vpp), the power losses in the NVC-PSSHI circuit are lower than the BM by 39.5% at 3 Vpp and 32.9% for the 5 Vpp. For 7 Vpp case, the NVC-PSSHI circuit losses are higher compared to the BM by 8.6% (45.5 μ W for the NVC-PSSHI circuit vs 41.9 μ W for the BM circuit). Figure 6-18 shows the efficiencies of the NVC-PSSHI circuit, BM circuit and the overall efficiency for the same conditions. The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI circuit is higher than the BM for all input voltages. The maximum BM circuit efficiency reaches 82.5% at 3 Vpp.

From Figure 6-17 and Figure 6-18, increasing the voltage of the PEH 2 to 7 Vpp reduces the efficiency of both circuits, and therefore reduces the overall efficiency.



Figure 6-17 The power losses of the NVC-PSSHI circuit, the BM circuit and the output power of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface when the voltage of the PEH was 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp and when the loading resistance is 200 k Ω and 4 PEHs are connected in parallel



Figure 6-18 The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI circuit, the BM circuit and the overall efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface when the voltage of the PEH was 3 Vpp, 5 Vpp or 7 Vpp and when the loading resistance is 200 k Ω and 4 PEHs are connected in parallel

The high efficiency NVC-PSSHI interface (90.8%) has been built using discrete components and reported [148]. To further improve the overall efficiency, the efficiency of each circuit (NVC-PSSHI and BM) needs to be increased. The NVC-PSSHI circuit can be improved if the circuit is built with CMOS technologies in which the switches and diodes can be optimally designed to reduce the power loss. A different BM integrated circuit with higher efficiency may be sought. A comparison between the work done in this chapter with the state-of-the-art in the literature is provided in Table 6-5.

One of the possible applications of the designed NVC-PSSHI BM interface is to power a WSN as the one reported in [204] with a sleep current of 2.5 μ A and active mode current of 120 μ A.

Ref	[202]	[161]	[153]	This work
Year	2017	2015	2020	2020
Technology	0.35 µHV CMOS	0.25 μm CMOS	180 nm HV CMOS	Discrete
Circuit Used	Connection Switching + off- chip VR	Active Rectifier + DC-DC Converter	SA-SSH	NVC-PSSHI + BM
Circuit Dimensions	2.8 mm x 3.2mm	2 mm x 2mm	0.9 mm x 0.6 mm	5.8 cm x 3.5 cm (prototype)
Frequency	82 Hz	60 Hz	317 Hz	100 Hz
Harvester Capacitance	115 nF	225 nF	2 nF	0.025-0.4 μF
Inductance	N/A	330 µH	1000 μH	100 µH
Inductance series resistance	N/A	N/A	5.1 Ω	1.6 Ω
Input Voltage	1 to 12 Vpp	2.56 Vpp	2.2-5.9 Vpp	3-7 Vpp
Interface Input Power Range	Up to 800 μW	12-1100 μW	N/A	Up to 180 µW
Interface Output Power Range	Up to 600 μW	Up to 1500 μW	Up to 100 μW	Up to 140 μ W
Efficiency (%)	75% (externally powered) or 50% (self-powered)	10%-79%	N/A	77% max

Table 6-5: Comparison of the proposed work with the literature

6.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, the high efficiency AC/DC NVC-PSSHI interface, powered by an array of PEHs, is validated with a battery management (BM) circuit to charge a super capacitor to 4.2 V. The NVC-PSSHI BM interface was able to charge the 1 mF super capacitor from 0.6 V to 4.2 V in approximately 7 minutes and was also able to charge a 40 mAh LiPo battery from 3.8 V to 4.1 V in 14 days. An optimized array, consisting of 3 PEHs connected in parallel, provided a maximum NVC-PSSHI BM interface efficiency of 77% when 100 k Ω loading resistance is connected, and each PEH voltage is at 7 Vpp.

CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

7.1 Conclusions

In this thesis, a full piezoelectric energy harvesting system was analyzed and discussed, including the harvesters' stage, the electrical interface between the harvesters and the storage devices, and a full harvesting energy system recharging super capacitors or LiPo batteries.

A literature review of the most common small-scale energy harvesters was provided in Chapter 2, including the solar-based, thermal-based, RF-based and vibration-based harvesters. More details were provided for the piezoelectric, electromagnetic and electrostatic vibration-based harvesters. These different energy harvester technologies were compared. The different types of rechargeable batteries and capacitors were discussed, including NiCd, NiMH, Lead-Acid, Liion, LiPo, super capacitors and electrolytic capacitors.

A detailed up-to-date literature review of the passive, semi-passive and active electrical interfaces for piezoelectric energy harvesters was presented in Chapter 3. The technology of the circuit (discrete components or CMOS procedures), the input voltage and frequency ranges, output power and overall circuit efficiency were taken into consideration. It was concluded that it is desirable to build an interface circuit with discrete components for low input voltages up to 10 Vpp, with an efficiency of at least 80%.

A novel high-efficiency NVC-PSSHI AC/DC interface circuit for piezoelectric energy harvesters was introduced in Chapter 4. An analytical model for the NVC-PSSHI interface was derived, and the output power and efficiency were calculated. Simulations of the designed interface were provided using PSpice simulator software. The NVC-PSSHI interface analytical model was validated using a single PEH. From the PEH experiment, the maximum efficiency reached 82.1% when the loading resistance was 15 k Ω . Compared to the conventional PSSHI interface, the newly designed NVC-PSSHI interface efficiency outperformed the conventional PSSHI interface by up to 23.4%.

The analysis of an array of PEHs was presented in Chapter 5. The output power from an array of PEHs was calculated at different operating conditions including the mismatch between the generated PEH voltages (between 2 Vpp and 3.2 Vpp) and phase angles (between -60° and 60°), the number (between 1 and 4 PEHs) and connection (series or parallel) of the PEHs in the array, and finally the loading resistance connected to the array (between 1 k Ω to 100 k Ω). Experiments were conducted using 4 PEHs to validate the analytical model. The experimental results confirmed the analytical model with maximum deviation of 20%.

In Chapter 6, the designed NVC-PSSHI interface was validated with a battery management (BM) circuit to charge a super capacitor and a LiPo battery. Experiments with an optimized PEH array to maximize the efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface was conducted. The maximum efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI BM interface reached 77% at a loading resistance of 100 k Ω and 3 PEHs were connected in parallel and each PEH output voltage was 7 Vpp.

7.2 Research Contributions

The contributions of this research can be summarized as follows:

 A comprehensive up-to-date literature review of the reported passive, semipassive and active electrical interfaces for piezoelectric energy harvesters, including detailed analysis of the output power, power losses and overall efficiency was accomplished. Comparisons between the reported discrete components and CMOS interfaces were provided and recommendations were drawn. Based on the literature review, insights and design recommendations for a high efficiency AC/DC converter were drawn.

- 2. A self-powered high-efficiency NVC-PSSHI interface for piezoelectric energy harvesters, reaching 90% efficiency for low input voltages, up to 7 Vpp and for low power applications, up to 500 μ W, was designed. The analytical model of the NVC-PSSHI was validated by simulation, experiment using a function generator and a single PEH experiment. The designed NVC-PSSHI interface efficiency was higher than the conventional PSSHI interface by up to 23.4%.
- 3. The analytical and simulation models developed in this thesis are useful tools which can be adapted for future PEH interface circuit design.
- 4. A comprehensive analytical model of an array of PEHs output power for variable operating conditions, including PEH voltage and phase angle mismatches, the number and connection of the PEHs in the array, and the loading resistance conditions was developed.
- 5. The phase angle and voltage magnitude conditions of one mismatched PEH in an array, causing the lower number of PEHs output higher power, were derived, and validated experimentally.
- 6. The NVC-PSSHI high efficiency interface with a battery management (BM) circuit powered by an optimized array of PEHs was able to recharge a super capacitor and a LiPo battery. The two-stage NVC-PSSHI BM interface reached a maximum efficiency of 77% at a loading resistance of 100 k Ω .

7.3 Limitations of this Research

The limitations of this research can be summarized in the following:

- 1. In the analytical model of the designed NVC-PSSHI interface, the power losses in the triggering circuit was not included. In addition, the on resistance and the body diode losses were not considered.
- The minimum number of oscillation cycle for the designed NVC-PSSHI BM interface to store the harvested energy into a storage element has not been determined.

 In Chapter 5:, the variation of the phase angle of the PEHs in the array cannot be investigated since there is only one vibration shaker available for experiments.

7.4 Future Work and Recommendations

Since the available power from the ambient vibration energy is relatively low (in the range of micro- and milli-watts), further improvements of the electrical interface performance are always recommended. The maximum efficiency for the NVC-PSSHI BM interface circuit reached 77%. To improve the overall efficiency, the NVC-PSSHI interface and the BM interface should be more efficient. Here are few recommendations to improve the work done in this thesis:

- An inductance with lower equivalent series resistance and diodes with lower threshold voltages can further increase the NVC-PSSHI efficiency. As seen from [148], the PSSHI circuit losses (or the inductor branch) can contribute to about 75% of the power losses in the NVC-PSSHI interface at 7 Vpp. At lower input voltages (3 Vpp), the NVC circuit losses were higher. The losses in the NVC circuit can be reduced by selecting lower turn-on voltage MOSFETs with lower equivalent resistance. Lower turn-on voltage of the MOSFETs, along with the reduction of the threshold voltage of diodes would help the NVC-PSSHI interface operate at lower input voltages, or lower than 3 Vpp.
- A higher efficiency battery management (BM) circuit for the input voltage range 1 to 3 V is needed to increase the overall system efficiency. As seen in Chapter 6, the maximum BM efficiency reached only 82.5% while it reached 90.8% for the NVC-PSSHI interface.
- 3. The efficiency of the NVC-PSSHI interface circuit can be improved by adopting CMOS fabrication technologies. Using the CMOS technologies, the MOSFET switches, the comparator and diodes dimensions can be optimized to reduce the power losses in these components.

- 4. The whole NVC-PSSHI BM interface will be tested to power a wireless sensor node (WSN) for practical applications.
- 5. The NVC-PSSHI interface will be tested against non-periodic vibration to investigate the circuit efficiency and to determine the minimum number of vibration cycles to operate the circuit.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. Jeong, M. Shim, J. Maeng, I. Park, and C. Kim, "An Efficiency-Aware Cooperative Multi-Charger System for Photovoltaic Energy Harvesting Achieving 14% Efficiency Improvement," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, pp. 2253–2256, Sep. 2019.
- [2] K. Kaushik, D. Mishra, and S. De, "Stochastic solar harvesting characterisation for sustainable sensor node operation," *IET Wirel. Sens. Syst.*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 208–217, Aug. 2019.
- [3] M. Coustans, F. Krummenacher, and M. Kayal, "A Fully Integrated 60 mV Cold-Start Circuit for Single Coil DC-DC Boost Converter for Thermoelectric Energy Harvesting," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Express Briefs*, vol. 66, no. 10, pp. 1668–1672, Oct. 2019.
- [4] J. Yan, X. Liao, S. Ji, and S. Zhang, "A Novel Multi-Source Micro Power Generator for Harvesting Thermal and Optical Energy," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 349–352, Feb. 2019.
- [5] Z. Zeng, J. J. Estrada-Lopez, M. A. Abouzied, and E. Sanchez-Sinencio, "A Reconfigurable Rectifier with Optimal Loading Point Determination for RF Energy Harvesting from -22 dBm to -2 dBm," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Express Briefs*, pp. 87–91, Feb. 2019.
- [6] S. Solanki, V. Singh, and P. K. Upadhyay, "RF Energy Harvesting in Hybrid Two-Way Relaying Systems with Hardware Impairments," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, pp. 11792–11805, Sep. 2019.
- [7] H. Deng, Z. Wang, Y. Du, J. Zhang, M. Ma, and X. Zhong, "A Compact and flexible nonbeam-Type vibrational energy harvesting device with

bistable characteristics," *IEEE/ASME Trans. Mechatronics*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 282–292, Feb. 2019.

- [8] O. Yasar, H. Ulusan, O. Zorlu, O. Sardan-Sukas, and H. Kulah, "Optimization of AA-Battery Sized Electromagnetic Energy Harvesters: Reducing the Resonance Frequency Using a Non-Magnetic Inertial Mass," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 4509–4516, Jun. 2018.
- [9] H. Ghoddus and Z. Kordrostami, "Harvesting the Ultimate Electrical Power From MEMS Piezoelectric Vibration Energy Harvesters: An Optimization Approach," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 18, no. 21, pp. 8667–8675, Nov. 2018.
- [10] M. Krishnasamy and T. R. Lenka, "Analytical model with two degree of freedom of piezo-magneto-elastic energy harvester for low-frequency wide bandwidth applications," *Micro Nano Lett.*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 857–861, Jun. 2018.
- [11] B.-C. Lee and G.-S. Chung, "Design and analysis of a pendulum-based electromagnetic energy harvester using anti-phase motion," *IET Renew. Power Gener.*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 1625–1630, Nov. 2016.
- [12] S.-W. Wang, Y.-W. Ke, P.-C. Huang, and P.-H. Hsieh, "Electromagnetic Energy Harvester Interface Design for Wearable Applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Express Briefs*, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 667–671, May 2018.
- [13] A. Karami, Di. Galayko, and P. Basset, "A Novel Characterization Method for Accurate Lumped Parameter Modeling of Electret Electrostatic Vibration Energy Harvesters," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 665–668, 2017.
- [14] Y. Li, M. Misra, and S. Gregori, "Comparison of conventional and

regenerative electrostatic energy harvesters," *IET Circuits, Devices Syst.*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 638–647, Nov. 2017.

- [15] G. K. Ottman, H. F. Hofmann, and G. A. Lesieutre, "Optimized piezoelectric energy harvesting circuit using step-down converter in discontinuous conduction mode," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 696–703, 2003.
- [16] Zheng Jun Chew and Meiling Zhu, "Low power adaptive power management with energy aware interface for wireless sensor nodes powered using piezoelectric energy harvesting," in 2015 IEEE SENSORS, 2015, pp. 1–4.
- [17] H. Yu, J. Zhou, L. Deng, and Z. Wen, "A Vibration-Based MEMS Piezoelectric Energy Harvester and Power Conditioning Circuit," *Sensors*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 3323–3341, 2014.
- [18] S. Chamanian, B. Ciftci, H. Ulusan, A. Muhtaroglu, and H. Kulah, "Power-Efficient Hybrid Energy Harvesting System for Harnessing Ambient Vibrations," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 66, no. 7, pp. 2784–2793, Jul. 2019.
- [19] S. Chamanian, H. Ulusan, A. Koyuncuoglu, A. Muhtaroglu, and H. Kulah, "An Adaptable Interface Circuit with Multistage Energy Extraction for Low Power Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting MEMS," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 2739–2747, 2019.
- [20] S. Du, Y. Jia, C. D. Do, and A. A. Seshia, "An Efficient SSHI Interface with Increased Input Range for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting under Variable Conditions," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 2729–2742, Nov. 2016.
- [21] W. Wang, T. Yang, X. Chen, and X. Yao, "Vibration energy harvesting

using piezoelectric circular diaphragm array," *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control*, vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 2022–2026, 2012.

- [22] X. Wang *et al.*, "A frequency and bandwidth tunable piezoelectric vibration energy harvester using multiple nonlinear techniques," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 190, pp. 368–375, 2017.
- [23] S. Du, Y. Jia, E. Arroyo, and A. A. Seshia, "Rectified Output Power Analysis of Piezoelectric Energy Harvester Arrays under Noisy Excitation," in *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 2018, pp. 1–5.
- [24] M. Wolf, "Limitations and Possibilities for Improvement of Photovoltaic Solar Energy Converters," in *Proceedings of IRE*, 1960.
- [25] G. Saini and M. S. Baghini, "A Generic Power Management Circuit for Energy Harvesters With Shared Components Between the MPPT and Regulator," *IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. Syst.*, pp. 1–14, 2019.
- [26] B. Pozo, J. I. Garate, J. Á. Araujo, and S. Ferreiro, "Energy harvesting technologies and equivalent electronic structural models - review," *Electron.*, vol. 8, no. 5, May 2019.
- [27] A. Izadian, A. Pourtaherian, and S. Motahari, "Basic model and governing equation of solar cells used in power and control applications," in 2012 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2012, pp. 1483–1488.
- [28] Xin Lu and Shuang-Hua Yang, "Thermal energy harvesting for WSNs," in 2010 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics, 2010, pp. 3045–3052.
- [29] L. Hou and S. Tan, "A preliminary study of thermal energy harvesting for industrial wireless sensor networks," in 2016 10th International Conference on Sensing Technology (ICST), 2016, pp. 1–5.

- [30] C. Bobean and V. Pavel, "The study and modeling of a thermoelectric generator module," in 2013 - 8th International Symposium on Advanced Topics in Electrical Engineering, ATEE 2013, 2013.
- [31] M. Y. Shtern, "Current trends in improving the efficiency of thermoelectric generators," in *Proceedings of the 2019 IEEE Conference of Russian Young Researchers in Electrical and Electronic Engineering, ElConRus* 2019, 2019, pp. 1914–1919.
- [32] H. Jabbar, Y. Song, and T. Jeong, "RF energy harvesting system and circuits for charging of mobile devices," *IEEE Trans. Consum. Electron.*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 247–253, Feb. 2010.
- [33] H. T. Friis, "A Note on a Simple Transmission Formula," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 254–256, 1946.
- [34] S. Kim *et al.*, "Ambient RF Energy-Harvesting Technologies for Self-Sustainable Standalone Wireless Sensor Platforms," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 102, no. 11, pp. 1649–1666, Nov. 2014.
- [35] R. Edwards and C. Gould, "Review on micro-energy harvesting technologies," in *Proceedings - 2016 51st International Universities Power Engineering Conference, UPEC 2016*, 2016, vol. 2017-January, pp. 1–5.
- [36] P. D. Mitcheson and T. C. Green, "Maximum effectiveness of electrostatic energy harvesters when coupled to interface circuits," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 59, no. 12, pp. 3098–3111, 2012.
- [37] S. J. Roundy, "Energy Scavenging for Wireless Sensor Nodes with a Focus on Vibration to Electricity Conversion," The University of California, Berkeley, 2003.
- [38] D. Kwon, G. a. Rincón-Mora, and E. O. Torres, "Harvesting Ambient Kinetic Energy With Switched-Inductor Converters," *IEEE Trans. Circuits*

Syst. I Regul. Pap., vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 1551–1560, 2011.

- [39] T. Suzuki, S. Nagasawa, H. Okamoto, and H. Kuwano, "Novel vibrationdriven micro-electrostatic induction energy harvester with asymmetric multi-resonant spring," in *Proceedings of IEEE Sensors*, 2010.
- [40] F. Khan, F. Sassani, and B. Stoeber, "Nonlinear behaviour of membrane type electromagnetic energy harvester under harmonic and random vibrations," *Microsyst. Technol.*, 2014.
- [41] R. Reeves and J. F. C. Reeves, "E.M.F.s induced in coils by changes in the state of nearby magnetic materials," *Proc. Inst. Electr. Eng.*, vol. 118, no. 9, p. 1307, 1971.
- [42] C. R. Saha, T. O'Donnell, N. Wang, and P. McCloskey, "Electromagnetic generator for harvesting energy from human motion," *Sensors Actuators A Phys.*, vol. 147, no. 1, pp. 248–253, Sep. 2008.
- [43] E. Dallago, M. Marchesi, and G. Venchi, "Analytical Model of a Vibrating Electromagnetic Harvester Considering Nonlinear Effects," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 25, no. 8, pp. 1989–1997, Aug. 2010.
- [44] P.-H. Wang, X.-H. Dai, X.-L. Zhao, and L.-J. Niu, "Electromagnetic selfpowered low-level vibration energy scavenger with microelectroplated nickel resonator," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 45, no. 16, p. 832, 2009.
- [45] X. Cao, W.-J. Chiang, Y.-C. King, and Y.-K. Lee, "Electromagnetic Energy Harvesting Circuit With Feedforward and Feedback DC–DC PWM Boost Converter for Vibration Power Generator System," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 679–685, Mar. 2007.
- [46] A. Khaligh, Peng Zeng, and Cong Zheng, "Kinetic Energy Harvesting Using Piezoelectric and Electromagnetic Technologies—State of the Art," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 850–860, Mar. 2010.

- [47] C. Serre, A. Pérez-Rodríguez, N. Fondevilla, J. R. Morante, J. Montserrat, and J. Esteve, "Vibrational energy scavenging with Si technology electromagnetic inertial microgenerators," *Microsyst. Technol.*, vol. 13, no. 11–12, pp. 1655–1661, May 2007.
- [48] P. Mitcheson, A. Holmes, E. Yeatman, T. Green, and P. Miao, "Micro-Machined Variable Capacitors for Power Generation," 2004, pp. 53–58.
- [49] A. Daniels, M. Zhu, and A. Tiwari, "Evaluation of piezoelectric material properties for a higher power output from energy harvesters with insight into material selection using a coupled piezoelectric-circuit-finite element method," *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 2626–2633, Dec. 2013.
- [50] Dajing Chen, T. Sharma, Yuquan Chen, Xin Fu, and J. X. J. Zhang, "Gold nanoparticles doped flexible PVDF-TrFE energy harvester," in *The 8th Annual IEEE International Conference on Nano/Micro Engineered and Molecular Systems*, 2013, pp. 669–672.
- [51] E. Arroyo, Y. Jia, S. Du, S.-T. Chen, and A. A. Seshia, "Experimental and Theoretical Study of a Piezoelectric Vibration Energy Harvester Under High Temperature," *J. Microelectromechanical Syst.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 1216–1225, Dec. 2017.
- [52] M. Rezaeisaray, M. El Gowini, D. Sameoto, D. Raboud, and W. Moussa, "Low frequency piezoelectric energy harvesting at multi vibration mode shapes," *Sensors Actuators A Phys.*, vol. 228, pp. 104–111, Jun. 2015.
- [53] J. Lueke, M. Rezaei, and W. A. Moussa, "Investigation of folded spring structures for vibration-based piezoelectric energy harvesting," J. *Micromechanics Microengineering*, vol. 24, no. 12, p. 125011, 2014.
- [54] A. Badel, D. Guyomar, É. Lefeuvre, and C. Richard, "Piezoelectric Energy

Harvesting using a Synchronized Switch Technique," J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct., vol. 17, no. 8–9, pp. 831–839, 2006.

- [55] X. Tang, X. Wang, R. Cattley, F. Gu, and A. Ball, "Energy Harvesting Technologies for Achieving Self-Powered Wireless Sensor Networks in Machine Condition Monitoring: A Review," *Sensors*, vol. 18, no. 12, p. 4113, Nov. 2018.
- [56] P. M. Y. Fan, O. Y. Wong, M. J. Chung, T. Y. Su, X. Zhang, and P. H. Chen, "Energy harvesting techniques: Energy sources, power management and conversion," in 2015 European Conference on Circuit Theory and Design, ECCTD 2015, 2015.
- [57] B. Han *et al.*, "Harvesting energy from vibrations of the underlying structure," *J. Vib. Control*, vol. 19, no. 15, pp. 2255–2269, Nov. 2013.
- [58] S. Roundy and P. K. Wright, "A piezoelectric vibration based generator for wireless electronics," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 1131–1142, 2004.
- [59] B. R. Alamri and A. R. Alamri, "Technical review of energy storage technologies when integrated with intermittent renewable energy," in 2009 International Conference on Sustainable Power Generation and Supply, 2009, pp. 1–5.
- [60] P. Spanik, M. Frivaldsky, and A. Kanovsky, "Life time of the electrolytic capacitors in power applications," in *2014 ELEKTRO*, 2014, pp. 233–238.
- [61] J. Chen, W. Chen, J. Li, X. Zhang, and P. Sun, "Lifetime assessment of DC link electrolytic capacitor of wind power converter based on operational condition," in 2016 IEEE International Conference on High Voltage Engineering and Application (ICHVE), 2016, pp. 1–4.
- [62] M. J. Mnati, J. K. Abed, D. V. Bozalakov, and A. Van den Bossche,

"Analytical and calculation DC-link capacitor of a three-phase grid-tied photovoltaic inverter," in 2018 IEEE 12th International Conference on Compatibility, Power Electronics and Power Engineering (CPE-POWERENG 2018), 2018, pp. 1–6.

- [63] D. Zhou, H. Wang, and F. Blaabjerg, "Lifetime estimation of electrolytic capacitors in a fuel cell power converter at various confidence levels," in 2016 IEEE 2nd Annual Southern Power Electronics Conference (SPEC), 2016, pp. 1–6.
- [64] T. Starner, "Human-powered wearable computing," *IBM Syst. J.*, vol. 35, no. 3.4, pp. 618–629, 1996.
- [65] M. Umeda, K. Nakamura, and S. Ueha, "Energy Storage Characteristics of a Piezo-Generator using Impact Induced Vibration," *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 36, no. Part 1, No. 5B, pp. 3146–3151, May 1997.
- [66] N. G. Elvin, A. a Elvin, and M. Spector, "A self-powered mechanical strain energy sensor," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 293–299, 2001.
- [67] N. S. Shenck and J. A. Paradiso, "Energy scavenging with shoe-mounted piezoelectrics," *IEEE Micro*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 30–42, 2001.
- [68] D. Newell and M. Duffy, "Review of Power Conversion and Energy Management for Low-Power, Low-Voltage Energy Harvesting Powered Wireless Sensors," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, pp. 1–1, 2019.
- [69] F. Casciati, L. Faravelli, and R. Rossi, "Architecture optimization for wireless sensor networks," in *Proceedings of the SPIE, Volume 5765, p.* 253-258 (2005)., 2005, vol. 5765, pp. 253–258.
- [70] X. Jiang, J. Polastre, and D. Culler, "Perpetual environmentally powered sensor networks," in 2005 4th International Symposium on Information Processing in Sensor Networks, IPSN 2005, 2005, vol. 2005, pp. 463–468.

- [71] M. Hassanalieragh, T. Soyata, A. Nadeau, and G. Sharma, "UR-SolarCap: An Open Source Intelligent Auto-Wakeup Solar Energy Harvesting System for Supercapacitor-Based Energy Buffering," *IEEE Access*, vol. 4, pp. 542– 557, 2016.
- [72] A. B. da Cunha and D. C. da Silva, "Energy-efficient characterization of solar panel-supercapacitors systems for energy-harvesting aware wireless sensor nodes," in 2009 IEEE 20th International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, 2009, pp. 2275–2279.
- [73] Vijay L, Greeshma KK, and Murty NS, "Architecture for ASIC based batteryless multi-source energy harvesting system," in 2015 International Conference on VLSI Systems, Architecture, Technology and Applications (VLSI-SATA), 2015, pp. 1–6.
- [74] J. Porhonen, S. Rajala, S. Lehtimaki, and S. Tuukkanen, "Flexible Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting Circuit With Printable Supercapacitor and Diodes," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 3303–3308, Sep. 2014.
- [75] J. M. Miller, J. C. K. Yeung, Y. Q. Ma, and G. Sartorelli, "Ultracapacitors improve SWECS low wind speed energy recovery. Ultracapacitor and battery for low wind energy harvesting," in 2009 IEEE Power Electronics and Machines in Wind Applications, 2009, pp. 1–6.
- [76] M. Morris, "Comparison of Rechargeable Battery Technologies," ASME Early Career Tech. J., vol. 11, pp. 148–155, 2012.
- [77] G. K. Ottman, H. F. Hofmann, A. C. Bhatt, and G. a. Lesieutre, "Adaptive piezoelectric energy harvesting circuit for wireless remote power supply," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 669–676, 2002.
- [78] H. a. Sodano, D. J. Inman, and G. Park, "A Review of Power Harvesting

from Vibration Using Piezoelectric Materials," *Shock Vib. Dig.*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 1–24, 2004.

- [79] H. A. Sodano, "Generation and Storage of Electricity from Power Harvesting Devices," J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct., vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 67– 75, 2005.
- [80] M. J. Guan and W. H. Liao, "Characteristics of Energy Storage Devices in Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting Systems," J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct., vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 671–680, 2008.
- [81] "Secondary (Rechargeable) Batteries Battery University." [Online]. Available: https://batteryuniversity.com/learn/article/secondary_batteries. [Accessed: 05-Feb-2019].
- [82] V. Vaideeswaran, S. Bhuvanesh, and M. Devasena, "Battery Management Systems for Electric Vehicles using Lithium Ion Batteries," in 2019 Innovations in Power and Advanced Computing Technologies (i-PACT), 2019, pp. 1–9.
- [83] K. C. Divya and J. Østergaard, "Battery energy storage technology for power systems-An overview," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 79, no. 4. pp. 511–520, Apr-2009.
- [84] M. A. Hannan, M. M. Hoque, A. Hussain, Y. Yusof, and P. J. Ker, "Stateof-the-Art and Energy Management System of Lithium-Ion Batteries in Electric Vehicle Applications: Issues and Recommendations," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., pp. 19362–19378, 20-Mar-2018.
- [85] S. Sabihuddin, A. Kiprakis, M. Mueller, S. Sabihuddin, A. E. Kiprakis, and M. Mueller, "A Numerical and Graphical Review of Energy Storage Technologies," *Energies*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 172–216, Dec. 2014.

- [86] A. B. Gallo, J. R. Simões-Moreira, H. K. M. Costa, M. M. Santos, and E. Moutinho dos Santos, "Energy storage in the energy transition context: A technology review," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 65. Elsevier Ltd, pp. 800–822, 01-Nov-2016.
- [87] J. C. Beardsall, C. A. Gould, and M. Al-Tai, "Energy storage systems: A review of the technology and its application in power systems," in *Proceedings of the Universities Power Engineering Conference*, 2015, vol. 2015-November.
- [88] A. Montecucco and A. R. Knox, "Maximum power point tracking converter based on the open-circuit voltage method for thermoelectric generators," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 828–839, 2015.
- [89] S. Li, K. W. E. Cheng, J. Zhu, and Y. Zou, "Design and application of a decoupled rotarylinear switched reluctance motor for concentrated photovoltaic power generation," *IET Electr. Power Appl.*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 908–915, Aug. 2018.
- [90] L.-G. Tran, H.-K. Cha, and W.-T. Park, "RF power harvesting: a review on designing methodologies and applications," *Micro Nano Syst. Lett.*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 14, 2017.
- [91] Y. Kuang, T. Ruan, Z. J. Chew, and M. Zhu, "Energy harvesting during human walking to power a wireless sensor node," *Sensors Actuators, A Phys.*, vol. 254, pp. 69–77, 2017.
- [92] H. Shen *et al.*, "A low-power circuit for piezoelectric vibration control by synchronized switching on voltage sources," *Sensors Actuators, A Phys.*, vol. 161, pp. 245–255, 2010.
- [93] S. Yoon, J. K. Sim, and Y. H. Cho, "A Flexible Piezoelectric Pulsewave

Energy Harvester for Application to High-Efficiency Multi-Functional Skin Patches," *J. Microelectromechanical Syst.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 388–393, 2016.

- [94] H. C. Song *et al.*, "Ultra-Low Resonant Piezoelectric MEMS Energy Harvester With High Power Density," *J. Microelectromechanical Syst.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 1226–1234, 2017.
- [95] P. Li, Y. Wen, P. Liu, X. Li, and C. Jia, "A magnetoelectric energy harvester and management circuit for wireless sensor network," *Sensors Actuators, A Phys.*, vol. 157, pp. 100–106, 2010.
- [96] H. Uluşan, K. Gharehbaghi, O. Zorlu, A. Muhtaroğlu, and H. Külah, "A Fully Integrated and Battery-Free Interface for Low-Voltage Electromagnetic Energy Harvesters," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 3712–3719, 2015.
- [97] H. Uluşan, Ö. Zorlu, A. Muhtaroğlu, and H. Külah, "Highly Integrated 3 v Supply Electronics for Electromagnetic Energy Harvesters with Minimum 0.4 Vpeak Input," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 5460– 5467, 2017.
- [98] M. E. Kiziroglou, C. He, and E. M. Yeatman, "Flexible substrate electrostatic energy harvester," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 166–167, 2010.
- [99] A. Karami, D. Galayko, and P. Basset, "Series-Parallel Charge Pump Conditioning Circuits for Electrostatic Kinetic Energy Harvesting," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 227–240, 2017.
- [100] S. Nabavi and L. Zhang, "Frequency Tuning and Efficiency Improvement of Piezoelectric MEMS Vibration Energy Harvesters," J. Microelectromechanical Syst., pp. 1–11, 2018.

- [101] S. Saxena, R. Sharma, and B. D. Pant, "Fabrication and Sensitivity Analysis of Guided Beam Piezoelectric Energy Harvester," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 65, no. 11, pp. 5123–5129, Nov. 2018.
- [102] A. Abasian and A. Tabesh, "Characterization of Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters Using Frequency-Weighted Impedance Method," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 65, no. 10, pp. 7954–7962, Oct. 2018.
- [103] S. Du, G. A. J. Amaratunga, and A. A. Seshia, "A Cold-Startup SSHI Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters With Increased Open-Circuit Voltage," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 263–274, Jan. 2019.
- [104] C. Luo, Y. Wang, and P. Li, "Low-frequency vibration-based interdigital piezoelectric energy harvester and autonomous power regulating circuit," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 51, no. 23, pp. 1916–1918, Nov. 2015.
- [105] A. Tabesh and L. G. Fréchette, "A low-power stand-alone adaptive circuit for harvesting energy from a piezoelectric micropower generator," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 840–849, 2010.
- [106] K. Savarimuthu, R. Sankararajan, and S. Murugesan, "Analysis and design of power conditioning circuit for piezoelectric vibration energy harvester," *IET Sci. Meas. Technol.*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 723–730, Sep. 2017.
- [107] S. Raghavendran, M. Umapathy, and L. R. Karlmarx, "Supercapacitor charging from piezoelectric energy harvesters using multi-input buck–boost converter," *IET Circuits, Devices Syst.*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 746–752, Nov. 2018.
- [108] G. D. Szarka, B. H. Stark, and S. G. Burrow, "Review of power conditioning for kinetic energy harvesting systems," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 803–815, 2012.

- [109] X. Wang and L. Lin, "Dimensionless optimization of piezoelectric vibration energy harvesters with different interface circuits," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 22, no. 8, p. 085011, 2013.
- [110] P. C. P. Chao, "Energy harvesting electronics for vibratory devices in selfpowered sensors," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 3106–3121, 2011.
- [111] B. Li and J. H. You, "Experimental study on self-powered synchronized switch harvesting on inductor circuits for multiple piezoelectric plates in acoustic energy harvesting," *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.*, vol. 26, no. 13, pp. 1646–1655, 2015.
- [112] A. Nechibvute, A. Chawanda, P. Luhanga, and A. R. Akande, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting using synchronized switching techniques," *Int. J. Eng. Technol.*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 936–946, 2012.
- [113] M. Lallart and D. Guyomar, "Nonlinear energy harvesting," in *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 2011, vol. 18, no. SYMPOSIUM 6.
- [114] D. Guyomar and M. Lallart, "Recent Progress in Piezoelectric Conversion and Energy Harvesting Using Nonlinear Electronic Interfaces and Issues in Small Scale Implementation," *Micromachines*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 274–294, 2011.
- [115] M. Ferrari, V. Ferrari, D. Marioli, and A. Taroni, "Modeling, Fabrication and Performance Measurements of a Piezoelectric Energy Converter for Power Harvesting in Autonomous Microsystems," *IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas.*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 2096–2101, 2006.
- [116] J. Qiu, H. Jiang, H. Ji, and K. Zhu, "Comparison between four piezoelectric energy harvesting circuits," *Front. Mech. Eng. China*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 153–159, 2009.

- [117] D. P. Arnold, "Review of Microscale Magnetic Power Generation," *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, vol. 43, no. 11, pp. 3940–3951, Nov. 2007.
- [118] P. D. Mitcheson, E. M. Yeatman, G. K. Rao, A. S. Holmes, and T. C. Green, "Energy Harvesting From Human and Machine Motion for Wireless Electronic Devices," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 96, no. 9, pp. 1457–1486, Sep. 2008.
- [119] E. Lefeuvre, A. Badel, A. Benayad, L. Lebrun, C. Richard, and D. Guyomar, "A comparison between several approaches of piezoelectric energy harvesting," J. Phys. IV, vol. 128, pp. 177–186, Sep. 2005.
- [120] W. Q. Liu, Z. H. Feng, J. He, and R. B. Liu, "Maximum mechanical energy harvesting strategy for a piezoelement," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 2130–2136, 2007.
- [121] A. Badel, A. Benayad, É. Lefeuvre, L. Lebrun, C. Richard, and D. Guyomar, "Single crystals and nonlinear process for outstanding vibration-powered electrical generators," *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 673–683, 2006.
- [122] D. Guyomar, A. Badel, E. Lefeuvre, and C. Richard, "Toward energy harvesting using active materials and conversion improvement by nonlinear processing," *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 584–594, 2005.
- [123] N. Krihely and S. Ben-Yaakov, "Self-Contained Resonant Rectifier for Piezoelectric Sources Under Variable Mechanical Excitation," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 612–621, 2011.
- [124] H. Song, X. Huang, X. Jiang, and J. Wang, "The synchronized switch harvesting circuit on inductor based on piezoelectricity," in 2011 International Conference on Consumer Electronics, Communications and Networks, CECNet 2011, 2011, pp. 908–912.

- [125] S. Lu and F. Boussaid, "A highly efficient P-SSHI rectifier for piezoelectric energy harvesting," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 5364–5369, 2015.
- [126] E. Lefeuvre, A. Badel, C. Richard, L. Petit, and D. Guyomar, "A comparison between several vibration-powered piezoelectric generators for standalone systems," *Sensors Actuators A Phys.*, vol. 126, no. 2, pp. 405– 416, 2006.
- [127] M. Lallart and D. Guyomar, "An optimized self-powered switching circuit for non-linear energy harvesting with low voltage output," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 17, no. 3, p. 035030, 2008.
- [128] Y.-Y. Chen, D. Vasic, Y.-P. Liu, and F. Costa, "Study of a piezoelectric switching circuit for energy harvesting with bistable broadband technique by work-cycle analysis," *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 180–193, 2012.
- [129] I. C. Lien, Y. C. Shu, W. J. Wu, S. M. Shiu, and H. C. Lin, "Revisit of series-SSHI with comparisons to other interfacing circuits in piezoelectric energy harvesting," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 19, no. 12, p. 125009, 2010.
- [130] E. Lefeuvre, A. Badel, C. Richard, and D. Guyomar, "Energy harvesting using piezoelectric materials: Case of random vibrations," J. *Electroceramics*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 349–355, Dec. 2007.
- [131] L. Tang and Y. Yang, "Analysis of synchronized charge extraction for piezoelectric energy harvesting," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 20, no. 8, p. 085022, 2011.
- [132] E. Lefeuvre, A. Badel, and C. Richard, "OPTIMIZATION OF PIEZOELECTRIC ELECTRICAL GENERATORS POWERED BY RANDOM VIBRATIONS," arXiv Prepr. arXiv ..., no. April, pp. 26–28,

2007.

- [133] É. Lefeuvre, A. Badel, C. Richard, and D. Guyomar, "Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting Device Optimization by Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction," *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.*, vol. 16, no. 10, pp. 865–876, 2005.
- [134] Y. K. Tan, J. Y. Lee, and S. K. Panda, "Maximize Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting Using Synchronous Charge Extraction Technique for Powering Autonomous Wireless Transmitter," in 2008 IEEE International Conference on Sustainable Energy Technologies, ICSET 2008, 2008, pp. 1123–1128.
- [135] Y. Zhao and J. Liang, "Synchronized triple bias-flip circuit for piezoelectric energy harvesting enhancement: Operation principle and experimental validation," in ECCE 2016 - IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, Proceedings, 2016.
- [136] J. Liang, Y. Zhao, and K. Zhao, "Synchronized Triple Bias-Flip Interface Circuit for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting Enhancement," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 275–286, 2019.
- [137] X. Do, Y. Ko, H. Nguyen, H. Le, and S. Lee, "An Efficient Parallel SSHI Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Scavenging Systems," in *International Conference on Advanced Communication Technology, ICACT*, 2011, pp. 1394–1397.
- [138] C. Peters, J. Handwerker, D. Maurath, and Y. Manoli, "A sub-500 mV highly efficient active rectifier for energy harvesting applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 1542–1550, 2011.
- [139] S. Guo and H. Lee, "An efficiency-enhanced CMOS rectifier with unbalanced-biased comparators for transcutaneous-powered high-current

implants," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 1796–1804, 2009.

- [140] S. Javvaji, V. Singhal, V. Menezes, R. Chauhan, and S. Pavan, "Multi-Step Bias-Flip Rectification for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting," in ESSCIRC 2018 IEEE 44th European Solid State Circuits Conference (ESSCIRC), 2018, pp. 42–45.
- [141] S. Javvaji, V. Singhal, V. Menezes, R. Chauhan, and S. Pavan, "Analysis and Design of a Multi-Step Bias-Flip Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 2590–2600, Sep. 2019.
- [142] E. E. Aktakka and K. Najafi, "A micro inertial energy harvesting platform with self-supplied power management circuit for autonomous wireless sensor nodes," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 2017–2029, 2014.
- [143] Z. Chen, M. K. Law, P. I. Mak, W. H. Ki, and R. P. Martins, "22.2 A 1.7mm2 inductorless fully integrated flipping-capacitor rectifier (FCR) for piezoelectric energy harvesting with 483% power-extraction enhancement," in *Digest of Technical Papers - IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2017, pp. 372–373.
- [144] Z. Chen, M. K. Law, P. I. Mak, W. H. Ki, and R. P. Martins, "Fully Integrated Inductor-Less Flipping-Capacitor Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 3168–3180, Dec. 2017.
- [145] Z. Chen, Y. Jiang, M. K. Law, P. I. Mak, X. Zeng, and R. P. Martins, "27.3 A Piezoelectric Energy-Harvesting Interface Using Split-Phase Flipping-Capacitor Rectifier and Capacitor Reuse Multiple-VCR SC DC-DC Achieving 9.3× Energy-Extraction Improvement," in *Digest of Technical*

Papers - IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference, 2019, vol. 2019-February, pp. 424–426.

- [146] M. Lallart, L. Garbuio, L. Petit, C. Richard, and D. Guyomar, "Double synchronized switch harvesting (DSSH): A new energy harvesting scheme for efficient energy extraction," *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 2119–2130, 2008.
- [147] G. Pangallo, S. Rao, R. Carotenuto, and F. G. Della Corte, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting system for hostile environments," in 2016 12th Conference on Ph.D. Research in Microelectronics and Electronics, PRIME 2016, 2016.
- [148] A. O. Badr, E. Lou, Y. Y. Tsui, and W. A. Moussa, "A High Efficiency AC/DC NVC-PSSHI Electrical Interface for Vibration-Based Energy Harvesters," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 346–355, 2020.
- [149] P. Gasnier *et al.*, "An autonomous piezoelectric energy harvesting IC based on a synchronous multi-shot technique," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 1561–1570, 2014.
- [150] J. Liang, "Synchronized bias-flip interface circuits for piezoelectric energy harvesting enhancement: A general model and prospects," *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 339–356, Feb. 2017.
- [151] K. Zhao, J. Liang, and H. Wang, "Series synchronized triple bias-flip (S-S3BF) interface circuit for piezoelectric energy harvesting," in *Proceedings* - *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, 2019, vol. 2019-May.
- [152] K. Zhao, J. Liang, and C. Chen, "Parallel synchronized septuple bias-flip circuit for piezoelectric energy harvesting enhancement," in *Proceedings*

IECON 2017 - 43rd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, 2017, vol. 2017-January, pp. 2629–2634.

- [153] S. Chamanian, A. Muhtaroglu, and H. Kulah, "A Self-Adapting Synchronized-Switch Interface Circuit for Piezoelectric Energy Earvesters," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 901–912, May 2020.
- [154] M. Lallart, W.-J. Wu, L. Yan, and S.-W. Hung, "Inductorless Synchronized Switch Harvesting using a Piezoelectric Oscillator," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 2585–2594, Jun. 2020.
- [155] S. Du, Y. Jia, C. Zhao, G. A. J. Amaratunga, and A. A. Seshia, "A Fully Integrated Split-Electrode SSHC Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1733–1743, Jun. 2019.
- [156] Z. Chen, J. He, J. Liu, and Y. Xiong, "Switching Delay in Self-Powered Nonlinear Piezoelectric Vibration Energy Harvesting Circuit: Mechanisms, Effects, and Solutions," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 2427–2440, Mar. 2019.
- [157] M. J. Guan and W. H. Liao, "On the efficiencies of piezoelectric energy harvesting circuits towards storage device voltages," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 498–505, 2007.
- [158] N. Kong and D. S. Ha, "Low-power design of a self-powered piezoelectric energy harvesting system with maximum power point tracking," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 2298–2308, 2012.
- [159] A. Romani, M. Filippi, and M. Tartagni, "Micropower design of a fully autonomous energy harvesting circuit for arrays of piezoelectric transducers," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 729–739,
2014.

- [160] Yiming Liu, Geng Tian, Yong Wang, Junhong Lin, Qiming Zhang, and H. F. Hofmann, "Active Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting: General Principle and Experimental Demonstration," *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 575–585, 2009.
- [161] J. Sankman and D. Ma, "A 12-μW to 1.1-mW AIM piezoelectric energy harvester for time-varying vibrations with 450-nA IQ," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 632–643, 2015.
- [162] C. Peters, O. Kessling, F. Henrici, M. Ortmanns, and Y. Manoli, "CMOS Integrated Highly Efficient Full Wave Rectifier," in 2007 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems, 2007, pp. 2415–2418.
- [163] T. T. Le, J. Han, A. Von Jouanne, K. Mayaram, and T. S. Fiez, "Piezoelectric micro-power generation interface circuits," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 1411–1419, 2006.
- [164] M. D. Seeman, S. R. Sanders, and J. M. Rabaey, "An ultra-low-power power management IC for energy-scavenged Wireless Sensor Nodes," in 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2008, pp. 925–931.
- [165] G. Bawa and M. Ghovanloo, "Analysis, design, and implementation of a high-efficiency full-wave rectifier in standard CMOS technology," *Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process.*, vol. 60, no. 1–2, pp. 71–81, Aug. 2009.
- [166] T. Lehmann and Y. Moghe, "On-Chip Active Power Rectifiers for Biomedical Applications," in 2005 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems, pp. 732–735.
- [167] C. H. Chen, H. C. Chen, Y. S. Huang, P. H. Hsieh, P. H. Wu, and Y. C. Shu, "A series-SSHI-Phi interface circuit for piezoelectric energy harvesting with 163% improvement in extracted power at off-resonance,"

in 2016 IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference, A-SSCC 2016 -Proceedings, 2017, pp. 29–32.

- [168] L. Wu and D. S. Ha, "A Self-Powered Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting Circuit with an Optimal Flipping Time SSHI and Maximum Power Point Tracking," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Express Briefs*, vol. 66, no. 10, pp. 1758–1762, Oct. 2019.
- [169] L. Wu, X. D. Do, S. G. Lee, and D. S. Ha, "A Self-Powered and Optimal SSHI Circuit Integrated with an Active Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 537–549, 2017.
- [170] D. A. Sanchez, J. Leicht, F. Hagedorn, E. Jodka, E. Fazel, and Y. Manoli, "A Parallel-SSHI Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting of Periodic and Shock Excitations," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 2867–2879, 2016.
- [171] Y. Wu, A. Badel, F. Formosa, W. Liu, and A. E. Agbossou, "Self-Powered Optimized Synchronous Electric Charge Extraction Circuit for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting," *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.*, vol. 25, no. 17, pp. 2165–2176, 2014.
- [172] M. Lallart and D. Guyomar, "Nonlinear Energy Harvesting," in *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 2011, vol. 18, pp. 1–6.
- [173] H. Huang *et al.*, "Elastic and Electric Damping Effects on Piezoelectric Cantilever Energy Harvesting," *Ferroelectrics*, vol. 459, no. 1, pp. 1–13, Jan. 2014.
- [174] R. Sriramdas, S. Chiplunkar, R. M. Cuduvally, and R. Pratap, "Performance Enhancement of Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters Using

Multilayer and Multistep Beam Configurations," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 3338–3348, 2015.

- [175] D. Kwon and G. A. Rincon-Mora, "A Single-Inductor 0.35 μm CMOS Energy-Investing Piezoelectric Harvester," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 10, pp. 2277–2291, Oct. 2014.
- [176] K. Ylli, D. Hoffmann, A. Willmann, P. Becker, B. Folkmer, and Y. Manoli, "Energy harvesting from human motion: exploiting swing and shock excitations," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 24, no. 2, p. 025029, Feb. 2015.
- [177] S. Gareh, B. C. Kok, C. Uttraphan, K. T. Thong, and A. A. Borhana, "Evaluation of piezoelectric energy harvester outcomes in road traffic applications," in *4th IET Clean Energy and Technology Conference (CEAT* 2016), 2016, pp. 1–5.
- [178] D. Hoffmann, A. Willmann, B. Folkmer, and Y. Manoli, "Tunable Vibration Energy Harvester for Condition Monitoring of Maritime Gearboxes," J. Phys. Conf. Ser., vol. 557, no. 1, p. 012099, Nov. 2014.
- [179] R. Kashyap, T. R. Lenka, and S. Baishya, "A Model for Doubly Clamped Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters with Segmented Electrodes," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1369–1372, 2015.
- [180] A. Sokolov, D. Mallick, S. Roy, M. P. Kennedy, and E. Blokhina, "Modelling and Verification of Nonlinear Electromechanical Coupling in Micro-Scale Kinetic Electromagnetic Energy Harvesters," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, pp. 1–13, Sep. 2019.
- [181] E. Dallago, A. Danioni, M. Marchesi, V. Nucita, and G. Venchi, "A selfpowered electronic interface for electromagnetic energy harvester," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 3174–3182, 2011.
- [182] A. Rahimi, Ö. Zorlu, A. Muhtaroğlu, and H. Külah, "Fully self-powered

electromagnetic energy harvesting system with highly efficient dual rail output," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 2287–2298, 2012.

- [183] Y. Lu, J. Juillard, F. Cottone, D. Galayko, and P. Basset, "An impactcoupled MEMS electrostatic kinetic energy harvester and its predictive model taking nonlinear air damping effect into account," J. Microelectromechanical Syst., vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 1041–1053, Dec. 2018.
- [184] R. Sriramdas and R. Pratap, "An Experimentally Validated Lumped Circuit Model for Piezoelectric and Electrodynamic Hybrid Harvesters," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 2377–2384, Mar. 2018.
- [185] A. E. Özdemir, "Circuit topology for piezoelectric transducers in a piezoelectric energy harvester," *IET Renew. Power Gener.*, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 2105–2110, Sep. 2019.
- [186] C. Sun, G. Shang, X. Zhu, Y. Tao, and Z. Li, "Modeling for Piezoelectric Stacks in Series and Parallel," *Intell. Syst. Des. Eng. Appl. (ISDEA), 2013 Third Int. Conf.*, vol. 0, pp. 954–957, 2013.
- [187] I. C. Lien and Y. C. Shu, "Array of piezoelectric energy harvesting by the equivalent impedance approach," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 21, no. 8, p. 082001, 2012.
- [188] H. Hu et al., "Adjusting the resonant frequency of a segmented energy harvester through circuit connection patterns," in 2009 Symposium on Piezoelectricity, Acoustic Waves, and Device Applications (SPAWDA 2009), 2009, pp. 204–208.
- [189] H. Liu, C. J. Tay, C. Quan, T. Kobayashi, and C. Lee, "Piezoelectric MEMS Energy Harvester for Low-Frequency Vibrations With Wideband Operation and Steadily Increased Output Power," J. Microelectromechanical Syst., vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1131–1142, 2011.

- [190] H. Xue, Y. Hu, and Q. M. Wang, "Broadband piezoelectric energy harvesting devices using multiple bimorphs with different operating frequencies," *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control*, vol. 55, no. 9, pp. 2104–2108, 2008.
- [191] D. S. Nguyen, E. Halvorsen, G. U. Jensen, and A. Vogl, "Fabrication and characterization of a wideband MEMS energy harvester utilizing nonlinear springs," *J. Micromechanics Microengineering*, vol. 20, no. 12, Dec. 2010.
- [192] P. Wang *et al.*, "A two-dimensional energy harvester with radially distributed piezoelectric array for vibration with arbitrary in-plane directions," *J. Intell. Mater. Syst. Struct.*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 1094–1104, 2019.
- [193] S. Du, Y. Jia, C. Zhao, G. A. J. Amaratunga, and A. A. Seshia, "A Passive Design Scheme to Increase the Rectified Power of Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 65, no. 9, pp. 7095–7105, 2018.
- [194] Q. Lu, L. Liu, F. Scarpa, J. Leng, and Y. Liu, "A novel composite multilayer piezoelectric energy harvester," *Compos. Struct.*, vol. 201, pp. 121– 130, Oct. 2018.
- [195] R. Morais *et al.*, "Sun, wind and water flow as energy supply for small stationary data acquisition platforms," *Comput. Electron. Agric.*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 120–132, 2008.
- [196] H. G. Yeo, X. Ma, C. Rahn, and S. Trolier-McKinstry, "Efficient Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters Utilizing (001) Textured Bimorph PZT Films on Flexible Metal Foils," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 26, pp. 5940– 5946, 2016.
- [197] R. Sriramdas and R. Pratap, "Scaling and Performance Analysis of MEMS

Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters," *J. Microelectromechanical Syst.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 679–690, 2017.

- [198] G. Shi, Y. Xia, X. Wang, L. Qian, Y. Ye, and Q. Li, "An Efficient Self-Powered Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting CMOS Interface Circuit Based on Synchronous Charge Extraction Technique," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Regul. Pap.*, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 804–817, Feb. 2018.
- [199] J. Dicken, P. D. Mitcheson, I. Stoianov, and E. M. Yeatman, "Powerextraction circuits for piezoelectric energy harvesters in miniature and lowpower applications," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 4514–4529, 2012.
- [200] S. Chamanian, O. Zorlu, H. Kulah, and A. Muhtaroglu, "A self-powered integrated interface circuit for low power piezoelectric energy harvesters," in 2013 4th Annual International Conference on Energy Aware Computing Systems and Applications, ICEAC 2013, 2013, pp. 45–49.
- [201] A. Brenes, E. Lefeuvre, A. Badel, S. Seok, and C.-S. Yoo, "Unipolar synchronized electric charge extraction for piezoelectric energy harvesting," *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 27, no. 7, p. 075054, Jul. 2018.
- [202] S. Du, Y. Jia, and A. A. Seshia, "An Efficient Inductorless Dynamically Configured Interface Circuit for Piezoelectric Vibration Energy Harvesting," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 3595–3609, 2017.
- [203] S. Du and A. A. Seshia, "An Inductorless Bias-Flip Rectifier for Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 2746–2757, Oct. 2017.
- [204] M. Bobinger et al., "Light and Pressure Sensors Based on PVDF with Sprayed and Transparent Electrodes for Self-Powered Wireless Sensor

Nodes," IEEE Sens. J., vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 1114–1126, Feb. 2019.

APPENDIX A: MATLAB CODE FOR PEH ARRAY CALCULATIONS

A.1 The Output Power Calculations from an Array of 1 to 4 PEHs

This is the MATLAB code to plot the output power from 1 to 4 PEHs connected in either parallel or series or a combination of both or to plot Figure 5-5:

```
clear all
clc
% All Harvesters Voltage First
V1pp=3; %Supply voltage 1 Peak-to-Peak
phi1=0*(pi/180);
C1=0.1e-6; %Harvester 1 Clamped Capacitance
V2pp=3;
          %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
phi2=0*(pi/180);
C2=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
V3pp=3; %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
phi3=0*(pi/180);
C3=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
V4pp=3; %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
phi4=0*(pi/180);
C4=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
f=108;
Rload=[1e3:100:100e3];
%For 1 EH
Vspp=V1pp;
C0=C1;
for i=1:length(Rload)
    Rl=Rload(i);
    Veh1(i)=Vspp;
    Ceh1(i)=C1;
    feh1(i) = f;
    % 1 EH
    [Vl,Vl mag,Il,Il mag,Pl]=fun 1EH(Vspp,f,C0,Rl);
    Vload 1EH(i)=Vl;
    Vload mag 1EH(i)=Vl mag;
    Iload 1EH(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 1EH(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 1EH(i)=Pl;
```

% 2 EHs in Series

```
[V1,V1 maq,I1,I1 maq,P1,Peh1,Peh2]=fun 2EH series(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2p
p,phi2,C2,f,Rl);
    Vload 2EHS(i)=Vl;
    Vload mag 2EHS(i)=Vl mag;
    Iload 2EHS(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 2EHS(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 2EHS(i)=Pl;
    Peh1 mag 2EHS(i)=Peh1;
    Peh2 mag 2EHS(i)=Peh2;
    % 2 EHs in Parallel
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,P1,Peh1,Peh2]
=fun 2EH parallel(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,f,R1);
    Vload 2EHP(i)=Vl;
    Vload mag 2EHP(i)=Vl mag;
    Iload 2EHP(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 2EHP(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 2EHP(i)=Pl;
    Ieh1 mag 2EHP(i)=I1 mag;
    Ieh2 mag 2EHP(i)=I2 mag;
    Peh1 mag 2EHP(i)=Peh1;
    Peh2 mag 2EHP(i)=Peh2;
    % 3 EHs in Series
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,P1,Peh1,Peh2,Peh3]=fun 3EH series(V1pp,phi1,C
1, V2pp, phi2, C2, V3pp, phi3, C3, f, Rl);
    Vload 3EHS(i)=Vl;
    Vload_mag_3EHS(i)=Vl_mag;
    Iload 3EHS(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 3EHS(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 3EHS(i)=Pl;
    Peh1 mag 3EHS(i)=Peh1;
    Peh2 mag 3EHS(i)=Peh2;
    Peh3 mag 3EHS(i)=Peh3;
    % 3 EHs in Parallel
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
ag,Pl,Peh1,Peh2,Peh3]=fun 3EH parallel(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V
3pp,phi3,C3,f,Rl);
    Vload 3EHP(i)=Vl;
    Vload mag 3EHP(i)=Vl mag;
    Iload 3EHP(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 3EHP(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 3EHP(i)=Pl;
    Ieh1 mag 3EHP(i)=I1 mag;
    Ieh2 mag 3EHP(i)=I2 mag;
    Ieh3 mag 3EHP(i)=I3 mag;
    Peh1 mag 3EHP(i)=Peh1;
    Peh2 mag 3EHP(i)=Peh2;
    Peh3 mag 3EHP(i)=Peh3;
```

% 4 EHs in Series

```
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,P1,Peh1,Peh2,Peh3,Peh4]=fun 4EH series(V1pp,p
hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,Rl);
    Vload 4EHS(i)=Vl;
    Vload mag 4EHS(i)=Vl mag;
    Iload 4EHS(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 4EHS(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 4EHS(i)=Pl;
    Peh1 mag 4EHS(i)=Peh1;
    Peh2_mag_4EHS(i)=Peh2;
    Peh3 mag 4EHS(i)=Peh3;
    Peh4 mag 4EHS(i)=Peh4;
    % 4 EHs in Parallel
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
aq, I4phasor, I4 maq, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH parallel (V1pp, p
hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,Rl);
    Vload 4EHP(i)=Vl;
    Vload mag 4EHP(i)=Vl mag;
    Iload 4EHP(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 4EHP(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 4EHP(i)=Pl;
    Ieh1 mag 4EHP(i)=I1 mag;
    Ieh2 mag 4EHP(i)=I2 mag;
    Ieh3 mag 4EHP(i)=I3 mag;
    Ieh4 mag 4EHP(i)=I4 mag;
    Peh1 mag 4EHP(i)=Peh1;
    Peh2 mag 4EHP(i)=Peh2;
    Peh3 mag 4EHP(i)=Peh3;
    Peh4 mag 4EHP(i)=Peh4;
    % 4 EHs (1 and 2 Series) Parallel (3 and 4 Series)
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
ag, I4phasor, I4 mag, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH 2P2S(V1pp, phil,
C1, V2pp, phi2, C2, V3pp, phi3, C3, V4pp, phi4, C4, f, R1);
    Vload 4EHSP(i)=Vl;
    Vload mag 4EHSP(i)=Vl mag;
    Iload 4EHSP(i)=Il;
    Iload mag 4EHSP(i)=Il mag;
    Pload 4EHSP(i)=Pl;
    Peh1 mag 4EHSP(i)=Peh1;
    Peh2 mag 4EHSP(i)=Peh2;
    Peh3 mag 4EHSP(i)=Peh3;
    Peh4 mag 4EHSP(i)=Peh4;
end
figure;
plot (Rload./1000, Pload 1EH, Rload./1000, Pload 2EHS, Rload./1000, Ploa
d 2EHP, Rload./1000, Pload 3EHS, Rload./1000, Pload 3EHP, Rload./1000, P
load 4EHS, Rload. /1000, Pload 4EHP, Rload. /1000, Pload 4EHSP)
xlabel('Loading Resistance (k\Omega)')
ylabel('Output Power (\muW)')
```

```
legend('1 EH','2 EHS','2 EHP','3 EHS','3 EHP','4 EHS','4 EHP','4
EHSP')
figure;
plot(Rload./1000,Vload_mag_1EH,Rload./1000,Vload_mag_2EHS,Rload./1
000,Vload_mag_2EHP,Rload./1000,Vload_mag_3EHS,Rload./1000,Vload_ma
g_3EHP,Rload./1000,Vload_mag_4EHS,Rload./1000,Vload_mag_4EHP,Rload
./1000,Vload_mag_4EHSP)
xlabel('Loading Resistance (k\Omega)')
ylabel('Output Voltage (V)')
legend('1 EH','2 EHS','2 EHP','3 EHS','3 EHP','4 EHS','4 EHP','4
EHSP')
```

The MATLAB function to calculate the output power from 4 PEHs connected in

series is given as follows:

```
function
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,P1,Peh1,Peh2,Peh3,Peh4]=fun 4EH series(V1pp,p
hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,Rl)
V1=V1pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc1=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
V2=V2pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
V3=V3pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc3=1/(2*pi*f*C3);
V4=V4pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc4=1/(2*pi*f*C4);
if V1pp==0
    Xc1=0;
end
if V2pp==0
    Xc2=0;
end
if V3pp==0
    Xc3=0;
end
if V4pp==0
    Xc4=0;
end
%Calculations
Xceq=Xc1+Xc2+Xc3+Xc4;
V1phasor=(V1*(cos(phi1))+(i*(V1*(sin(phi1)))));
V2phasor=(V2*(cos(phi2))+(i*(V2*(sin(phi2)))));
V3phasor=(V3*(cos(phi3))+(i*(V3*(sin(phi3)))));
V4phasor=(V4*(cos(phi4))+(i*(V4*(sin(phi4)))));
Veq=V1phasor+V2phasor+V3phasor+V4phasor;
Veq mag=sqrt(((real(Veq))^2)+((imag(Veq))^2));
Veq_angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(Veq),real(Veq));
Vl=Veq*(Rl/(Rl-(i*Xceq)));
Vl mag=sqrt(((real(Vl))^2)+((imag(Vl))^2));
Vl angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(Vl),real(Vl));
Il=Vl/Rl;
Il mag=Vl mag/Rl;
Il angle=Vl angle;
Pl=(1e6)*(Il mag^2)*Rl;
                         %in u₩
Peh1=(1e6) *V1*Il mag*cos((phi1-(Il angle*pi/180)));
```

```
Peh2=(1e6) *V2*Il_mag*cos((phi2-(Il_angle*pi/180)));
Peh3=(1e6) *V3*Il_mag*cos((phi3-(Il_angle*pi/180)));
Peh4=(1e6) *V4*Il_mag*cos((phi4-(Il_angle*pi/180)));
```

The MATLAB function to calculate the output power from 4 PEHs connected in

parallel is given as follows:

```
function
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
ag, I4phasor, I4 mag, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH parallel(V1pp, p
hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,Rl)
V1=V1pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc1=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
V2=V2pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
V3=V3pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc3=1/(2*pi*f*C3);
V4=V4pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc4=1/(2*pi*f*C4);
if V1pp==0
    Xcl=inf;
end
if V2pp==0
   Xc2=inf;
end
if V3pp==0
   Xc3=inf;
end
if V4pp==0
    Xc4=inf;
end
%Calculations - Nodal Analysis AVI=B equation
V1phasor=(V1*(cos(phi1))+(i*(V1*(sin(phi1)))));
V2phasor=(V2*(cos(phi2))+(i*(V2*(sin(phi2))));
V3phasor=(V3*(cos(phi3))+(i*(V3*(sin(phi3)))));
V4phasor=(V4*(cos(phi4))+(i*(V4*(sin(phi4)))));
termA=(1/(-i*Xc1))+(1/(-i*Xc2))+(1/(-i*Xc3))+(1/(-i*Xc4))+(1/Rl);
termB=(V1phasor/(-i*Xc1))+(V2phasor/(-i*Xc2))+(V3phasor/(-
i*Xc3))+(V4phasor/(-i*Xc4));
Vl=termB/termA;
Vl mag=sqrt(((real(Vl))^2)+((imag(Vl))^2));
Vl angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(Vl),real(Vl));
Ilphasor=(Vlphasor-Vl)/(-i*Xcl);
I1 mag=sqrt(((real(Ilphasor))^2)+((imag(Ilphasor))^2));
I1 angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(I1phasor), real(I1phasor));
Peh1=(1e6) *V1*I1_mag*cos((phi1-(I1_angle*pi/180)));
I2phasor=(V2phasor-V1)/(-i*Xc2);
I2 mag=sqrt(((real(I2phasor))^2)+((imag(I2phasor))^2));
```

```
I2_angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(I2phasor),real(I2phasor));
Peh2=(1e6)*V2*I2_mag*cos((phi2-(I2_angle*pi/180)));
```

```
I3phasor=(V3phasor-V1)/(-i*Xc3);
I3_mag=sqrt(((real(I3phasor))^2)+((imag(I3phasor))^2));
I3_angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(I3phasor),real(I3phasor));
Peh3=(1e6)*V3*I3_mag*cos((phi3-(I3_angle*pi/180)));
```

```
I4phasor=(V4phasor-V1)/(-i*Xc4);
I4_mag=sqrt(((real(I4phasor))^2)+((imag(I4phasor))^2));
I4_angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(I4phasor),real(I4phasor));
Peh4=(1e6)*V4*I4_mag*cos((phi4-(I4_angle*pi/180)));
```

```
Il=Vl/Rl;
Il_mag=sqrt(((real(Il))^2)+((imag(Il))^2));
Il_angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(Il),real(Il));
```

```
Pl=(1e6)*(Il mag^2)*Rl; %in uW
```

The MATLAB function to calculate the output power from 4 PEHs connected in

```
combination of series and parallel (2P2S) is given as follows:
```

```
function
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
ag, I4phasor, I4 mag, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH 2P2S(V1pp, phi1,
C1, V2pp, phi2, C2, V3pp, phi3, C3, V4pp, phi4, C4, f, R1)
V1=V1pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc1=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
V2=V2pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
V3=V3pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc3=1/(2*pi*f*C3);
V4=V4pp/(2*(sqrt(2)));
Xc4=1/(2*pi*f*C4);
if V1pp==0
    Xc1=0;
end
if V2pp==0
    Xc2=0;
end
if V3pp==0
    Xc3=0;
end
if V4pp==0
    Xc4=0;
end
if V1pp==0 && V2pp==0
    Xc1=inf;
    Xc2=inf;
end
if V3pp==0 && V4pp==0
    Xc3=inf;
    Xc4=inf;
end
%Calculations - Nodal Analysis AVl=B equation
V1phasor=(V1*(cos(phi1))+(j*(V1*(sin(phi1)))));
V2phasor=(V2*(cos(phi2))+(j*(V2*(sin(phi2))));
V3phasor=(V3*(cos(phi3))+(j*(V3*(sin(phi3)))));
V4phasor=(V4*(cos(phi4))+(j*(V4*(sin(phi4)))));
Xceq1=Xc1+Xc2;
Veq1phasor=V1phasor+V2phasor;
Xceq2=Xc3+Xc4;
Veq2phasor=V3phasor+V4phasor;
termA = (1/(-j*Xceq1)) + (1/(-j*Xceq2)) + (1/Rl);
termB=(Veq1phasor/(-j*Xceq1))+(Veq2phasor/(-j*Xceq2));
```

```
Vl=termB/termA;
Vl mag=sqrt(((real(Vl))^2)+((imag(Vl))^2));
Vl angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(Vl), real(Vl));
Ilphasor=(Veq1phasor-Vl)/(-j*Xceq1);
I1 mag=sqrt(((real(I1phasor))^2)+((imag(I1phasor))^2));
I1 angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(I1phasor), real(I1phasor));
Peh1=(1e6) *V1*I1 mag*cos((phi1-(I1 angle*pi/180)));
I2phasor=I1phasor;
I2 mag=I1 mag;
I2 angle=I1 angle;
Peh2=(1e6) *V2*I2 mag*cos((phi2-(I2 angle*pi/180)));
I3phasor=(Veq2phasor-Vl)/(-j*Xceq2);
I3 mag=sqrt(((real(I3phasor))^2)+((imag(I3phasor))^2));
I3 angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(I3phasor), real(I3phasor));
Peh3=(1e6) *V3*I3 mag*cos((phi3-(I3 angle*pi/180)));
I4phasor=I3phasor;
I4 mag=I3 mag;
I4 angle=I3 angle;
Peh4=(1e6)*V4*I4 mag*cos((phi4-(I4 angle*pi/180)));
Il=Vl/Rl;
Il mag=sqrt(((real(Il))^2)+((imag(Il))^2));
Il angle=(180/pi)*atan2(imag(Il),real(Il));
```

```
Pl=(1e6)*(Il mag^2)*Rl; %in uW
```

A.2 The Output Power Calculations against Phase Angle Variations

The output power calculations for 2 or 4 PEHs connected either in series or parallel or combination of both can be calculated as follows, when the phase angle of PEH 2 changes from -60° to $+60^{\circ}$, or plotting Figure 5-6 and Figure 5-7:

```
clear all
clc
V1pp=3;
           %Supply voltage 1 Peak-to-Peak
phi1=0*(pi/180);
C1=0.1e-6; %Harvester 1 Clamped Capacitance
V2pp=3;
          %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak (1 and 2 in series)
% phi2=0*(pi/180);
C2=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
V3pp=3; %Supply voltage 3 Peak-to-Peak
phi3=0*(pi/180);
C3=0.1e-6; %Harvester 3 Clamped Capacitance
         %Supply voltage 4 Peak-to-Peak (3 and 4 in series -
V4pp=3;
Then both are parallel)
phi4=0*(pi/180);
C4=0.1e-6; %Harvester 4 Clamped Capacitance
f=108;
           %Harvester Frequency
Xc1=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
Xc3=1/(2*pi*f*C3);
Xc4=1/(2*pi*f*C4);
R max2S=Xc1+Xc2;
R max2P=Xc1*Xc2/(Xc1+Xc2);
R max4S=Xc1+Xc2+Xc3+Xc4;
G \max 4P = (1/Xc1) + (1/Xc2) + (1/Xc3) + (1/Xc4);
R max4P=1/G max4P;
Rbr1=Xc1+Xc2;
Rbr2=Xc3+Xc4;
R max2S2P=Rbr1*Rbr2/(Rbr1+Rbr2);
Vspp=V1pp;
C0=C1;
%Changing the phase angle for 2P case
Rl=R max2P; %Loading resistance
% Rl=Xc1; %Loading resistance
```

```
phi2vec=[-60:1:60];
```

```
for i=1:length(phi2vec)
    phi2=(pi/180) *phi2vec(i);
    % 2 EHs in Parallel
[V1,V1 maq,I1,I1 maq,I1phasor,I1 maq,I2phasor,I2 maq,P1,Peh1,Peh2]
=fun 2EH parallel(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,f,R1);
    Vload 2EHP Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 2EHP Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the phase angle for 2S case
Rl=R max2S;
              %Loading resistance
phi2vec=[-60:1:60];
for i=1:length(phi2vec)
    phi2=(pi/180) *phi2vec(i);
    % 2 EHs in Series
[V1,V1 maq,I1,I1 maq,P1,Peh1,Peh2]=fun 2EH series(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2p
p,phi2,C2,f,Rl);
    Vload 2EHS Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 2EHS Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the phase angle for 4P case
Rl=R max4P;
            %Loading resistance
phi2vec=[-60:1:60];
for i=1:length(phi2vec)
    phi2=(pi/180)*phi2vec(i);
    % 4 EHs in Parallel
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
aq, I4phasor, I4 maq, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH parallel (V1pp, p
hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,R1);
    Vload 4EHP Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 4EHP Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the phase angle for 4S case
Rl=R max4S;
              %Loading resistance
phi2vec=[-60:1:60];
for i=1:length(phi2vec)
    phi2=(pi/180) *phi2vec(i);
    % 4 EHs in Series
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,P1,Peh1,Peh2,Peh3,Peh4]=fun 4EH series(V1pp,p
hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,Rl);
```

```
Vload 4EHS Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
```

```
Pload 4EHS Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the phase angle for 2S2P case
Rl=R max2S2P; %Loading resistance
phi2vec=[-60:1:60];
for i=1:length(phi2vec)
    phi2=(pi/180) *phi2vec(i);
    % 4 EHs in Series and Parallel
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
ag, I4phasor, I4 mag, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH 2P2S(V1pp, phi1,
C1, V2pp, phi2, C2, V3pp, phi3, C3, V4pp, phi4, C4, f, R1);
    Vload 4EH2S2P Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 4EH2S2P Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
% matrix=[Vload 2EHP Ideal mag' Vload 2EHS Ideal mag'
Pload 2EHP Ideal' Pload 2EHS Ideal'];
figure;
plot (phi2vec, Pload 2EHS Ideal, phi2vec, Pload 2EHP Ideal, phi2vec, Plo
ad 4EHS Ideal, phi2vec, Pload 4EHP Ideal, phi2vec, Pload 4EH2S2P Ideal
,'LineWidth',3)
xlabel('Phase Angle of PEH 2 ({\circ})')
ylabel('Output Power (\muW)')
legend('2 EHS','2 EHP','4 EHS','4 EHP','4 EHPS')
grid on
figure;
plot (phi2vec, Vload 2EHS Ideal mag, phi2vec, Vload 2EHP Ideal mag, phi
2vec, Vload 4EHS Ideal mag, phi2vec, Vload 4EHP Ideal mag, phi2vec, Vlo
ad 4EH2S2P Ideal mag, 'LineWidth', 3)
xlabel('Phase Angle of PEH 2 ({\circ})')
ylabel('Output Voltage (V)')
legend('2 EHS','2 EHP','4 EHS','4 EHP','4 EHPS')
grid on
```

A.3 The Output Power Calculations against Voltage Magnitude Variations

The output power calculations for 2 or 4 PEHs connected either in series or parallel or combination of both can be calculated as follows, when the voltage magnitude of PEH 2 changes from 2 Vpp to 3.2 Vpp, or plotting Figure 5-8 and

```
Figure 5-9:
clear all
clc
V1pp=3;
           %Supply voltage 1 Peak-to-Peak
phi1=0*(pi/180);
C1=0.1e-6; %Harvester 1 Clamped Capacitance
% V2pp=3;
            %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
phi2=0*(pi/180);
C2=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
V3pp=3; %Supply voltage 3 Peak-to-Peak
phi3=0*(pi/180);
C3=0.1e-6; %Harvester 3 Clamped Capacitance
         %Supply voltage 4 Peak-to-Peak (3 and 4 in series -
V4pp=3;
Then both are parallel)
phi4=0*(pi/180);
C4=0.1e-6; %Harvester 4 Clamped Capacitance
f=108;
            %Harvester Frequency
Xc1=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
Xc3=1/(2*pi*f*C3);
Xc4=1/(2*pi*f*C4);
R max2S=Xc1+Xc2;
R max2P=Xc1*Xc2/(Xc1+Xc2);
R max4S=Xc1+Xc2+Xc3+Xc4;
G \max 4P = (1/Xc1) + (1/Xc2) + (1/Xc3) + (1/Xc4);
R max4P=1/G max4P;
Rbr1=Xc1+Xc2;
Rbr2=Xc3+Xc4;
R max2S2P=Rbr1*Rbr2/(Rbr1+Rbr2);
Vspp=V1pp;
C0=C1;
%Changing the voltage magnitude for 2P case
Rl=R max2P; %Loading resistance
```

```
V2ppvec=[3.2:-0.0125:2];
                         %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
for i=1:length(V2ppvec)
    V2pp=V2ppvec(i);
    % 2 EHs in Parallel
[V1,V1 maq,I1,I1 maq,I1phasor,I1 maq,I2phasor,I2 maq,P1,Peh1,Peh2]
=fun 2EH parallel(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,f,Rl);
    Vload 2EHP Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 2EHP Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the voltage magnitude for 2S case
Rl=R max2S; %Loading resistance
V2ppvec=[3.2:-0.0125:2];
                          %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
for i=1:length(V2ppvec)
    V2pp=V2ppvec(i);
    % 2 EHs in Series
[V1,V1 maq,I1,I1 maq,P1,Peh1,Peh2]=fun 2EH series(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2p
p,phi2,C2,f,Rl);
    Vload 2EHS Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 2EHS Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the voltage magnitude for 4P case
Rl=R max4P;
              %Loading resistance
V2ppvec=[3.2:-0.0125:2];
                           %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
for i=1:length(V2ppvec)
    V2pp=V2ppvec(i);
    % 4 EHs in Parallel
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
ag, I4phasor, I4 mag, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH parallel (V1pp, p
hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,R1);
    Vload_4EHP_Ideal_mag(i)=Vl_mag;
    Pload_4EHP_Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the voltage magnitude for 4S case
              %Loading resistance
Rl=R max4S;
V2ppvec=[3.2:-0.0125:2]; %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
for i=1:length(V2ppvec)
    V2pp=V2ppvec(i);
    % 4 EHs in Series
```

[Vl,Vl_mag,Il,Il_mag,Pl,Peh1,Peh2,Peh3,Peh4]=fun_4EH_series(V1pp,p hi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,V3pp,phi3,C3,V4pp,phi4,C4,f,Rl);

```
Vload 4EHS Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 4EHS Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
%Changing the phase angle for 2S2P case
Rl=R max2S2P; %Loading resistance
V2ppvec=[3.2:-0.0125:2];
                           %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
for i=1:length(V2ppvec)
    V2pp=V2ppvec(i);
    % 4 EHs in Series and Parallel
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,I3phasor,I3 m
ag, I4phasor, I4 mag, Pl, Peh1, Peh2, Peh3, Peh4]=fun 4EH 2P2S(V1pp, phi1,
C1, V2pp, phi2, C2, V3pp, phi3, C3, V4pp, phi4, C4, f, Rl);
    Vload 4EH2S2P Ideal mag(i)=Vl mag;
    Pload 4EH2S2P Ideal(i)=Pl;
end
% matrix=[Vload 2EHP Ideal mag' Vload 2EHS Ideal mag'
Pload 2EHP Ideal' Pload 2EHS Ideal'];
figure;
plot(V2ppvec, Pload 2EHS Ideal, V2ppvec, Pload 2EHP Ideal, V2ppvec, Plo
ad 4EHS Ideal, V2ppvec, Pload 4EHP Ideal, V2ppvec, Pload 4EH2S2P Ideal
)
xlabel('Voltage of PEH 2 (Vpp)')
ylabel('Output Power (\muW)')
set(gca, 'XDir', 'reverse')
legend('2 EHS','2 EHP','4 EHS','4 EHP','4 EHPS')
grid on
figure;
plot (V2ppvec, Vload 2EHS Ideal mag, V2ppvec, Vload 2EHP Ideal mag, V2p
pvec, Vload 4EHS Ideal mag, V2ppvec, Vload 4EHP Ideal mag, V2ppvec, Vlo
ad 4EH2S2P Ideal mag)
xlabel('Voltage of PEH 2 (Vpp)')
ylabel('Output Voltage (V)')
set(gca, 'XDir', 'reverse')
legend('2 EHS','2 EHP','4 EHS','4 EHP','4 EHPS')
grid on
```

A.4 The Output Power Calculations against Phase Angle and Voltage Magnitude Variations

The output power calculations for 2 PEHs connected either in series or parallel can be calculated as follows, when the phase angle of PEHs 1 and 2 change from - 60° to + 60° , or plotting Figure 5-10:

```
clear all
clc
           %Supply voltage 1 Peak-to-Peak
V1pp=3;
% phi1=0*(pi/180);
C1=0.1e-6; %Harvester 1 Clamped Capacitance
V2pp=3;
          %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
% phi2=0*(pi/180);
C2=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
f=108;
            %Harvester Frequency
phi 2=-60:1:60;
phi 1=-60:1:60;
[X Y]=meshgrid(phi 1,phi 2);
a=size(X);
a1=a(1);
a2=a(2);
Xc1=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
R max2S=Xc1+Xc2;
R max2P=Xc1*Xc2/(Xc1+Xc2);
Vspp=V1pp;
C0=C1;
%Changing the loading resistance Rl - Ideal Case
Rl=R max2P; %Loading resistance
for i=1:a1
    for j=1:a2
        phi1=(X(i,j))*(pi/180);
        phi2=(Y(i,j))*(pi/180);
[V1,V1 mag,I1,I1 mag,I1phasor,I1 mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,P1,Peh1,Peh2]
=fun 2EH parallel(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,f,R1);
        Pload(i,j)=Pl;
```

```
end
```

```
end
surface(Y,X,Pload)
colorbar
% set(gca,'Xdir','reverse','Ydir','reverse')
% xlim([2 3.2])
% ylim([2 3.3])
% xticks(2:0.4:3.2)
% yticks(2:0.1:3.3)
xlabel('Phase Angle of PEH 1 ({\circ})')
ylabel('Phase Angle of PEH 2 ({\circ})')
maximumP=76.3407;
Pload percentage=(Pload./maximumP).*100;
figure;
surface(Y, X, Pload percentage)
colorbar
% set(gca,'Xdir','reverse','Ydir','reverse')
% xlim([2 3.2])
% ylim([2 3.3])
```

```
% xticks(2:0.4:3.2)
% yticks(2:0.1:3.3)
xlabel('Phase Angle of PEH 1 ({\circ})')
```

```
ylabel('Phase Angle of PEH 2 ({\circ})')
```

The output power calculations for 2 PEHs connected either in series or parallel can be calculated as follows, when the voltage magnitude of PEHs 1 and 2 change

```
from 2 Vpp to 3.2 Vpp, or plotting Figure 5-11:
clear all
clc
% V1pp=3;
              %Supply voltage 1 Peak-to-Peak
phi1=0*(pi/180);
C1=0.1e-6; %Harvester 1 Clamped Capacitance
            %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
% V2pp=3;
phi2=0*(pi/180);
C2=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
f=108;
            %Harvester Frequency
V1 pp=3.2:-0.0125:2;
V2 pp=3.2:-0.0125:2;
[X Y]=meshgrid(V1 pp,V2 pp);
```

a=size(X); a1=a(1); a2=a(2);

```
Xcl=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
R_max2S=Xc1+Xc2;
R_max2P=Xc1*Xc2/(Xc1+Xc2);
```

```
% Vspp=V1pp;
% C0=C1;
```

```
%Changing the loading resistance Rl - Ideal Case
Rl=R_max2P; %Loading resistance
```

for i=1:a1
 for j=1:a2
 V1pp=(X(i,j));
 V2pp=(Y(i,j));

```
[Vl,Vl_mag,Il,Il_mag,Ilphasor,I1_mag,I2phasor,I2_mag,Pl,Peh1,Peh2]
=fun_2EH_parallel(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,f,Rl);
```

```
Pload(i,j)=Pl;
```

end

```
end
surface(Y,X,Pload)
colorbar
```

```
set(gca, 'Xdir', 'reverse', 'Ydir', 'reverse')
```

```
xlim([2 3.2])
ylim([2 3.2])
xticks(2:0.4:3.2)
yticks(2:0.4:3.2)
xlabel(Voltage of PEH 1 (Vpp)')
ylabel('Voltage of PEH 2 (Vpp)')
```

```
maximumP=76.3407;
Pload_percentage=(Pload./maximumP).*100;
figure;
surface(Y,X,Pload_percentage)
colorbar
```

```
set(gca,'Xdir','reverse','Ydir','reverse')
xlim([2 3.2])
ylim([2 3.2])
xticks(2:0.4:3.2)
yticks(2:0.4:3.2)
xlabel(Voltage of PEH 1 (Vpp)')
ylabel('Voltage of PEH 2 (Vpp)')
```

The output power calculations for 2 PEHs connected either in series or parallel can be calculated as follows, when the phase angle and the voltage magnitude of PEH 2 change from -60° to $+60^{\circ}$ and from 2 Vpp to 3.2 Vpp, respectively, or plotting Figure 5-12:

```
lear all
clc
V1pp=3;
            %Supply voltage 1 Peak-to-Peak
phi1=0*(pi/180);
C1=0.1e-6; %Harvester 1 Clamped Capacitance
           %Supply voltage 2 Peak-to-Peak
% V2pp=3;
% phi2=0*(pi/180);
C2=0.1e-6; %Harvester 2 Clamped Capacitance
f=108;
            %Harvester Frequency
phi 2=-60:1:60;
V2 pp=3.2:-0.0125:2;
[X Y]=meshgrid(phi 2,V2 pp);
a=size(X);
a1=a(1);
a2=a(2);
Xc1=1/(2*pi*f*C1);
Xc2=1/(2*pi*f*C2);
R max2S=Xc1+Xc2;
R max2P=Xc1*Xc2/(Xc1+Xc2);
Vspp=V1pp;
C0=C1;
%Changing the loading resistance Rl - Ideal Case
Rl=R max2P; %Loading resistance
for i=1:a1
    for j=1:a2
        phi2=(X(i,j))*(pi/180);
        V2pp=(Y(i,j));
[Vl,Vl mag,Il,Il mag,Ilphasor,Il mag,I2phasor,I2 mag,Pl,Peh1,Peh2]
=fun 2EH parallel(V1pp,phi1,C1,V2pp,phi2,C2,f,Rl);
        Pload(i,j)=Pl;
    end
end
surface(Y, X, Pload)
colorbar
```

```
set(gca,'Xdir','reverse')
xlim([2 3.2])
% ylim([2 3.3])
xticks(2:0.4:3.2)
% yticks(2:0.1:3.3)
xlabel('Voltage of PEH 2 (Vpp)')
ylabel('Phase Angle of PEH 2 ({\circ})')
maximumP=76.3407;
Pload percentage=(Pload./maximumP).*100;
figure;
surface(Y,X,Pload percentage)
colorbar
set(gca, 'Xdir', 'reverse')
xlim([2 3.2])
% ylim([2 3.3])
xticks(2:0.4:3.2)
% yticks(2:0.1:3.3)
xlabel('Voltage of PEH 2 (Vpp)')
ylabel('Phase Angle of PEH 2 ({\circ})')
```